
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
24 JANUARY 2020

Meeting Room 1&2 - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 24 January 2020
VENUE: Meeting Room 1&2 - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.  

Please see note (b) at the end of the agenda.

3.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 10) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting held on 
11th October 2019.  

4.  Grant Thornton Progress Report (Pages 11 - 24) Katie Whybray
The Committee is asked to note the report.

5.  Grant Thornton 2019/20 Audit Plans (Pages 25 - 66) Katie Whybray
The Committee is asked to note the following reports:             

- County Council Audit Plan,
            - County Council Audit Scope Letter
            - Pension Fund Audit Plan.

6.  Capital, Treasury and investment Strategy (Pages 67 - 98) Paul Blacker
To consider, and comment as appropriate on the proposed 
strategies for 2020/21.  

7.  Internal Audit Purpose, Authority, Role and Function (Pages 
99 - 150)

Theresa Mortimer

The Committee is asked to review and approve the report.  
 

8.  Internal Audit Progress Report 2019/20 (Pages 151 - 192) Theresa Mortimer
The Committee is asked to note the amendments to and progress 
against the 2019/2020 Internal Audit Plan. 



9.  Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan 2018/19 
(Pages 193 - 206)

Theresa Mortimer

The Committee is asked to review and consider the actions taken 
to address the governance improvement areas identified.

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Andrew Gravells, 
Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr John Payne, 
Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Will Windsor-
Clive

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffee 01452 328506 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 11 
October 2019 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Andrew Gravells
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen

Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr John Payne
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Apologies: Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE and Katie Whybray

36. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
committee.  

A request was made to amend item 24, second paragraph in relation to the 
McCloud ruling being adjusted to £16.7m, due to the updated reporting calculation.   

Resolved 

That subject to the amendment the minutes of the meeting held on the 26th 
July 2019 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairperson.    

37. GRANT THORNTON ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 

Peter Barber, Grant Thornton presented the report, which informed the Committee 
of the audit work to be undertaken for the 2019/20 financial year for Gloucestershire 
County Council and the fee involved. 

Member’s attention was drawn to the Executive Summary on Page 19 & 20 of the 
report.  It was explained that Grant Thornton was unable to conclude on the Value 
for Money arrangements until the objection had been finalised.   It was noted that 
there was an ongoing legal challenge and the outcome could impact Grant 
Thornton’s determination of the objection.  

In relation to Children’s Services, it was noted that Grant Thornton had concluded 
that the Council did not manage this risk effectively and did not make appropriate 
use of performance and service quality information to support informed decision 
making and performance management.  Mr Barber explained the process and how 
the information contributed to the overall view.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Mr Barber explained that if an Ofsted Inspection took place in due course, then the 
narrative would be supplemented and the bold conclusion would only be amended 
if Ofsted amended GCC’s rating.  Members appreciated there was a problem and 
that it inevitably take time to fix and when the service was effectively managed the 
report would be amended accordingly.   

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

38. GRANT THORNTON EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

Peter Barber, Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton presented the report.  The report 
detailed the progress Grant Thornton had made in delivering their responsibilities 
as the external auditors.  Accounting, audit issues and emerging issues would be 
flagged up as part of the regular report.  

Members were referred to page 38 of the report which detailed the progress at 
September 2019.  Mr Barber once again referred to the objection and the ongoing 
legal action.  

A member urged fellow Councillors to read the Local Government Association 
report on ‘Profit with a Purpose’, as the report aimed to deliver social vales through 
commercial activity.    The report could be viewed via 
https://www.local.gov.uk/profit-purpose-delivering-social-value-through-commercial-
activity 

Resolved 

That the report be noted.    

39. INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT & ACTION PLAN - GFRS 

The Chair welcomed Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer (CFO), Cllr Dave Norman, 
Cabinet Member and Jon McGinty (Commissioning Director) to the meeting.  

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) explained the purpose of the report 
was to provide independent assurance to the Committee that the Internal Audit 
recommendations made in relation to the audit reviews emanating from the 
independent investigation of GFRS, had been / were being addressed.  Members 
were advised that Pages 51 to 64 provided a high level summary of all activity 
progress undertaken to date. The CIA stated that the three audit reports presented 
complete the initial suite of internal audit reviews (18 in total).   

Members were referred to the GRFS Syrian Refugee Report conclusions as 
detailed on page 72 of the report.  The Committee were advised that only limited 
assurance could be provided on the control environment as a result of the findings.  

Page 2

https://www.local.gov.uk/profit-purpose-delivering-social-value-through-commercial-activity
https://www.local.gov.uk/profit-purpose-delivering-social-value-through-commercial-activity


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The CFO advised the Committee in relation to the Syrian Refugee grant that he 
acknowledged that there were some improvement actions identified that would be 
addressed but it should not cloud the good work the service had achieved.  As over 
270 refugee families had been resettled and the Home Office was very pleased with 
GFRS performance and handling of the situation.  

The GFRS Fleet Management, pool cars and fuel cards audit report and expenses 
audit report contained a great level of detail and were not deemed to be easy 
reading.  It was explained that these were historic practices and processes in place 
at the time and many of the issues arose due to the lack of GFRS policy.  The CIA 
explained that the audit findings were based on facts and operational practices.  

One member remarked that the Syrian Refugee programme was deemed a 
success as the Committee had not heard about it and assurance could be taken in 
that it was a positive area of work.  However, the member continued to raise 
concerns that there were two major service breakdowns within the Authority, 
namely Children’s Service and GFRS.  He suggested that it was necessary to find 
out what the key issues were and to drill down in order to establish what went 
wrong, to avoid similar re-occurrence.  

The CIA advised the Committee that it was essential to reflect and identify 
improvements or any lessons learned when things go wrong. The CIA advised that 
there was collective ownership of corporate learning and that Monitoring Officer,  
would be able to advise on this wider corporate learning.    

In respect of Internal Audit, the CIA reaffirmed that Internal Audit forms part of the 
three lines of defence / assurance model, internal audit being the third line i.e. 
providing independent assurance that the key material risks facing the Council are 
being adequately managed / controlled. Management (as the first line) responsible 
for identifying, owning and managing risk and corporate risk compliance functions 
as the second line.

Internal Audit therefore bases assurance activity on risk, as required by the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the planning process involves 
research of corporate objectives, priorities, performance / risks and dialogue with all 
key stakeholders in the Council, Directors / Members / Managers to identify where 
the risks are and where assurance is required.  This sits alongside Internal Audit’s 
own assessment of risk. In the case of GFRS there were no risk indicators 
highlighted as part of this process.  The key issue in this case was due to culture.  
Continuing to promoting whistleblowing and staff surveys will help to tease out 
cultural issues.

In addition to provide assurance on good governance it had been agreed that the 
Chief Executive and Chair of the Corporate Assurance Scrutiny Committee would 
attend the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis to provide the 
committee with the opportunity to discuss the council’s governance, scrutiny & risk 
management arrangements. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

In respect of the wider corporate learning, the Monitoring Officer explained that 
Peer Reviews had been undertaken as they were a method of Corporate Learning 
and these were at the request of the full Council.  During the peer review many 
members were interviewed which reflected various challenges and the work being 
undertaken.  As a result of these findings changes had occurred within the 
Performance Team, to ensure those issues were picked up and reported to the 
appropriate scrutiny committee in an effort to understand the underperformance.  In 
addition, the performance team also undertook regular meetings with front line staff 
to closely monitor the situation.  

The Performance Team continued to provide a quarterly performance challenge to 
GFRS.  In addition a programme board had been established to look at data 
management across the Authority, which included GFRS.  The service had actively 
responded and was changing its working method.  

Jon McGinty advised the Committee that as a result of the GFRS Audits, there was 
now a corporate and non corporate financial policy and the learning aspects were 
being transferred across the wider council including the audit assurance 
statements.  

Members were encouraged by the Fire Service’s approach, it was evident that there 
was positive and proactive action going forward.  Members appreciated the detailed 
and thorough work being undertaken by Internal Audit.   The Committee noted that 
some systems and processes had failed due to lack of compliance with corporate 
and local policy and this highlighted the importance of having  council wide 
compliance reviews.  The CIA drew the Committees attention to the 2019/2020 
audit plan where a suite of council wide compliance reviews had been included as a 
result of the GFRS findings. The outcomes of these reviews would be presented to 
future Committee meetings. 

In terms of the private use of vehicles and fuel cards, the Committee acknowledged 
that the reports made for uncomfortable reading and noted the majority of issues 
were as a result of lack of corporate compliance and local policy.  Some members 
felt that it was unfair that the whole organisation was considered to have poor 
governance based on GFRS.  It was evident that lessons were to be learnt and it 
was important to have effective financial and human resource controls in place.  
Members were advised that staff across the council had recently undertaken 
additional training on financial regulations. In addition, GCC Finance Team now 
worked more closely with the GFRS Finance Team to ensure tighter financial 
controls were in place.  

The Director of Corporate Resources added that there were challenges for internal 
audit given the limited resources available to the team and that the audit priorities 
are required to be based on risk. However, was pleased with the work being 
undertaken by Internal Audit.  Further that triangulation with Corporate Services 
Managers in one meeting may identify trends, issues and common themes across 
services and would be undertaken as part of the 2020 / 2021 audit planning 
process. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Some members felt that whistleblowing had highlighted the Authorities failing when 
it was too late and that the council should not be relying on whistleblowing to know 
what the issues were.  Members felt that the Authority needed to be self policing 
and developing a culture to ensure that issues were identified as part of 
management oversight, challenge, review and monitoring.    

The CFO explained that previous leaders had eroded trust and had driven staff to 
use the whistleblowing procedures. Therefore it was necessary to establish a solid 
control framework in order to work with staff and develop a strong culture of 
leadership, whom staff could question without fear of reprisal.  

The CFO advised the committee he was surprised at some of the audit findings and 
that the Fire Service Terms and Conditions of Employment were based on the 
National ‘Gold’ and ‘Grey’ Book terms and conditions of service. Whilst these 
conditions of service stated high level principles there was a requirement to have a 
local scheme which details the operational requirements. These local terms and 
conditions were currently being developed in full consultation with HR.  The CFO 
advised the Committee that a detailed rota system was now in place.  In response 
to a question, members were advised that there were terms within the gold book 
which was open to interpretation. It was explained that individuals citied within the 
report used the gold book terms to legitimate the mileage claimed and paid.  As 
there wasn’t previously a local policy in place, there were no rules in which to 
govern against.  

The Committee noted that the Fire Service was undertaking development work with 
Human Resources, in an effort to work on good practice.  The CFO added that the 
culture involved processes and people working together and there was no quick fix 
solution, as this would take time.  

The Cabinet Member for Fire accepted there were issues in the past and since 
appointed to the Cabinet had been actively involved in the new CFO appointment.  
The Cabinet Member’s goal was to return the service to a respectful status within 
the Community.  It was reported that the CFO leadership team was being 
enhanced, as the new CFO was alone until recently.  The Committee noted that 
staff morale across the service was beginning to improve and it was very important 
that staff were not demoralised further. The Cabinet Member urged members if they 
had any concerns to raise them with him directly.  

The CIA explained that follow up reviews would be undertaken during 2019/2020 
and 2020/2021 on all GFRS audits where a limited assurance opinion was provided 
and the findings would be reported to future meetings of the Committee  

Resolved

That the report be noted.   

40. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 2019/20 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Theresa Mortimer, CIA, presented the report in detail.  The purpose of the report 
was to inform members of the progress of the internal audit activity in relation to the 
2019/2020 Internal Audit Plan, including the opinions provided on risk and control. 

The Committee welcomed the report which showed a graphical summary of the 
opinions provided to date on the effectiveness of risk identification and control.  It 
was reported that there was an overall satisfactory and above rating of 62% on 
control and 77% on risk.  The CIA explained that the GFRS audits significantly 
contributed to the increase on the opinions on the control environment (38%).

It was noted that all 60 recommendations made by Internal Audit to improve the 
control environment during this period had been accepted by management.

Members’ attention was drawn to those audits undertaken during the period July – 
September 2019, of which five limited assurance opinions on control had been 
provided during this period relating to Approval of Payments to Agency Staff limited 
assurance follow up, Alternative Provision Schools – Stroud and Cotswold, GFRS 
HR and Payroll – Expenses and service benefits, GFRS Fleet management – use 
of pool cars, personal and leased cars and fuel schemes and GFRS Syrian 
Refugee Grant.  The Committee were reminded that the GFRS activity has been 
reported in the previous agenda item.  

The CIA referred to the management assurance framework on page 136 as agreed 
with the Director of Education, to provide the Committee with the assurance that 
schools were or had addressed Internal Audit recommendations.   The Director of 
Education will attend the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis 
commencing July 2020. 

It was suggested that the local member should be advised by internal audit of any 
issues relating to schools within their wards, the CIA explained that the CIA reports 
functionally to the Audit and Governance Committee to maintain independence, this 
means that all outcomes are initially reported to the committee. However, the Audit 
and Governance Committee have the powers to provide details of issues / concerns 
they feel relevance to Cabinet Members. These issues can then be formally 
referred by the Committee at their meetings.  

The CIA referred to the Approval of Payments to Agency staff audit where a limited 
assurance opinion was provided. The CIA advised members that the Director of 
People had provided data to Internal Audit on the 11th October 2019 to show that 
the recent work they had undertaken has significantly improved as the sign off rate 
has increased to 86% of agency timesheet i.e. down to 14% auto-approved. The 
decision on the new agency contract is going to Cabinet in December and the 
specification for the new system will not allow auto-approval so if managers do not 
sign off agency timesheets the worker will not get paid.

Based on the above, the committee agreed that they would not require physical 
management attendance to the next committee meeting and would wait for the 
outcome of the Internal Audit follow up review of this area.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The CIA reaffirmed the Council’s three lines of defence risk assurance model and 
suggested that the second line of defence in respect of corporate oversight / risk 
compliance required further enhancement.

Some members felt the rules had been previously misinterpreted by some Directors 
and it was necessary to have a clear and consistent approach going forward.   
In response to a question, it was explained that Human Resources were now 
concentrating on the culture element of the Authority.  Members were advised that 
this was also being reviewed by the task group.  

The Director of Corporate Resources informed the Committee that there was some 
work to do to ensure that it was fit for purpose and to make it easier to do the right 
thing and harder to do the wrong thing.  It was essential to ensure that staff 
understood clearly understood their role within the organisation and changed their 
mind set to focus on the public.   

Resolved 

That the report was duly considered.  

41. PROPOSED REFRESHED AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE'S TERMS 
OF REFERENCE 

Theresa Mortimer, CIA explained the proposed refreshed Audit and Governance 
Committee’s Terms of Reference reflected the revised Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) guidance on the function and operation of audit 
committees; “Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police, 2018 edition”.  
Members were advised that there were no fundamental changes to the terms of 
reference with the exception of consideration to appoint an independent member to 
the committee.  

Members questioned the independence of the independent person, it was 
suggested that recruitment to these positions were difficult and perhaps someone 
from a different Local Government Authority might be interested.  

In terms of training, it was explained that members were offered numerous Audit, 
finance and Governance training sessions throughout the year.  It was also agreed 
that the training element should be specifically referenced with the committee’s 
Terms of Reference.  At this point, the CIA proposed a partner training event with 
the other shared service audit committee members in order to share good 
practices.  The Committee welcomed this approach.  

Resolved 

That the Committee endorsed the refreshed Terms of Reference as set out in 
Appendix 2, subject to the inclusion of training. 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

The Committee recommended the Terms of Reference be presented to the 
Constitution Committee for formal approval and inclusion within the 
Council’s Constitution.

42. PROPOSED RECRUITMENT PACK FOR INDEPENDENT MEMBER 

The CIA presented the report in detail and advised the Committee that CIPFA had 
produced revised guidance on the function and operation of audit committees.  As 
such the Committee had participated in a workshop on 17th May 2019 to enable 
members of the Committee to undertake a self assessment of their effectiveness 
against the good practice principles published within this guidance.

Members were reminded that the Committee approved the action plan resulting 
from the effectiveness review, including the appointment of an independent 
member, at its meeting on 26th July 2019.  

During the discussion, some members felt that the Committee should not be 
restricted in an appointment and the Committee should be best placed to appoint 
the most suitable person.  The Monitoring Officer explained he would discuss the 
disqualifications for appointment (Appendix 2) further in consultation with the CIA 
and Legal Services, and make the appropriate amendments, prior to being 
submitted to the Constitution Committee for approval.  

Resolved 

That the Monitoring Officer would discuss the disqualifications for 
appointment appendix further in consultation with the CIA and Legal 
Services, prior to being to submitted to the Constitution Committee for 
approval.  

That the report be noted.  

43. TREASURY MID YEAR REPORT 

Paul Blacker, Finance Director explained that the update report had been produced 
in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Public 
Services which required an update report to be produced to inform members about 
the Treasury Management activities for 2019/20 Financial Year to date. 

The Treasury Management Update Report gave the position as at the end of 
August 2019.  Under the Code there was a requirement that members were 
presented with at least three reports during the year, and therefore this report 
together with the strategy and annual report met this requirement.

During the discussion it noted that the PWLB figures needed refreshing, officers 
agreed to amend the figures.    

Resolved

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

The Treasury Management update report was duly noted.  

44. INTERNAL AUDIT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORTS 

Phil Williams, Lead Commissioner for Community and Infrastructure presented the 
report.  He proceeded to explain that the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) operated a 
Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) for procuring ad-hoc transport for use by 
vulnerable adults and children. Social workers wishing to procure transport 
arrangements (periods for less than two weeks) and to be arranged at short notice 
could commission this via Staffnet/Taxis. If the requirements were to continue 
beyond two weeks the officer commissioning the service should then complete a 
more detailed request form to enable the ITU to make the arrangements which 
were usually procured at a reduced rate due to the increased security of work to the 
operator and the safeguarding controls relating to approved transport providers.

Members were informed that children and vulnerable adults were now being 
transported in a safe and compliant manner.  In response to a question, members 
noted that school transport was provided in accordance with Council’s Home to 
School Transport Policy.  

In response to a question, it was noted that issues in the past had occurred due to 
the high turnover of social workers and the lack of staff training.  The Lead 
Commissioner explained that further training was being provided to staff and if 
transport was being procured outside of the process the Integrated Transport Unit 
(ITU) would look at the individual cases in more detail, as there were some 
emergency situations which occurred and required transport.  It was explained that 
there was a list of emergency service providers that Social Workers could use.  

Members questioned the issue of ID badges, the Lead Commissioner explained 
that ITU undertook on the spot inspections on contractors, had proactive meetings 
with schools and ensured that drivers were DBS checked.  If there were any 
evidence of badges being incorrectly used then they would be removed.  

The CIA explained that Internal Audit would complete a follow up audit in due 
course.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

45. LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN'S ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 2019 

Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer presented the report.  The report informed the 
Committee of the Council’s arrangements for handling complaints and 
investigations by the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO).  The Committee noted 
that in 2018/19 the LGO received 67 complaints about the County Council, 11 of 
which were upheld.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

The Monitoring Officer advised the Committee that he had met with Statutory 
Officers and Legal to discuss the issues in detail and they were actively working to 
develop a more consistent approach, in order to report to the appropriate Scrutiny 
Committee.  

The Director of Corporate Resources explained that the LGO complaints were an 
active part of the process and the Authority needed to consider the element of the 
complaint in order to be clearer as to what information is provided in the future.  

It was noted that both complaints and compliments were welcome, as it gave 
modern organisations a broad overview and helped to improve its processes.  

Resolved

That the Committee noted the Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review 
Letter.    

46. MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT ANNUAL REPORT 

The Monitoring Officer presented the report which reminded the Committee of the 
statutory arrangements governing the conduct of elected members.  It was noted 
that the Council had two Independent Persons who assisted the Monitoring Officer 
when allegations were made.  It was reported there had been no reason to convene 
the Hearings Panel in 2018/19.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.56 am

Page 10



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Gloucestershire County Council and Pension Fund
Year ending 31 March 2020

January 2020

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Progress at January 2020 4

Audit Deliverables 5

Sector Update 6

2

P
age 12



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee with a report on 
progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 
The paper also includes:

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local authority; and

• includes a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues which the Committee may wish to 
consider (these are a tool to use, if helpful, rather than formal questions requiring responses for audit purposes)

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a 
section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications 
www.grantthornton.co.uk .

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 
receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 
Engagement Manager./

Introduction

3

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T 0117 305 7897
M 07880456122
E peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

David Bray

Engagement Manager

T 0117 305 7889
E David.bray@uk.gt.com

P
age 13



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

Audit Fees
During 2017, PSAA awarded contracts for audit for a five year period beginning on 1 April 
2018. 2019/20 is the second year of that contract. Since that time, there have been a 
number of developments within the accounting and audit profession. Across all sectors 
and firms, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has set out its expectation of improved 
financial reporting from organisations and the need for auditors to demonstrate increased 
scepticism and challenge and to undertake additional and more robust testing. 

Our work in the Local Government sector in 2018/19 has highlighted areas where financial 
reporting, in particular, property, plant and equipment and pensions, needs to improve. 
There is also an increase in the complexity of Local Government financial transactions and 
financial reporting. This combined with the FRC requirement that all Local Government 
audits are at or above the “few improvements needed” (2A) rating means that additional 
audit work is required. 

We have now reviewed the impact of these changes on both the cost and timing of your 
audit. We have discussed the proposed variations to the Scale Fee set by PSAA Limited 
with your s151 Officer and have provided further details in our separate fee letter and 
Audit Plan to be presented to the January 2020 Audit and Governance Committee. 

As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting the expectations of the FRC with regard 
to audit quality and local government financial reporting. 

Progress at January 2020

4

Financial Statements Audit
We have started our planning for the 2019/20 audit and will issue a detailed audit plan, setting out 
our proposed approach to the audit of the Council and Pension Fund’s 2019/20 financial 
statements.

Our interim fieldwork will include:

• Updated review of the Council and Pension Fund’s control environment

• Updated understanding of financial systems

• Review of Internal Audit reports on core financial systems

• Early work on emerging accounting issues

• Early substantive testing

We will report our work in the Audit Findings Report.

Other areas
Certification of claims and returns
We certify the Council’s annual Teachers Pension Claim and completed this by the deadline of 30 
November 2019.  The claim was certified without amendment or qualification. 

Events

We provide a range of workshops, along with network events for members and publications to 
support the Council. Your officers have been invited to our Financial Reporting Workshop in 
February 2020, which will help to ensure that members of your Finance Team are up to date with 
the latest financial reporting requirements for local authority accounts.

P
age 14



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

Audit Deliverables

5

2018/19 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report was reported to the July Audit Committee.

July 2019 Complete

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2019 Complete

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2019 Complete

2019/20 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2019/20.

April 2019 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan (both the Council and Pension Fund)

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit and Governance Committee setting out our 
proposed approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2019-20 financial statements.

January 2020 Complete

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment within 
our Progress Report.

April 2020 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report (both the Council and Pension Fund)

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit and Governance Committee.

July 2020 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2020 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2020 Not yet due

P
age 15



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

Councils continue to try to achieve greater 
efficiency in the delivery of public services, whilst 
facing the challenges to address rising demand, 
ongoing budget pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of emerging 
national issues and developments to support you. We cover areas which 
may have an impact on your organisation, the wider local government 
sector and the public sector as a whole. Links are provided to the detailed 
report/briefing to allow you to delve further and find out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research on 
service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest research 
publications in this update. We also include areas of potential interest to 
start conversations within the organisation and with audit committee 
members, as well as any accounting and regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

6

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 
government sections on the Grant Thornton website by clicking on the logos 
below:

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 
specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

Public Sector
Local 

government

P
age 16



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

MHCLG – Independent probe into local 
government audit 

In July, the then Communities secretary, James Brokenshire, 
announced the government is to examine local authority 
financial reporting and auditing.
At the CIPFA conference he told delegates the independent review will be headed up by Sir 
Tony Redmond, a former CIPFA president.

The government was “working towards improving its approach to local government oversight 
and support”, Brokenshire promised.

“A robust local audit system is absolutely pivotal to work on oversight, not just because it 
reinforces confidence in financial reporting but because it reinforces service delivery and, 
ultimately, our faith in local democracy,” he said.

“There are potentially far-reaching consequences when audits aren’t carried out properly and 
fail to detect significant problems.”

The review will look at the quality of local authority audits and whether they are highlighting 
when an organisation is in financial trouble early enough.

It will also look at whether the public has lost faith in auditors and whether the current audit 
arrangements for councils are still “fit for purpose”.

On the appointment of Redmond, CIPFA chief executive Rob Whiteman said: “Tony 
Redmond is uniquely placed to lead this vital review, which will be critical for determining 
future regulatory requirements.

“Local audit is crucial in providing assurance and accountability to the public, while helping to 
prevent financial and governance failure.”

He added: “This work will allow us to identify what is needed to make local audit as robust as 
possible, and how the audit function can meet the assurance needs, both now and in the 
future, of the sector as a whole.”

In the question and answer session following his speech, Brokenshire said he was not 
looking to bring back the Audit Commission, which appointed auditors to local bodies and 
was abolished in 2015. MHCLG note that auditing of local authorities was then taken over by 
the private, voluntary and not-for-profit sectors.

He explained he was “open minded”, but believed the Audit Commission was “of its time”.

Local authorities in England are responsible for 22% of total UK public sector expenditure so 
their accounts “must be of the highest level of transparency and quality”, the Ministry of 
Housing, Local Government and Communities said. The review will also look at how local 
authorities publish their annual accounts and if the financial reporting system is robust 
enough.

Redmond, who has also been a local authority treasurer and chief executive, is expected to 
report to the communities secretary with his initial recommendations in December 2019, with 
a final report published in March 2020. Redmond has also worked as a local government 
boundary commissioner and held the post of local government ombudsman.

The terms of reference focus on whether there is an “expectation gap” between the purpose 
of external audit and what it is currently delivering. It will examine the performance of local 
authority audit, judged according to the criteria of economy, effectiveness and efficiency.

Other key areas of the review include whether:

1) audit recommendations are effective in helping councils to improve financial 
management

2) auditors are using their reporting powers appropriately

3) councils are responding to auditors appropriately

4) Financial savings from local audit reforms have been realised

5) There has been an increase in audit providers

6) Auditors are properly responding to questions or objections by local taxpayers

7) Council accounts report financial performance in a way that is transparent and open to 
local press scrutiny

7

P
age 17



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

National Audit Office – Code of Audit Practice

The Code of Audit Practice sets out what local auditors of 
relevant local public bodies are required to do to fulfill their 
statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. ‘Relevant authorities’ are set out in 
Schedule 2 of the Act and include local councils, fire 
authorities, police and NHS bodies.  

Local auditors must comply with the Code of Audit Practice.

Consultation – New Code of Audit Practice from 2020
Schedule 6 of the Act requires that the Code be reviewed, and revisions considered at least 
every five years. The current Code came into force on 1 April 2015, and the maximum five-
year lifespan of the Code means it now needs to be reviewed and a new Code laid in 
Parliament in time for it to come in to force no later than 1 April 2020.

In order to determine what changes might be appropriate, the NAO is consulting on potential 
changes to the Code in two stages:

Stage 1 involves engagement with key stakeholders and public consultation on the issues that 
are considered to be relevant to the development of the Code.

This stage of the consultation is now closed. The NAO received a total of 41 responses to the 
consultation which included positive feedback on the two-stage approach to developing the 
Code that has been adopted. The NAO state that they have considered carefully the views of 
respondents in respect of the points drawn out from the Issues paper and this will inform the 
development of the draft Code. A summary of the responses received to the questions set 
out in the Issues paper can be found below. 

Local audit in England Code of Audit Practice – Consultation Response (pdf – 256KB)

Stage 2 of the consultation involves consulting on the draft text of the new Code. To support 
stage 2, the NAO has published a consultation document, which highlights the key changes 
to each chapter of the draft Code. The most significant changes are in relation to the Value 
for Money arrangements. Rather than require auditors to focus on delivering an overall, 
binary, conclusion about whether or not proper arrangements were in place during the 
previous financial year, the draft Code requires auditors to issue a commentary on each of 
the criteria. This will allow auditors to tailor their commentaries to local circumstances. The 
Code proposes three specific criteria:

a) Financial sustainability: how the body plans and manages its resources to ensure it can 
continue to deliver its services;

b) Governance: how the body ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 
manages its risks; and

c) Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the body uses information about 
its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

The consultation document and a copy of the draft Code can be found on the NAO website. 
The consultation closed on 22 November 2019. The new Code will apply from audits of local 
bodies’ 2020-21 financial statements onwards.

Link to NAO webpage for the Code consultation:

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/code-of-audit-practice-consultation/

8

P
age 18



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

Financial Reporting Council – Summary of key 
developments for 2019/20 annual reports
On 30 October the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) wrote 
an Open Letter to Company Audit Committee Chairs. Some 
of the points are relevant to local authorities.

The reporting environment
The FRC notes that, “In times of uncertainty, whether created by political events, general 
economic conditions or operational challenges, investors look for greater transparency in 
corporate reports to inform their decision-making. We expect companies to consider carefully 
the detail provided in those areas of their reports which are exposed to heightened levels of 
risk; for example, descriptions of how they have approached going concern considerations, 
the impact of Brexit and all areas of material estimation uncertainty.” These issues equally 
affect local authorities, and the Statement of Accounts or Annual Report should provide 
readers with sufficient appropriate information on these topics.

Critical judgements and estimates
The FRC wrote “More companies this year made a clear distinction between the critical 
judgements they make in preparing their accounts from those that involve the making of 
estimates and which lead to different disclosure requirements. However, some provided 
insufficient disclosures to explain this area of their reporting where a particular judgement 
had significant impact on their reporting; for example, whether a specific investment was a 
joint venture or a subsidiary requiring consolidation. We will continue to have a key focus on 
the adequacy of disclosures supporting transparent reporting of estimation uncertainties. An 
understanding of their sensitivity to changing assumptions is of critical value to investors, 
giving them clearer insight into the possible future changes in balance sheet values and 
which can inform their investment decisions.” Critical judgements and estimates also form a 
crucial part of local authority statements of account, with the distinction often blurred.

IFRS 16 Leases
The FRC letter notes “IFRS 16 is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
We recently conducted a thematic review looking at how companies reported on their 
adoption of the new standard in their June 2019 interim accounts. In advance of our detailed 
findings which will be published shortly, I set out what we expect to see by way of 
disclosures in the forthcoming accounts, drawing on the results of our work.

• Clear explanation of the key judgements made in response to the new reporting 
requirements;

• Effective communication of the impact on profit and loss, addressing any lack of 
comparability with the prior year;

• Clear identification of practical expedients used on transition and accounting policy choices; 
and

• Well explained reconciliation, where necessary, of operating lease commitments under IAS 
17, ‘Leases’, the previous standard and lease liabilities under IFRS 16.”

The implementation of IFRS is delayed until 1 April 2020 in the public sector when it will 
replace IAS 17 Leases and the three interpretations that supported its application. 
Authorities will need information and processes in place to enable them to comply with the 
requirements. They will need to make disclosures in the 2019/20 accounts about the impact 
of IFRS 16 in accordance with IAS 8/ Code 3.3.4.3 requirements for disclosure about 
standards which are issued but are not yet effective.

9

Financial Reporting
Challenge question: 

Will you have the opportunity to review and comment on your 
authority’s statement of accounts before they are published at the 
end of May?

P
age 19



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

What is the future for local audit? 
Paul Dossett, Head of local government at Grant Thornton, 
has written in the Municipal Journal “Audit has been a hot 
topic of debate this year and local audit is no exception. With 
a review into the quality of local audit now ongoing, it’s critical 
that part of this work looks at the overarching governance and 
management of the audit regime. We believe there is a strong 
need for new oversight arrangements if the local audit regime 
is to remain sustainable and effective in the future.”
Paul goes on to write “Local (local authority and NHS) audit has been a key part of the 
oversight regime for public services for more than a century. The National Audit Office (NAO) 
has exercised this role in central government for several generations and their reporting to 
Parliament via the Public Accounts Committee is a key part of the public spending 
accountability framework.

Local audit got a significant boost with the creation of the Audit Commission in 1983 which 
provided a coordinated, high profile focus on local government and (from 1990) NHS 
spending and performance at a local level. Through undertaking value for money reviews 
and maintaining a tight focus on the generational governance challenges, such as rate 
capping in the 1980s and service governance failings in the 1990s, the Commission provided 
a robust market management function for the local audit regime. Local audit fees, 
appointments, scope, quality and relevant support for auditors all fell within their ambit.

However, the Commission was ultimately deemed, among other things, to be too expensive 
and was abolished in 2010, as part of the Coalition Government’s austerity saving plans. 
While the regime was not perfect, and the sector had acknowledged that reform of the 
Commission was needed, complete abolition was not the answer.

Since then, there has been no body with complete oversight of the local audit regime and 
how it interacts with local public services. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government; Department of Health; NHS; NAO; Local Government Association (LGA); 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA); the Financial Reporting Council (FRC); the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA), audit firms and the audited 
bodies themselves all have an important role to play but, sometimes, the pursuit of individual 
organisational objectives has resulted in sub-optimal and even conflicting outcomes for the 
regime overall.

These various bodies have pursued separate objectives in areas such as audit fee reduction, 
scope of work, compliance with commercial practice, earlier reporting deadlines and 
mirroring commercial accounting conventions – to name just a few.

This has resulted in a regime that no stakeholder is wholly satisfied with and one that does 
not ensure local audit is providing a sufficiently robust and holistic oversight of public 
spending.

To help provide a more cohesive and co-ordinated approach within the sector, we believe 
that new oversight arrangements should be introduced. These would have ultimate 
responsibility for ensuring the sustainability of the local audit regime and that its component 
parts – including the Audit Code, regulation, market management and fees – interact in an 
optimal way. While these arrangements do not need to be another Audit Commission, we 
need to have a strategic approach to addressing the financial sustainability challenges facing 
local government and the NHS, the benchmarking of performance and the investigation of 
governance failings.

There are a number of possible solutions including:

1) The creation of a new arm’s length agency with a specific remit for overseeing and 
joining up local audit. It would provide a framework to ensure the sustainability of the 
regime, covering fees, appointments, and audit quality. The body would also help to 
create a consistent voice to government and relevant public sector stakeholders on key 
issues arising from the regime. Such a body would need its own governance structure 
drawn from the public sector and wider business community; and

2) Extending the current remit of the NAO. Give it total oversight of the local audit regime 
and, in effect, establish a local audit version of the NAO, with all the attendant powers 
exercised in respect of local audit. In this context, there would be a need to create 
appropriate governance for the various sectors, similar to the Public Accounts 
Committee.

While the detail of the new arrangements would be up for debate, it’s clear that a new type of 
oversight body, with ultimate responsibility for the key elements of local audit, is needed. It 
would help to provide much-needed cohesion across the sector and between its core 
stakeholders.

The online article is available here:

https://www.themj.co.uk/What-is-the-future-for-audit/214769

10

P
age 20



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

Grant Thornton’s Sustainable Growth Index 
Report
Grant Thornton has launched the Sustainable Growth Index 
(formerly the Vibrant Economy Index) – now in its third year.  
The Sustainable Growth Index seeks to define and measure 
the components that create successful places. Our aim in 
establishing the Index was to create a tool to help frame 
future discussions between all interested parties, stimulate 
action and drive change locally. We have undergone a 
process of updating the data for English Local Authorities on 
our online, interactive tool, and have produced an updated 
report on what the data means.  All information is available 
our on our online hub, where you can read the new report and 
our regional analyses. 
The Sustainable Growth Index provides an independent, data-led scorecard for each local 
area that provides:

• businesses with a framework to understand their local economy and the issues that will 
affect investment decisions both within the business and externally, a tool to support their 
work with local enterprise partnerships, as well as help inform their strategic purpose and 
CSR plans in light of their impact on the local social and economic environment

• policy-makers and place-shapers with an overview of the strengths, opportunities and 
challenges of individual places as well as the dynamic between different areas

• Citizens with an accessible insight into how their place is doing, so that they can contribute 
to shaping local discussions about what is important to them

The Index shows the 'tip of the iceberg' of data sets and analysis our public services 
advisory team can provide our private sector clients who are considering future locations in 
the UK, or wanting to understand the external drivers behind why some locations perform 
better than others. 

Our study looks at over 50 indicators to evaluate all the facets of a place and where they 
excel or need to improve.

Our index is divided into six baskets. These are:

1 Prosperity

2 Dynamism and opportunity

3 Inclusion and equality

4 Health, wellbeing and happiness

5 Resilience and sustainability

6 Community trust and belonging

This year’s index confirms that cities have a consistent
imbalance between high scores related to prosperity, 

dynamism and opportunity, and low scores for health, 
wellbeing, happiness inclusion and equality. Disparity 
between the richest and poorest in these areas 
represents a considerable challenge for those places.

Inclusion and equality remains a challenge for both highly urban and highly rural places and 
coastal areas, particularly along the east coast from the North East to Essex and Kent, face 
the most significant challenges in relation to these measures and generally rank below 
average.

Creating sustainable growth matters and to achieve this national policy makers and local 
authorities need to do seven things:

1 Ensure that decisions are made on the basis of robust local evidence.

2 Focus on the transformational trends as well as the local enablers

3 Align investment decisions to support the creation of sustainable growth

4 Align new funding to support the creation of sustainable growth

5 Provide space for innovation and new approaches

6 Focus on place over organisation

7 Take a longer-term view

The online report is available here:

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/sustainable-growth-index-how-does-your-place-
score/

11

P
age 21



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | December 2019

Public

Institute for Fiscal Studies – English local 
government funding: trends and challenges in 
2019 and beyond
The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) has found “The 2010s 
have been a decade of major financial change for English 
local government. Not only have funding levels – and hence 
what councils can spend on local services – fallen 
significantly; major reforms to the funding system have seen 
an increasing emphasis on using funding to provide financial 
incentives for development via initiatives such as the 
Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS) and the New 
Homes Bonus (NHB).”
The IFS goes on to report “Looking ahead, increases in council tax and additional grant 
funding from central government mean a boost to funding next year – but what about the 
longer term, especially given plans for further changes to the funding system, including an 
expansion of the BRRS in 2021–22?

This report, the first of what we hope will be an annual series of reports providing an up-to-
date analysis of local government, does three things in this context. First, it looks in detail at 
councils’ revenues and spending, focusing on the trends and choices taken over the last 
decade. Second, it looks at the outlook for local government funding both in the short and 
longer term. And third, it looks at the impact of the BRRS and NHB on different councils’ 
funding so far, to see whether there are lessons to guide reforms to these policies.

The report focuses on those revenue sources and spending areas over which county, district 
and single-tier councils exercise real control. We therefore exclude spending on police, fire 
and rescue, national park and education services and the revenues specifically for these 
services. When looking at trends over time, we also exclude spending on and revenues 
specifically for public health, and make some adjustments to social care spending to make 
figures more comparable across years. Public health was only devolved to councils in 2013–
14, and the way social care spending is organised has also changed, with councils receiving 
a growing pot of money from the NHS to help fund services.”

The IFS reports a number of key facts and figures, including

1) Cuts to funding from central government have led to a 17% fall in councils’ spending on 
local public services since 2009–10 – equal to 23% or nearly £300 per person.

2) Local government has become increasingly reliant on local taxes for revenues.

3) Councils’ spending is increasingly focused on social care services – now 57% of all 
service budgets.

The IFS report is available on their website below:

https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14563

12

P
age 22



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 
as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 
member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 
and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 
for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2020

Gloucestershire County Council

24 January 2020

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 5



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Key matters impacting our audit                                                                                             4                                                   

3. Significant risks identified 5

4. Other risks identified 9

5. Other matters 10

6. Materiality 

8.    Value for Money arrangements                                                                                           12

9. Audit logistics & team                                                                                                       13

10. Audit fees                                                                                                                   14

11. Independence & non-audit services 16

Appendix

A. Audit quality – national context 18

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the
Authority or all weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent.
We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for,
nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Peter Barber 

Key Audit Partner

T:  0117 305 7897

E: Peter.A.Barber@uk.gt.com

David Bray

Senior Manager

T: 0117 305 7889

E: David.Bray@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 
is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 26



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 3

1. Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory
audit of Gloucestershire County Council (‘the Authority’) for those charged with
governance.

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit
Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin
and end and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities
are also set out in the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities
issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for
appointing us as auditor of Gloucestershire County Council. We draw your attention
to both of these documents on the PSAA website.

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs) (UK). We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the:

• Authority’s financial statements that have been prepared by management with the
oversight of those charged with governance (the Audit and Governance Committee); and

• Value for Money arrangements in place at the Authority for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in your use of resources.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit and
Governance Committee of your responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Authority to
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the conduct of its business, and that public
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for. We have considered how the Authority is
fulfilling these responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Authority's business and is
risk based.

Significant risks Those risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been 
identified as:

• Valuation of land and buildings (rolling valuation)

• Valuation of net pension fund liability

• Accounting treatment of the Energy from Waste PFI scheme

• Management override of controls

• The revenue transactions include fraudulent transactions (this is rebutted, please see page 5)

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit 
Findings (ISA 260) Report.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £14.6m (PY £17.5m) for the Authority, which equates to 1.5% (1.9% in 2018/19) of your 
prior year gross expenditure for the year. We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are 
‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. Clearly trivial has been set at £0.729m (PY £0.873m). 

Value for Money arrangements Our risk assessment regarding your arrangements to secure value for money have identified the following VFM significant risks:

• Future financial sustainability

• Children’s services

Audit logistics Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and our Audit Findings Report. Our audit approach is detailed in Appendix A.

Our total estimated fee for the audit will be £102,818 (PY: £117,149) for the Authority, subject to the Authority meeting our requirements 
set out on page 13.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are 
independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements..

P
age 27



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 4

2. Key matters impacting our audit

Factors

Our response

.

The wider economy and political uncertainty

Local Government funding continues to be 
stretched with increasing cost pressures and  
demand from residents. For Gloucestershire 
County Council, the main pressures are within the 
Children's & Families directorate.

At a national level, the government continues its 
negotiation with the EU over Brexit, and future 
arrangements remain clouded in uncertainty. The 
Authority will need to ensure that it is prepared for 
all outcomes, including in terms of any impact on 
contracts, on service delivery and on its support for 
local people and businesses. 

• We will consider your arrangements for 
managing and reporting your financial 
resources as part of our work in reaching our 
Value for Money conclusion.

• We will consider whether your financial position 
leads to material uncertainty about the going 
concern of the Authority and will review related 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

Financial reporting and audit – raising the bar 

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has set out its 
expectation of improved financial reporting from 
organisations and the need for auditors to demonstrate 
increased scepticism and challenge, and to undertake 
more robust testing as detailed in Appendix 1.  

Our work in 2018/19 has highlighted areas where local 
government financial reporting, in particular, property, 
plant and equipment and pensions, needs to be 
improved, with a corresponding increase in audit 
procedures. We have also identified an increase in the 
complexity of local government financial transactions 
which require greater audit scrutiny.

Local issues

The Gloucestershire Energy from Waste Facility, Javelin 
Park, became operational in 2019/20. This will be a 
significant and complex transaction within the Council’s 
2019/20 financial statements. Javelin Park is financed 
through a PFI scheme.

• As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting 
the expectations of the FRC with regard to audit 
quality and local government financial reporting. Our 
proposed work and fee, as set further in our Audi 
Plan, has been agreed with the Director of Corporate 
Resources and is subject to PSAA agreement. 

• We have identified this new transaction as a significant 
risk in our 2019/20 audit plan and will engage with the 
finance officers as part of our planning of the audit to 
understand the impact of this further. 

P
age 28



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 5

3. Significant risks identified
Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, 
the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The revenue cycle includes 
fraudulent transactions 
(rebutted)

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue
may be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is 
no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 
recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of 
the revenue streams at the Authority, we have determined that the risk 
of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 
Gloucestershire County Council, mean that all forms of fraud are 
seen as unacceptable.

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant 
risk for Gloucestershire County Council.

Management over-ride of 
controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the 
risk of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities. .

We therefore identified management override of control, in particular 
journals, management estimates and transactions outside the course 
of business as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate the design effectiveness of management 
controls over journals

• analyse the journals listing and determine the 
criteria for selecting high risk unusual journals 

• test unusual journals recorded during the year and 
after the draft accounts stage for appropriateness 
and corroboration

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates 
and critical  judgements applied made by 
management and consider their reasonableness 
with regard to corroborative evidence

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in 
accounting policies, estimates or significant 
unusual transactions.

P
age 29



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 6

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of 
land and 
buildings 
(Rolling 
revaluation)

The Authority revalues its land and buildings on a two yearly rolling 
basis. This valuation represents a significant estimate by management 
in the financial statements due to the size of the numbers involved (£1.2 
billion at 31.3.19) and the sensitivity of this estimate to changes in key 
assumptions. Additionally, management will need to ensure the carrying 
value in the Authority financial statements is not materially different from 
the current value or the fair value (for surplus assets) at the financial 
statements date, where a rolling programme is used.

We therefore identified valuation of land and buildings, particularly
revaluations and impairments, as a significant risk of material
misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate management's processes and assumptions for the calculation
of the estimate, the instructions issued to valuation experts and the
scope of their work

• evaluate the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the Council’s
valuation expert

• write to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuation was
carried out

• challenge the information and assumptions used by the valuer to
assess completeness and consistency with our understanding

• engage our own valuer to assess the instructions to the Authority’s
valuer, the Authority’s valuer’s report and the assumptions that
underpin the valuation

• test revaluations made during the year to see if they had been input
correctly into the Authority's asset register

• evaluating the assumptions made by management for those assets not 
revalued during the year and how management has satisfied 
themselves that these are not materially different to current value at 
year end.

Significant risks identified

P
age 30



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 7

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of 
the pension 
fund net 
liability

The Authority's pension fund net liability, as reflected in its balance sheet 
as the net defined benefit liability, represents a significant estimate in the 
financial statements. 

The pension fund net liability is considered a significant estimate due to 
the size of the numbers involved (£862 million in the Authority’s balance 
sheet at 31.3.19) and the sensitivity of the estimate to changes in key 
assumptions.

We therefore identified valuation of the Authority’s pension fund net 
liability as a significant risk of material misstatement.

We will:

• update our understanding of the processes and controls put in place 
by management to ensure that the Authority’s pension fund net liability 
is not materially misstated and evaluate the design of the associated 
controls

• evaluate the instructions issued by management  to their management 
expert (an actuary) for this estimate and the scope of the actuary’s 
work

• assess the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary who 
carried out the Authority’s pension fund valuation

• assess the accuracy and completeness of the information provided by 
the Authority to the actuary to estimate the liability

• test the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and 
disclosures in the notes to the core financial statements with the 
actuarial report from the actuary

• undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial 
assumptions made by reviewing the report of the consulting actuary 
(as auditor’s expert) and performing any additional procedures 
suggested within the report; and

• obtain assurances from the auditor of Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
as to the controls surrounding the validity and accuracy of 
membership data; contributions data and benefits data sent to the 
actuary by the pension fund and the fund assets valuation in the 
pension fund financial statements.

Significant risks identified

P
age 31



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 8

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Accounting 
treatment of 
the Energy 
from Waste 
PFI scheme

The Energy from Waste PFI facility has become operational in 2019/20 
and the Council will be required to determine the accounting treatment of 
this within the financial statements.

This represents a significant and complex accounting transaction and 
therefore we deem this to represent a significant risk in 2019/20. 

We will:

• obtain details of the scheme including the PFI contract, operator’s PFI 
model and authority’s PFI accounting model

• review the above documentation to confirm the scheme is within the 
scope of IFRIC 12 in consultation with our internal PFI experts

• our specialist PFI team will review the authority’s model by using a GT 
model and comparing any differences between the two

• agree the balances and disclosures in the financial statements to the 
audited PFI accounting model

• review the disclosures relating to PFI for compliance with the CIPFA 
Code.

Significant risks identified

P
age 32



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 9

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

International 
Financial 
Reporting 
Standard 
(IFRS) 16 
Leases –
(issued but 
not adopted) 

The public sector will implement this standard from 1 April 2020. It will 
replace IAS 17 Leases, and the three interpretations that supported its 
application (IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, SIC-15, Operating Leases – Incentives, and SIC-27 Evaluating 
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a 
Lease). Under the new standard the current distinction between 
operating and finance leases is removed for lessees and, subject to 
certain exceptions, lessees will recognise all leases on their balance 
sheet as a right of use asset and a liability to make the lease payments. 

In accordance with IAS 8 and paragraph 3.3.4.3 of the Code disclosures 
of the expected impact of IFRS 16 should be included in the Authority’s 
2019/20 financial statements. The Code adapts IFRS 16 and requires 
that the subsequent measurement of the right of use asset where the 
underlying asset is an item of property, plant and equipment is measured 
in accordance with section 4.1 of the Code. 

We will:

• evaluate the processes the Authority has adopted to assess the 
impact of IFRS16 on its 2020/21 financial statements and whether the 
estimated impact on assets, liabilities and reserves has been 
disclosed in the 2019/20 financial statements.

• assess the completeness of the disclosures made by the Authority in 
its 2019/20 financial statements with reference to The Code and 
CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Leasing Briefings.

Prior period 
adjustment –
Change to 
operating 
structure

The Council has changed its operating structure during 2019/20 with 
changes relating to how the service lines are reported. This impact on 
the headings with the CIES and the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
note. The Council are proposing a prior period adjustment to reflect the 
new structure within the prior year figures in the 2019/20 statement of 
accounts. 

We will:

• discuss the impact of the proposed change with the Council and 
review the supporting working papers

• ensure the disclosure of any required prior period adjustments is 
CIPFA code compliant.

4. Other risks identified

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings Report.

P
age 33



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 10

5. Other matters

Other work

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code of Practice, we have a number of other
audit responsibilities, as follows:

• We read your Narrative Report and Annual Governance Statement to check that 
they are consistent with the financial statements on which we give an opinion and 
consistent with our knowledge of the Authority

• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves that disclosures made in your Annual 
Governance Statement are in line with the guidance issued by CIPFA

• We carry out work on your consolidation schedules for the Whole of Government 
Accounts process in accordance with NAO group audit instructions

• We consider our other duties under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 
Act) and the Code, as and when required, including:

• Giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2019/20 
financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 
relation to the 2019/20 financial statements

• Issue of a report in the public interest or written recommendations to the 
Authority under section 24 of the Act, copied to the Secretary of State

• Application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 
to law under Section 28 or for a judicial review under Section 31 of the Act 
or

• Issuing an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Act.

• We certify completion of our audit.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material 
misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each 
material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material 
balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will 
not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the 
appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is 
a material uncertainty about the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA 
(UK) 570). We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption 
and material uncertainties, and evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements. 

P
age 34



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 11

6. Materiality
The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and 
the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to disclosure 
requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. 
Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in 
the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We have determined financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the gross 
expenditure of the Authority for the financial year. In the prior year (PY) we used the same 
benchmark. Materiality at the planning stage of our audit is £14.6m (PY £17.5m) for the 
Authority, which equates to 1.5% (1.9% in 2018/19) of your prior year gross expenditure for 
the year. The reduction in materiality compared to the previous year reflects the higher 
profile of local audit following external reviews such as those led by Sir John Kingman and 
Sir Tony Redman.  We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at a 
lower level of precision which we have determined to be £0.1m for senior officer 
remuneration.

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we 
become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a different 
determination of planning materiality.

Matters we will report to the Audit and Governance Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to 
our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit 
Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent that these are 
identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with those charged with 
governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than 
those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. ISA 260 (UK) defines 
‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether taken individually or in 
aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative criteria.  In the context of 
the Authority, we propose that an individual difference could normally be considered to be 
clearly trivial if it is less than £0.729m (PY £0.87m). 

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of the 
audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the Audit and 
Governance Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Prior year gross expenditure

£973m Authority

(PY: £969m)

Materiality

Prior year gross expenditure

Materiality

£14.6m

Authority financial 
statements materiality

(PY: £17.5)

£0.73m

Misstatements reported 
to the Audit and 
Governance Committee

(PY: £0.87m)

P
age 35



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 12

7. Value for Money arrangements

Background to our VFM approach

The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on Value for Money work in November 2017. The
guidance states that for Local Government bodies, auditors are required to give a
conclusion on whether the Authority has proper arrangements in place to secure value for
money.

The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Significant VFM risks

Those risks requiring audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood that 
proper arrangements are not in place at the Authority to deliver value for money.

Future Financial Sustainability

Like many other similar local authorities, the financial outlook remains
challenging. At Month 6, the Council was forecasting a £5.1 million overspend
(1.2% of the budget). This position improved at Month 7 to a balanced budget
position as a result of a review of revenue reserves and in-year efficiencies
identified. The main area of pressure remains within the Children’s & Families
directorate. The Council has a significant savings target for 2019/20 of £19.1
million and at the end of quarter 2, the Council are reporting delivery of £8.7
million against this.

We will:

• review the Council’s performance against budget for 2019/20

• understand the future savings plans and the achievement of savings in
2019/20

• review the robustness of assumptions in the latest MTFS.

Children’s Services

Children’s services was assessed by Ofsted as inadequate at its most recent
inspection in June 2017. While the Council has had various monitoring visits
since the inadequate rating, they have yet to receive a formal re-inspection.

We will:

• review the outcome of any further monitoring visits or full inspection

• review the progress the Council is making against the recommendations
arising from the Ofsted review.

Informed 
decision 
making

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Working 
with partners 
& other third 

parties

Value for 
Money 

arrangements 
criteria

P
age 36



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 13

8. Audit logistics & team 

Client responsibilities

Where clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure that this does not 
impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of time, thereby 
disadvantaging other clients. Where the elapsed time to complete an audit exceeds that 
agreed due to a client not meeting its obligations we will not be able to maintain a team on 
site. Similarly, where additional resources are needed to complete the audit due to a client 
not meeting their obligations we are not able to guarantee the delivery of the audit to the 
agreed timescales. In addition, delayed audits will incur additional audit fees.

Our requirements 

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit, you need to ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with 
us, including all notes, the narrative report and the Annual Governance Statement

• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 
accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with 
you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 
reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise 
agreed) the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

Peter Barber, Key Audit Partner

Peter’s role will be to lead our relationship with you. He will take 
overall responsibility for the delivery of a high quality audit, meeting 
the highest professional standards and adding value to the Council.

David Bray, Audit Manager

David’s role will be to be a key contract with the senior 
management and the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Planning and
risk assessment 

Interim audit
To be confirmed

Year end audit
To be confirmed

Audit and 
Governance
Committee

January 2020

Audit and
Governance
Committee
April 2020

Audit and 
Governance
Committee

To be confirmed

Audit and 
Governance
Committee

To be confirmed

Audit 
Findings 
Report

Audit 
opinion

Audit 
Plan

Interim 
Progress 

Report

Annual 
Audit 
Letter

P
age 37



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 14

9. Audit fees

Actual Fee 2017/18 (£) Actual Fee 2018/19 (£) Proposed fee 2019/20 (£)

Council Audit 98,010 75,468 75,468

Additional Audit Fee - 9,000 27,350

Interim Fee for work undertaken on the objection to date - 32,861 TBC

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £98,010 £117,149 102,818

.

Assumptions:
In setting the above fees, we have assumed that the Authority will:
- prepare a good quality set of accounts, supported by comprehensive and well presented working papers which are ready at the start of the audit
- provide appropriate analysis, support and evidence to support all critical judgements and significant judgements made during the course of preparing the financial statements
- provide early notice of proposed complex or unusual transactions which could have a material impact on the financial statements.

Relevant professional standards:
In preparing our fee estimate, we have had regard to all relevant professional standards, including paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of the FRC’s Ethical Standard which stipulate that the Engagement Lead 

(Key Audit Partner) must set a fee sufficient to enable the resourcing of the audit with staff of appropriate skills, time and abilities to deliver an audit to the required professional standard.

Planned audit fees 2019/20

Across all sectors and firms, the FRC has set out its expectation of improved financial reporting from organisations and the need for auditors to demonstrate increased scepticism and challenge 
and to undertake additional and more robust testing. Within the public sector, where the FRC has recently assumed responsibility for the inspection of local government audit, the regulator 
requires that all audits achieve a 2A (few improvements needed) rating. 

Our work across the sector in 2018/19 has highlighted areas where local government financial reporting, in particular, property, plant and equipment and pensions, needs to be improved. We 
have also identified an increase in the complexity of local government financial transactions. Combined with the FRC requirement that 100% of audits achieve a 2A rating this means that 
additional audit work is required. We have set out below the expected impact on our audit fee. The table overleaf provides more details about the areas where we will be undertaking further 
testing. 

As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting the expectations of the FRC with regard to audit quality and local government financial reporting. Our proposed work and fee for 2019/20 at the 
planning stage, as set out below and with further analysis overleaf, has been agreed with the Director of Corporate Resources and is subject to PSAA agreement. 

P
age 38



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 15

Audit fee variations – Further analysis 
Planned audit fees

The table below shows the planned variations to the original scale fee for 2019/20 based on our best estimate at the audit planning stage. Further issues identified during the 
course of the audit may incur additional fees. In agreement with PSAA (where applicable) we will be seeking approval to secure these additional fees for the remainder of the 
contract via a formal rebasing of your scale fee to reflect the increased level of audit work required to enable us to discharge our responsibilities. Should any further issues 
arise during the course of the audit that necessitate further audit work additional fees will be incurred, subject to PSAA approval. 

Audit area £ Rationale for fee variation

Scale fee 75,468

Raising the bar 9,000 The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has highlighted that the quality of work by all audit firms needs to improve 
across local audit. This will require additional supervision and leadership, as well as additional challenge and 
scepticism in areas such as journals, estimates, financial resilience and information provided by the entity. For major 
audits – as outlined earlier in the Plan, we have also reduced the materiality level, reflecting the higher profile of local 
audit. This will entail increased scoping and sampling.

Pensions – valuation of net 
pension liabilities under 
International Auditing 
Standard (IAS) 19

3,500 We have increased the granularity, depth and scope of coverage, with increased levels of sampling, additional levels 
of challenge and explanation sought, and heightened levels of documentation and reporting.

PPE Valuation – work of 
experts 

9,350 We have engaged our own audit expert – Wilks Head and Eve LLP and increased the volume and scope of our audit 
work to ensure an adequate level of audit scrutiny and challenge over the assumptions that underpin PPE 
valuations]. The increase includes an estimate for the fee payable to the auditor’s expert. We estimate that the cost 
of the auditors expert will be in the region of £5000.

New accounting standards / 
developments

2,500 Note that PSAA’s original scale fee for this contract was set in March 2018, so any new developments since that time 
need to be priced in. 

Energy from Waste scheme  
accounting treatment

3,000 The Councils Energy from Waste PFI Scheme has become operational in 2019/20 which represents a significant and 
complex accounting transaction within the 2019/20 financial statements and therefore will be an area of focus for the 
audit. In the first year of a new PFI scheme, our work includes a review of the model by our PFI specialists as well as 
a review of the accounting treatment and the new balances and disclosures within the financial statements. 

Revised scale fee (to be 
approved by PSAA)

£102,818

P
age 39



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 16

10. Independence & non-audit services
Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 
or covered persons relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us.  We will also discuss with you if we make 
additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters. 

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements. 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 
person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit 
Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 and PSAA’s Terms of Appointment which set out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for auditors of local 
public bodies. 

Other services provided by Grant Thornton

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Authority. The following other services were identified.

The amounts detailed are fees agreed to-date for audit related and non-audit services to be undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP in the current financial year. These services are 
consistent with the Authority’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. Any changes and full details of all fees charged for audit related and non-audit related services 
by Grant Thornton UK LLP and by Grant Thornton International Limited network member Firms will be included in our Audit Findings report at the conclusion of the audit.
None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees. The firm is committed to improving our audit quality – please see our transparency report -
https://www.grantthornton.ie/about/transparency-report/

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related:

Certification of Teacher’s 
pension return

4,200 Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  
for this work is £4,200 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of and in particular relative to Grant Thornton 
UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all 
mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Non-audit related:

CFO Insights 10,000 Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

We have provided subscription services only; any decisions are made independently by the Council. The work is 
undertaken by a team independent to the audit team. 

P
age 40



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20

Appendices

A. Audit Quality – national context

P
age 41



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20 18

Appendix A: Audit Quality – national context

What has the FRC said about Audit Quality?

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) publishes an annual Quality Inspection of our firm, 
alongside our competitors. The Annual Quality Review (AQR) monitors the quality of UK 
Public Interest Entity audits to promote continuous improvement in audit quality.

All of the major audit firms are subject to an annual review process in which the FRC 
inspects a small sample of audits performed from each of the firms to see if they fully 
conform to required standards.

The most recent report, published in July 2019, shows that the results of commercial audits 
taken across all the firms have worsened this year. The FRC has identified the need for 
auditors to:

• improve the extent and rigour of challenge of management in areas of judgement

• improve the consistency of audit teams’ application of professional scepticism

• strengthen the effectiveness of the audit of revenue

• improve the audit of going concern

• improve the audit of the completeness and evaluation of prior year adjustments.

The FRC has also set all firms the target of achieving a grading of ‘2a’ (limited 
improvements required) or better on all FTSE 350 audits. We have set ourselves the same 
target for public sector audits from 2019/20.

Other sector wide reviews

Alongside the FRC, other key stakeholders including the Department for Business, energy 
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) have expressed concern about the quality of audit work and 
the need for improvement. A number of key reviews into the profession have been 
undertaken or are in progress. These include the review by Sir John Kingman of the 
Financial Reporting Council (Dec 2018), the review by the Competition and Markets 
authority of competition within the audit market, the ongoing review by Sir Donald Brydon 
of external audit, and specifically for public services, the Review by Sir Tony Redmond of 
local authority financial reporting and external audit. As a firm, we are contributing to all 
these reviews and keen to be at the forefront of developments and improvements in public 
audit.

What are we doing to address FRC findings?

In response to the FRC’s findings, the firm is responding vigorously and with purpose. As 
part of our Audit Investment Programme (AIP), we are establishing a new Quality Board, 
commissioning an independent review of our audit function, and strengthening our senior 
leadership at the highest levels of the firm, for example through the appointment of Fiona 
Baldwin as Head of Audit. We are confident these investments will make a real difference. 

We have also undertaken a root cause analysis and put in place processes to address the 
issues raised by the FRC. We have already implemented new training material that will 
reinforce the need for our engagement teams to challenge management and demonstrate 
how they have applied professional scepticism as part of the audit. Further guidance on 
auditing areas such as revenue has also been disseminated to all audit teams and we will 
continue to evolve our training and review processes on an ongoing basis.

What will be different in this audit?

We will continue working collaboratively with you to deliver the audit to the agreed 
timetable whilst improving our audit quality. In achieving this you may see, for example, an 
increased expectation for management to develop properly articulated papers for any new 
accounting standard, or unusual or complex transactions. In addition, you should expect 
engagement teams to exercise even greater challenge management in areas that are 
complex, significant or highly judgmental which may be the case for accounting estimates, 
going concern, related parties and similar areas. As a result you may find the audit process 
even more challenging than previous audits. These changes will give the audit committee –
which has overall responsibility for governance - and senior management greater 
confidence that we have delivered a high quality audit and that the financial statements are 
not materially misstated. Even greater challenge of management will also enable us to 
provide greater insights into the quality of your finance function and internal control 
environment and provide those charged with governance confidence that a material 
misstatement due to fraud will have been detected.

We will still plan for a smooth audit and ensure this is completed to the timetable agreed. 
However, there may be instances where we may require additional time for both the audit 
work to be completed to the standard required and to ensure management have 
appropriate time to consider any matters raised. This may require us to agree with you a 
delay in signing the announcement and financial statements. To minimise this risk, we will 
keep you informed of progress and risks to the timetable as the audit progresses.

We are absolutely committed to delivering audit of the highest quality and we should be 
happy to provide further detail about our improvement plans should you require it. 

P
age 42



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire County Council |  2019/20

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
2 Glass Wharf 
Temple Quay 
Bristol 
BS2 0EL 
 
T +44 (0)117 305 7600 
F +44 (0)117 955 4934 

 

 

 

 
 

 

   

 
   

   

Chartered Accountants. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. 
Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London EC2A 1AG. A list of members is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton 

UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. 
GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or om issions. 

Please see grantthornton.co.uk for further details.   

grantthornton.co.uk 

Commercial in confidence 

 

 

 

Dear Steve 

Audit scope and additional work 2019/20 

In recent conversations, including at Gloucestershire County Council’s Audit and Governance 

Committee, we have discussed the increased regulatory focus facing all audit suppliers and the impact 

this will have on the scope of our work for 2019/20 and beyond. You will have also recently received a 

letter via email from Tony Crawley of PSAA explaining the changing regulatory landscape. In his letter, 

Mr Crawley highlights: “significantly greater pressure on firms to deliver higher quality audits by requiring 

auditors to demonstrate greater professional scepticism when carrying out their work across all sectors – 

and this includes local audit. This has resulted in auditors needing to exercise greater challenge to the 

areas where management makes judgements or relies upon advisers, for example, in relation to 

estimates and related assumptions within the accounts. As a result, audit firms have updated their work 

programmes and reinforced their internal processes and will continue to do so to enable them to meet 

the current expectations.” 

I promised I would set out in more detail the likely impact of this on our audit, and I am pleased to do so 

in this letter. Should further matters arise during the course of the audit they could also have fee and 

timetable implications that we would need to address at that point. 

Across all suppliers, and sectors (public and private), the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has set out 

its expectation of improved financial reporting from organisations and the need for auditors to 

demonstrate increased scepticism and challenge, as well as to undertake additional and more robust 

testing. There is a general ‘raising of the quality bar’ following a number of recent, high-profile company 

failures that have also been attributed to audit performance. Alongside the FRC, other key stakeholders 

including the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) have expressed concern 

about the quality of audit work and the need for improvement. The FRC has been clear to us that it 

expects audit quality in local audit to meet the same standards as in the corporate world and the current 

level of financial risk within local audit bodies supports this position. 

As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting the expectations of the FRC and other key 

stakeholders with regard to audit quality and public sector financial reporting. To ensure the increased 

regulatory focus and expectations are fully met, we anticipate that, as first seen in 2018/19, we will need 

to commit more time in discharging our statutory responsibilities, which will necessitate an increase in 

costs.  I set out below the implications of this for your Council’s audit.  

  

 
Steve Mawson 
Director of Corporate Resources  
Gloucestershire County Council 
Shire Hall, 
Westgate Street, 
Gloucester 
GL1 2TG 
 
13 January 2020 
 
 
 

1 
 

Page 45



 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP. 2 

Commercial in confidence 

Increased challenge and depth of work – raising the quality bar 

The FRC has raised the threshold of what it assesses as a good quality audit. The FRC currently uses a 

four-point scale to describe the quality of the files it reviews, as follows: 

 

Score Description 

1 or 2a Acceptable with Limited Improvements Required 

2b Improvements required 

3 Significant Improvements Required   

 

Historically, the FRC’s definition for 2b was ‘acceptable but with improvements required’ and, as such, 

both the Audit Commission and PSAA considered a ‘2b’ to represent an acceptance level of audit quality 

for contract delivery purposes. The FRC has now set a 100% target for all audits (including local audits) 

to achieve a ‘2a’. Its threshold for achieving a ‘2a’ is challenging and failure to achieve this level is 

reputationally damaging for individual engagement leads and their firm. Non-achievement of the 

standard can result in enforcement action, including fines and disqualification, by the FRC. Inevitably, we 

need to increase the managerial oversight to manage this risk. In addition, you should expect the audit 

team to exercise even greater challenge of management in areas that are complex, significant or highly 

judgmental. We will be required to undertake additional work in the following areas, amongst others: 

• use of specialists 

• information provided by the entity (IPE) 

• journals 

• management review of controls 

• revenue 

• accounting estimates 

• financial resilience and going concern 

• related parties and similar areas.  

As part of our planning, we have also reflected on the level of materiality which is appropriate for your 

audit. As outlined above, the profile of local audit has increased considerably over the past year. The 

reviews led by Sir John Kingman, Sir Donald Brydon and Sir Tony Redmond are focusing attention on 

the work of auditors everywhere. Parliament, through the work of its Scrutiny Committees, has made 

clear its expectations that auditors will increase the quality of their work. Reflecting this higher profile, 

and the expectations of stakeholders, we propose to reduce the materiality level for all major audits 

including Gloucestershire County Council. This will increase the volume and scope of our testing and 

reporting to those charged with governance, as well as providing you with additional assurance in 

respect of the audit.  

As a result, you may find the audit process for 2019/20 and beyond even more challenging than 

previous audits. This mirrors the changes we are seeing in the commercial sectors.  

Property, plant and equipment (PPE or ‘Fixed Assets’) 

The FRC has highlighted that auditors need to improve the quality of audit challenge on Property, Plant 

and Equipment (PPE) valuations across the sector. We will therefore increase the volume and scope of 

our audit work to ensure an adequate level of audit scrutiny and challenge over the assumptions that 

underpin PPE valuations. We have also determined that, for major local audits including Gloucestershire 

County Council, we will now be engaging our own external valuer to provide appropriate assurance to 

the standards expected by the FRC for an authority of your size.  

  

Page 46



 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP. 3 

Commercial in confidence 

Pensions (IAS 19)  

The FRC has highlighted that the quality of work by audit firms in respect of IAS 19 needs to improve 
across local government audits. Specifically, for the following areas, we will increase the granularity, 
depth and scope of coverage, with increased levels of sampling, additional levels of challenge and 
explanation sought, and heightened levels of documentation and reporting. Our planned additional 
procedures include: 

• verification of the accuracy and completeness of the data provided to the actuary by both the 
admitted body and the administering authority.  

• checking the value of the Pension Fund Assets at 31 March per the Council’s financial 
statements against the share of assets in the Pension Fund statements  

• review and assess whether the significant assumptions applied by the actuary are reasonable 
and are followed up on areas identified by either our review or PwC as outliers.  

• ensuring that the instructions from the audit team to the Pension Fund auditor include enquiries 
in respect of service organisation reports as well as testing in respect of material level 3 
pension assets (please note that this is outside the scope of PSAA’s fee variation process).   

Complex accounting issues and new accounting standards 

You are required to respond effectively to new accounting standards and we must ensure our audit work 

in these new areas is robust. This year we will both be responding to the introduction of IFRS16. IFRS16 

requires a leased asset, previously accounted for as an operating lease off balance sheet, to be 

recognised as a ‘right of use’ asset with a corresponding liability on the balance sheet from 1 April 2020. 

There is a requirement, under IAS8, to disclose the expected impact of this change in accounting 

treatment in the 2019/20 financial statements.  

We know the Council has appreciated our responsiveness in the past and we would wish to continue to 

be able to do this in the future.  

Local issues - Energy from Waste accounting treatment 

The Council’s Energy from Waste PFI Scheme has become operational in 2019/20 which represents a 

significant and complex accounting transaction within the 2019/20 financial statements and therefore will 

be an area of focus for the audit. In the first year of a new PFI scheme, our work includes a review of the 

model by our PFI specialists as well as a review of the accounting treatment and the new balances and 

disclosures within the financial statements. 

Impact on the audit and associated costs 

You will note we did not raise additional fees across the sector as a whole in 2018/19 in respect of the 

additional work required in response to the implementation of IFRS9 and IFRS15. This was a goodwill 

decision we took in support of the strong relationship we have with the sector. However, the volume of 

additional work now being required, as set out above, means we are no longer able to sustain that 

position. This is an issue not just across public services but also in the private sector where fees are 

being increased by all of the major suppliers by more than 20%.  

We benefit from effective and constructive working relationships which we have established during our 

engagement with you to date. This allows us to absorb some of the impact of these changes. Using our 

strong working knowledge of you and efficiencies that we are continuously seeking to implement as part 

of our focus on continued collaborative working with you, we have sought to contain the impact as much 

as possible to below the market average. 

We have assessed the impact of the above as follows for 2019/20, with the comparative position for the 

two previous years shown. Please note these are subject to approval by PSAA in line with PSAA’s 

normal process. Should other risks arise during the course of the audit which we have not envisaged, we 

may need to make a further adjustment to the fee. 

  

Page 47



 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP. 4 

Commercial in confidence 

Area  Cost £  

 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 

Scale Fee 75,468 75,468 98,010 

Increased challenge and depth of 

work 

5,000 0 0 

Energy from Waste objection TBC 32,861 0 

Materiality (reduction of headline 

materiality from 1.9% of gross 

spend in 2018/19 to 1.5% in 

2019/20) 

4,000 0 0 

PPE 4,350 3,000 0 

Pensions (IAS19) 3,500 3,000 0 

New standards/ developments 2,500 0 0 

Energy from Waste accounting 

treatment (McCloud previous year) 

3,000 3,000 0 

Total 97,818 117,329 98,010 

PPE Valuation – cost of auditor’s 

expert  

5,000 0 0 

Total including valuer 102,818 117,329 98,010 

 

This would give a scale fee for the statutory accounts audit for 2019/20 of £75,468 plus VAT plus a 

variation of £27,350 plus VAT, giving a total of £102,818 plus VAT. This includes the cost of the external 

valuer which we have determined to be necessary to support our audit work in this area.  

Please note that PSAA's arrangements require a separation of fees and remuneration, which means that 
Grant Thornton does not receive 100% of the current fees charged. 
  

The additional work we are now planning across the whole of our portfolio will inevitably have an impact 

on the audit timetable and whether or not your audit can be delivered to appropriate quality standards by 

the 31 July 2020. Grant Thornton remains the largest trainer of CIPFA qualified accountants in the UK 

and is committed to continue to resource its local audits with suitably specialised and experienced staff 

but the pool of such staff is relatively finite in the short-term. I will be happy to explain the impact of the 

further work we are planning to undertake on our delivery timetable for your audit. 

Future changes to audit scope 

As I have previously mentioned in meetings and at the Audit and Governance Committee, the National 

Audit Office is currently consulting on revisions to the Code of Audit Practice and has also indicated its 

intention to consult on the accompanying Auditor Guidance Notes. This defines the scope of audit work 

in the public sector. The most significant change is in relation to the Value for Money arrangements. 

Rather than require auditors to focus on delivering an overall, binary, conclusion about whether or not 

proper arrangements were in place during the previous financial year, the draft Code requires auditors to 

issue a commentary on each of the criteria. This will allow auditors to tailor their commentaries to local 

circumstances. The Code proposes three specific criteria: 

a) Financial sustainability: how the body plans and manages its resources to ensure it can 

continue to deliver its services; 

b) Governance: how the body ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks; and 

Page 48



 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP. 5 

Commercial in confidence 

c) Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the body uses information about its 

costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. 

Under each of these criteria, statutory guidance will set out the procedures that auditors will need to 

undertake. An initial review of arrangements will consist of mandatory procedures to be undertaken at 

every local public body plus any local risk-based work. The consultation closed on 22 November 2019. A 

new Code will be laid before Parliament in April 2020 and will apply from audits of local bodies’ 2020/21 

financial statements onwards.  

Until the consultation is finalised and more details emerge of what is expected of auditors, it is difficult to 

cost the impact. However, as soon as the requirements are finalised and it is clear exactly what the 

expectations will be, I will share with you further thoughts on the potential impact on the audit and 

associated costs.       

I hope this is helpful and allows you to plan accordingly for the 2019/20 audit. Should you wish to 

discuss this further, please do not hesitate to contact me. We will be sharing our detailed Audit Plan with 

you in due course. We look forward to working with you again this year, 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

Engagement Lead and Key Audit Partner 

For and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2020

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

24 January 2020

P
age 51



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Key matters impacting our audit                                                                                             4                                                   

3. Significant risks identified      5 

4. Other matters 7

5. Materiality                                                                                                                 8

7. Audit logistics & team                                                                                                       9

8. Audit fees                                                                                                                   10

9. Independence & non-audit services                                                                                               12                       

Appendix

A. Audit quality – national context 14

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the
Pension Fund or all weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written
consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not
prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Peter Barber 

Key Audit Partner

T:  0117 305 7897

E: Peter.A.Barber@uk.gt.com

David Bray

Senior Manager

T: 0117 305 7889

E: David.Bray@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 
is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Pension Fund. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 52



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 3

1. Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory
audit of Gloucestershire Pension Fund (‘the Pension Fund’) for those charged with
governance.

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit
Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin
and end and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities
are also set out in the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities
issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for
appointing us as auditor of [insert name of organisation]. We draw your attention to
both of these documents on the PSAA website.

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs) (UK). We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the
Pension Fund’s financial statements that have been prepared by management with the
oversight of those charged with governance (the Audit and Governance Committee).

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit and
Governance Committee of your responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Pension Fund to
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the conduct of its business, and that public
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for. We have considered how the Pension
Fund is fulfilling these responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Pension Fund's business and
is risk based.

Significant risks Those risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been 
identified as:

• management override of controls

• the revenue transactions include fraudulent transactions (this is rebutted, please see page 5)

• valuation of level 3 investments

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit 
Findings (ISA 260) Report.

Materiality We have determined materiality at the planning stage of our audit to be £23.8m (PY £23.78m) for the Pension Fund, which equates to 1% 
of your prior year net assets for the year. We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are 
‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. Clearly trivial has been set at £1.19m (PY £1.18m). 

Audit logistics Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and our Audit Findings Report. Our audit approach is detailed in Appendix A.

Our fee for the audit will be £22,575 (PY: £19,825) for the Pension Fund, subject to the Pension Fund meeting our requirements set out on 
page 10.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are 
independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements..

P
age 53



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 4

2. Key matters impacting our audit
Factors

Our response

.

The wider picture and political uncertainty

• Local Government funding continues to be stretched with 
increasing cost pressures.

• The market value of LGPS funds at end of March 2019 was 
£287.2 billion (an increase of £16.3 billion or 6.0%) but for the 
first time, the LGPS in England & Wales is now cashflow 
negative, with benefit payments rising to £10.4bn while 
contributions fell to £9.3bn. There are now over 18,000 
employers. Local  authorities represent around 18.3% of these 
but have 74% of the members.

• The UK is set to leave the EU on 31 January 2020. The 
economic impact of this remains uncertain as is the wider 
global economic picture. The Pension Fund will need to 
ensure that it’s investment strategy has considered potential 
outcomes. 

• We will consider whether your financial position leads to 
material uncertainty about the going concern of the Pension 
Fund and will review related disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

Financial reporting and audit – raising the bar 

• The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has set 
out its expectation of improved financial 
reporting from organisations and the need for 
auditors to demonstrate increased scepticism 
and challenge, and to undertake more robust 
testing as detailed in Appendix 1.  

• Our work in 2018/19 has highlighted areas 
where financial reporting, in particular Level 3 
and Financial Instrument investment valuations 
and disclosures, needs to be improved, with a 
corresponding increase in audit procedures.

 As a firm, we are absolutely committed to 
meeting the expectations of the FRC with 
regard to audit quality and financial reporting. 
Our proposed work and fee, as set further in 
our Audit Plan, has been agreed with the 
Director of Corporate Resources and is subject 
to PSAA agreement.

Governance

• The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) has 
published the Good Governance – Phase II 
Report. Proposals include having a single 
named officer responsible for the delivery of 
LGPS related activity for a fund, an enhanced 
annual governance compliance statement and 
establishing a set of key performance indicators.

• SAB is also consulting on Responsible 
Investment guidance to assist and help 
investment decision makers.

• The Pensions Regulator continues to apply 
pressure on pension schemes to improve the 
quality of scheme member data. The 2019 
valuation process will likely have thrown up 
some data issues (large or small) that need 
addressing.

• We will consider the Pension Fund’s responses 
to the SAB initiatives and whether they impact 
upon our risk assessment.

• We will consider the impact of any data issues 
raised as part of the 2019 on the risks identified 
as part of our 2019/20 audit.

P
age 54



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 5

3. Significant risks identified
Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, 
the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The revenue cycle includes 
fraudulent transactions 
(rebutted)

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue may
be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is no 
risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the 
revenue streams at the Fund, we have determined that the risk of fraud 
arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund, mean that all forms of fraud are seen 
as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund.

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk 
for Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Management over-ride of 
controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the risk 
of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities

We therefore identified management override of control, in particular 
journals, management estimates and transactions outside the course of 
business as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate the design effectiveness of management 
controls over journals

• analyse the journals listing and determine the criteria 
for selecting high risk unusual journals 

• test unusual journals recorded during the year and 
after the draft accounts stage for appropriateness and 
corroboration

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates 
and critical  judgements applied made by 
management and consider their reasonableness with 
regard to corroborative evidence

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting 
policies, estimates or significant unusual transactions.

P
age 55



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 6

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of 
Level 3 
Investments

The Fund revalues its investments on an annual basis to ensure that the 
carrying value is not materially different from the fair value at the financial 
statements date.

By their nature Level 3 investment valuations lack observable inputs. 
These valuations therefore represent a significant estimate by 
management in the financial statements due to the size of the numbers 
involved and the sensitivity of this estimate to changes in key 
assumptions

Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to significant non-routine 
transactions and judgemental matters.  Level 3 investments by their very 
nature require a significant degree of judgement to reach an appropriate 
valuation at year end.

Management utilise the services of investment managers and custodians 
as valuation experts to estimate the fair value as at 31 March 2020. 

We therefore identified valuation of Level 3 investments as a significant
risk, which was one of the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate management's processes for valuing Level 3 investments

• review the nature and basis of estimated values and consider what
assurance management has over the year end valuations provided for
these types of investments; to ensure that the requirements of the
Code are met

• independently request year-end confirmations from investment 
managers and custodians

• for a sample of investments, test the valuation by obtaining and 
reviewing the audited accounts, (where available) at the latest date for 
individual investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports 
at that date. Reconcile those values to the values at 31 March 2020 
with reference to known movements in the intervening period and

• in the absence of available audited accounts, we will evaluate the 
competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation expert

• test revaluations made during the year to see if they had been input 
correctly into the Pension Fund’s asset register

• where available review investment manager service auditor report on 
design effectiveness of internal controls.  

3. Significant risks identified

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings Report.

P
age 56



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 7

4. Other matters
Other work

The Pension Fund is administered by Gloucestershire County Council (the ‘Council’), and
the Pension Fund’s accounts form part of the Council’s financial statements.

Therefore, as well as our general responsibilities under the Code of Practice a number of
other audit responsibilities also follow in respect of the Pension Fund, such as:

• We read any other information published alongside the Council’s financial statements
to check that it is consistent with the Pension Fund financial statements on which we
give an opinion and is consistent with our knowledge of the Authority.

• We consider our other duties under legislation and the Code, as and when required, 
including:

• Giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2018/19 financial 
statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in relation to 
the 2018/19 financial statements;

• Issue of a report in the public interest or written recommendations to the Fund 
under section 24 of the Act, copied to the Secretary of State.

• Application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to 
law under Section 28 or for a judicial review under Section 31 of the Act; or

• Issuing an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Act.

• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves on the consistency of the pension fund financial 
statements included in the pension fund annual report with the audited Fund accounts.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material 
misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each 
material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material 
balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will 
not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the 
appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is 
a material uncertainty about the Pension Fund's ability to continue as a going concern” 
(ISA (UK) 570). 

Currently, the accounts of the Pension Fund are expected to be prepared on a going 
concern basis. We will review management's assessment of the going concern 
assumption and any material uncertainties, and evaluate the disclosures in the financial 
statements.   

P
age 57



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 8

5. Materiality

The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements 
and the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to 
disclosure requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and 
applicable law. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if 
they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We have determined financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the net 
assets of the Pension Fund for the financial year. In the prior year we used the same 
benchmark. Materiality at the planning stage of our audit is £23.8m (PY £23.78m) for 
the Pension Fund, which equates to 1% of your prior year net assets for the year. 

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we 
become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a 
different determination of planning materiality.

Matters we will report to the Audit and Governance Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to 
our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit 
Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent that these are 
identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with those charged 
with governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements 
other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. ISA 260 
(UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether taken 
individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative 
criteria.  In the context of the Pension Fund, we propose that an individual difference 
could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £1.19m (PY £1.18m). 

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of 
the audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the 
Audit and Governance Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Prior year net assets

£2.38 billion 

(PY: £2.24 billion)

Materiality

Prior year net assets Materiality

£23.8m

Pension Fund financial 
statements materiality

(PY: £23.78m)

£1.19m

Misstatements reported 
to the Audit and 
Governance Committee

(PY: £1.18m)

P
age 58



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 9

6. Audit logistics & team 

Client responsibilities

Where clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure that this does not 
impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of time, thereby 
disadvantaging other clients. Where the elapsed time to complete an audit exceeds that 
agreed due to a client not meeting its obligations we will not be able to maintain a team on 
site. Similarly, where additional resources are needed to complete the audit due to a client 
not meeting their obligations we are not able to guarantee the delivery of the audit to the 
agreed timescales. In addition, delayed audits will incur additional audit fees.

Our requirements 

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit, you need to ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with 
us, including all notes, the narrative report and the Annual Governance Statement

• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 
accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with 
you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 
reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise 
agreed) the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

Peter Barber, Key Audit Partner

Peter’s role will be to lead our relationship with you. He will take 
overall responsibility for the delivery of a high quality audit, meeting 
the highest professional standards and adding value to the Pension 
Fund.

David Bray, Audit Manager

David’s role will be to be a key contract with the senior 
management and the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Planning and
risk assessment 

Interim audit
To be confirmed

Year end audit
To be confirmed

Audit and 
Governance
Committee

January 2020

Audit and 
Governance
Committee
April 2020

Audit and 
Governance
Committee

To be confirmed

Audit and 
Governance
Committee

To be confirmed

Audit 
Findings 
Report

Audit 
opinion

Audit 
Plan

Interim 
Progress 

Report

Annual 
Audit 
Letter

P
age 59



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 10

7. Audit fees

Actual Fee 2017/18 Actual Fee 2018/19 Proposed fee 2019/20 

Pension Fund Audit 23,799 18,325 18,325

Additional fees 1,500 4,250

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 23,799 19,825 £22,575

.

Assumptions:
In setting the above fees, we have assumed that the Pension Fund will:
- prepare a good quality set of accounts, supported by comprehensive and well-presented working papers which are ready at the start of the audit
- provide appropriate analysis, support and evidence to support all critical judgements and significant judgements made during the course of preparing the financial statements
- provide early notice of proposed complex or unusual transactions which could have a material impact on the financial statements.

Relevant professional standards:
In preparing our fee estimate, we have had regard to all relevant professional standards, including paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of the FRC’s Ethical Standard which stipulate that the Engagement Lead 

(Key Audit Partner) must set a fee sufficient to enable the resourcing of the audit with staff of appropriate skills, time and abilities to deliver an audit to the required professional standard.

Planned audit fees 2019/20

Across all sectors and firms, the FRC has set out its expectation of improved financial reporting from organisations and the need for auditors to demonstrate increased scepticism and challenge 
and to undertake additional and more robust testing. Within the public sector, where the FRC has recently assumed responsibility for the inspection of local government audit, the regulator 
requires that all audits achieve a 2A (few improvements needed) rating. 

Our work across the sector in 2018/19 has highlighted areas where local government pension fund financial reporting, in particular, scrutiny of the valuation of hard to value investments needs to 
be improved. Combined with the FRC requirement that 100% of audits achieve a 2A rating this means that additional audit work is required. We have set out below the expected impact on our 
audit fee. The table overleaf provides more details about the areas where we will be undertaking further testing. 

As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting the expectations of the FRC with regard to audit quality and local government financial reporting. Our proposed work and fee at the planning 
stage, as set out below and with further analysis overleaf, has been agreed with the Director of Corporate Resources and is subject to PSAA agreement. 

P
age 60



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 11

Audit fee variations – Further analysis 
Planned audit fees

The table below shows the planned variations to the original scale fee for 2019/20 based on our best estimate at the audit planning stage. Further issues identified during the 
course of the audit may incur additional fees. 

Audit area £ Rationale for fee variation

Scale fee 18,325

Raising the bar 2,500 The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has highlighted that the quality of work by all audit firms needs to improve 
across local audit. This will require additional supervision and leadership, as well as additional challenge and 
scepticism in areas such as journals, estimates, financial resilience and information provided by the entity.

Valuation of level 3 
investments 

1,750 The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has highlighted that the quality of work by all audit firms in respect of 
valuations of hard to value investments needs to improve across the sector. Accordingly, we plan to enhance the 
scope and coverage of our work to ensure an adequate level of audit scrutiny and challenge over the assumptions 
and evidence that underpin the valuations of level 3 investments this year to reflect the expectations of the FRC and 
ensure we issue a safe audit opinion.

Revised scale fee (to be 
approved by PSAA)

22,575

P
age 61



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 12

8. Independence & non-audit services
Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 
or covered persons relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us.  We will also discuss with you if we make 
additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters. 

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 
person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit 
Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 and PSAA’s Terms of Appointment which set out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for auditors of local 
public bodies. 

Other services provided by Grant Thornton

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Pension Fund. 

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Audit related:

Audit of Brunel Pension 
Partnership Limited (BPP)

40,000 None We do not consider the audit of BPP as a threat it our independence as Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund cannot exercise control over BPP.

The audit of BPP is carried out by a specialist team, authorised by the Financial 
Standards Authority.

The fee of £40,000 is not significant compared to the audit fees of the ten participating 
pension funds. 

Please note this fee is not included in the financial statements of Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund as is payable by BPP.

Non Audit:

Provision of IAS 19 
Assurances to Scheme 
Employer auditors

£7,000 None We are required to respond to requests received from other auditors of admitted bodies 
for assurance in respect of information held by the Fund and provided to the actuary to 
support their individual IAS 19 calculations. 

Our estimate is that the fee for this will be £3,000 plus an additional £500 for each local 
government body which requests a letter of assurance. `

P
age 62



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20

Appendices

A. Audit Quality – national context

P
age 63



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20 14

Appendix A: Audit Quality – national context

What has the FRC said about Audit Quality?

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) publishes an annual Quality Inspection of our firm, 
alongside our competitors. The Annual Quality Review (AQR) monitors the quality of UK 
Public Interest Entity audits to promote continuous improvement in audit quality.

All of the major audit firms are subject to an annual review process in which the FRC 
inspects a small sample of audits performed from each of the firms to see if they fully 
conform to required standards.

The most recent report, published in July 2019, shows that the results of commercial audits 
taken across all the firms have worsened this year. The FRC has identified the need for 
auditors to:

• improve the extent and rigour of challenge of management in areas of judgement

• improve the consistency of audit teams’ application of professional scepticism

• strengthen the effectiveness of the audit of revenue

• improve the audit of going concern

• improve the audit of the completeness and evaluation of prior year adjustments.

The FRC has also set all firms the target of achieving a grading of ‘2a’ (limited 
improvements required) or better on all FTSE 350 audits. We have set ourselves the same 
target for public sector audits from 2019/20.

Other sector wide reviews

Alongside the FRC, other key stakeholders including the Department for Business, energy 
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) have expressed concern about the quality of audit work and 
the need for improvement. A number of key reviews into the profession have been 
undertaken or are in progress. These include the review by Sir John Kingman of the 
Financial Reporting Council (Dec 2018), the review by the Competition and Markets 
Pension Fund of competition within the audit market, the ongoing review by Sir Donald 
Brydon of external audit, and specifically for public services, the Review by Sir Tony 
Redmond of local Pension Fund financial reporting and external audit. As a firm, we are 
contributing to all these reviews and keen to be at the forefront of developments and 
improvements in public audit.

What are we doing to address FRC findings?

In response to the FRC’s findings, the firm is responding vigorously and with purpose. As 
part of our Audit Investment Programme (AIP), we are establishing a new Quality Board, 
commissioning an independent review of our audit function, and strengthening our senior 
leadership at the highest levels of the firm, for example through the appointment of Fiona 
Baldwin as Head of Audit. We are confident these investments will make a real difference. 

We have also undertaken a root cause analysis and put in place processes to address the 
issues raised by the FRC. We have already implemented new training material that will 
reinforce the need for our engagement teams to challenge management and demonstrate 
how they have applied professional scepticism as part of the audit. Further guidance on 
auditing areas such as revenue has also been disseminated to all audit teams and we will 
continue to evolve our training and review processes on an ongoing basis.

What will be different in this audit?

We will continue working collaboratively with you to deliver the audit to the agreed 
timetable whilst improving our audit quality. In achieving this you may see, for example, an 
increased expectation for management to develop properly articulated papers for any new 
accounting standard, or unusual or complex transactions. In addition, you should expect 
engagement teams to exercise even greater challenge management in areas that are 
complex, significant or highly judgmental which may be the case for accounting estimates, 
going concern, related parties and similar areas. As a result you may find the audit process 
even more challenging than previous audits. These changes will give the audit committee –
which has overall responsibility for governance - and senior management greater 
confidence that we have delivered a high quality audit and that the financial statements are 
not materially misstated. Even greater challenge of management will also enable us to 
provide greater insights into the quality of your finance function and internal control 
environment and provide those charged with governance confidence that a material 
misstatement due to fraud will have been detected.

We will still plan for a smooth audit and ensure this is completed to the timetable agreed. 
However, there may be instances where we may require additional time for both the audit 
work to be completed to the standard required and to ensure management have 
appropriate time to consider any matters raised. This may require us to agree with you a 
delay in signing the announcement and financial statements. To minimise this risk, we will 
keep you informed of progress and risks to the timetable as the audit progresses.

We are absolutely committed to delivering audit of the highest quality and we should be 
happy to provide further detail about our improvement plans should you require it. 

P
age 64



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  2019/20

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Audit and Governance Committee

24th January 2020

Title of Report Strategy Reports 2020/21.

Purpose of Report To provide the Committee with the proposed Capital Strategy, 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2020/21, updates to the Treasury Management Policy and the 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

Recommendations
To consider, and comment as appropriate, on the proposed 
strategies for 2020/21, including the Policy amendment and the 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

Officers
Paul Blacker: Director of Finance (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Kathryn Oakey: Finance Manager: (01452) 328915
kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Report

Following an update by the Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accounting 
(CIPFA) in 2017 of the Prudential Code, Treasury Management Code of Practice and 
new guidance issued by the 2018 Ministry of Housing Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) the Council is now required to produce:

 A Capital Strategy (Annex 1), 

 A Treasury Management Strategy (Annex 2) and 

 An Investment Strategy covering non-treasury investments (included in Annex 2).

These strategies are included within the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 
approval by full Council in February 2020.

Following a motion agreed by Council in November 2019 the Council has developed 
and will implement a Responsible Investment Policy, which will rule out new 
investments in fossil fuel companies. As a result, a Treasury Policy amendment is 
included as Appendix C to the Treasury Management Strategy (Annex 2).

Page 67

Agenda Item 6

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Annex 1
Capital Strategy 

2020/21 

Introduction

This capital strategy was introduced as a new requirement from 2019/20, giving a high-
level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management 
activity contribute to the provision of local public services along with an overview of how 
associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability. 

Capital Expenditure and Financing

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as property or 
vehicles that will be used for more than one year. In local government, this includes 
spending on assets owned by other bodies and loans / grants to other bodies enabling 
them to buy assets.  Subject to all Financial Regulations and Accounting Instructions, 
Directors have the authority to incur expenditure on schemes included in the capital 
programme approved by County Council.

Expenditure may not be incurred if it is contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the 
Policy Framework or approved Capital Programme.  Virements and changes to 
approved capital schemes can be made in accordance with the Accounting Instructions.

In 2020/21 the Budget set for planned capital expenditure is £200.7 million (excluding 
PFI and lease liabilities) – planned capital expenditure for other financial years is 
summarised below.  Total capital expenditure from PFI and Finance Leases totals 
£576.7 million in 2020/21.  The Energy from Waste scheme became operational in 
2019/20, and a change in accounting for operational leases results in these leases 
coming onto the Councils Balance sheet as well.

Table 1: Estimates of Capital Expenditure
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 93.235 110.317 200.668 40.059 7.678
PFI and Finance Leases 19.138 594.625 576.651 552.363 527.811
TOTAL 112.373 704.942 777.319 592.422 535.489

Estimates of Capital Expenditure

Governance: 

For the majority of service areas service managers bid annually to include projects in 
the Council’s capital programme.  The Council’s project appraisal methodology is 
employed to evaluate schemes included in the MTFS. The elements are:

 Scheme description
 Fit against the Council’s 

priorities
 Costs including whole life 

costs and scheme phasing
 Available funding and source

 Revenue consequences
 Risk assessment
 VAT issues
 Planning and site issues
 Target dates

Page 68



3

Analysis of existing approved schemes is carried out during the MTFS setting 
process to identify all “non-committed” schemes. Where necessary these will be re-
prioritised against other priority schemes awaiting approval.  Capital resources will 
also be made available to deliver schemes that meet the Council’s “invest to save” 
criteria.

All Highway related projects, with a few limited exceptions, are subjected to a 
mathematical assessment process applicable to the area of the service involved.  
The exceptions are the allocations that are set aside for reactive works which relates 
to urgent work necessary to keep the network in a safe and operational state, 
Community Offer where the Council matches contributions from the community and 
low cost minor works where we react on a local basis to needs. 

The Council has a statutory obligation to ensure there are sufficient local school 
places available across the County.  The capital and grant funding it receives is 
prioritised against schemes which have been identified to meet forecast growth 
(basic need) in areas where additional places are required and where the condition of 
the school’s infrastructure needs updating and replacing.  Annual monitoring of pupils 
forecasts and housing, together with annual inspections of school sites ensures the 
information is up to date to inform planning and capital allocation decisions.  The 
Council has produced a School Places Strategy document (2018-23).  This strategy, 
which was approved by Cabinet in December 2018, is a key framework document for 
the Council in considering any statutory proposals for changes to school organisation 
including the commissioning of new schools and will inform future capital investment 
priorities. 

The final capital programme is presented to Cabinet in January and to County 
Council in February each year.  Full details of the Council’s current capital 
programme can be found in the MTFS.

Financing Capital Expenditure

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government 
grants and other contributions), the Council’s own internal resources (revenue, 
reserves and capital receipts) or debt (including internal borrowing, leasing and 
Private Finance Initiative). The planned financing of the above expenditure is as 
follows: 
Table 2: Financing the Capital Programme
Capital Financing 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m £m £m £m £m

External Sources 63.990 72.278 123.188 5.965 0.043
Internal Resources 19.245 26.054 50.832 21.177 7.635
Debt 10.000 11.985 26.648 12.917 0.000
Sub Total 93.235 110.317 200.668 40.059 7.678
PFI and Finance Leases 19.138 594.625 576.651 552.363 527.811
Total 112.373 704.942 777.319 592.422 535.489

Page 69



4

Debt is only a temporary source of finance and is therefore replaced over time by 
other financing - loans must be repaid (usually from revenue which is known as the 
minimum revenue provision - MRP) and leased PFI assets are financed via lease 
payments.  Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets (known as capital 
receipts) may be used to replace debt finance.  Planned MRP, PFI and lease 
payments to finance debt are as follows (there are no plans to use capital receipts in 
this way at the current time):

Table 3: Replacement of Debt Finance
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Minimum Revenue Provision 6.200 6.600 7.079 7.873 8.211
PFI and Finance Leases 0.688 10.438 24.474 24.288 24.552
Total 6.888 17.038 31.554 32.161 32.763

The significant increase in 2019/20 is due the impact of the lease for Javelin Park 
Energy from Waste scheme coming onto the Council’s balance sheet from October 
2019.  This results in a first year lease liability of £9.8 million with a full year impact 
from 2020/21. The Council’s full MRP statement is available within the Treasury 
Management Strategy, Annex 2 below.

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the 
capital financing requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital 
expenditure and reduces with MRP payments, annual lease payments and capital 
receipts (which are used to replace debt).  Based on the above figures for 
expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows:

Table 4: Capital Financing requirement
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 286.051 291.436 311.004 316.049 307.838
PFI and Finance Leases 19.138 594.625 576.651 552.363 527.811
TOTAL CFR 305.188 886.061 887.655 868.411 835.648

Capital Financing Requirement

The capital financing requirement for 2020/21 and subsequent years includes a 
£6.5m increase due to a technical change in the accounting for leases.  In addition as 
mentioned previously, PFI and Finance Leases increased significantly due to Javelin 
Park Energy from Waste scheme coming onto the Councils Balance sheet.

Asset management: 

To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has an 
asset management strategy in place.  This document seeks to align the asset 
portfolio with the needs of the Council.  The Council’s asset management strategy is 
available on the Council’s website.

Page 70



5

Asset disposals: 

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold and the proceeds, known 
as capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or used to repay debt.  The Council 
is currently also permitted to spend capital receipts on service transformation projects 
– however the Council currently has no plans to use this flexibility in 2020/21. 
Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital receipts. 
The Council plans to receive £19.7 million of capital receipts in the coming financial 
year as follows:

Table 5: Capital Receipts
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Asset sales 8.455 12.200 19.675 11.795 6.963
Local Authoity Mortgage Scheme 1.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 9.455 12.200 19.675 11.795 6.963

Capital receipts

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts:

Since 2016/17 new capital receipts can to be used to fund the revenue costs of 
transformation projects designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery 
of public services and / or to transform service delivery in a way that reduces costs or 
demand for services in the future.  This is in addition to normal use to repay debt or 
fund further capital spend.  Plans for utilising capital receipts in this way need to be 
approved by County Council as part of the normal approval of the Capital 
Programme. The proposed budget 2020/21 does not anticipate the use of capital 
receipts in this way.  However, given the expected size and scale of the 
transformation programme required to balance the budget over the coming years, it is 
likely the facility to use capital receipts in this flexible manner may be required in 
future.

Treasury Management

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash 
available to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved.  
Surplus cash is invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by 
borrowing, to avoid excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current 
account.  The Council is typically cash rich in the short-term as revenue income is 
received before it is spent, but cash poor in the long-term as capital expenditure is 
incurred before being financed.  The revenue cash surpluses are offset against 
capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing. 

Due to capital financing decisions taken in the past it is estimated that the Council will 
have £269.8 million borrowing as at the end of March 2020 at an average interest 
rate of 4.76% and £242.6 million treasury investments at an average rate of 1.27%. 

Page 71



6

Borrowing strategy: 

The Council is currently holding all new long term  borrowing requirements internally.  
However, should the Council need to externalise this debt, take out new external debt 
or take short term debt for cash flow purposes the main objectives when borrowing 
will be to achieve a low but certain cost of finance, while retaining flexibility should 
plans change in future.  These objectives are often conflicting and the Council 
therefore seeks to strike a balance between cheap short-term loans (currently 
available at around 0.75%) and long-term fixed rate loans where the future cost is 
known but higher (currently 2.5 to 3.5%).  For example, a 25 year fixed term loan 
would currently cost 3.24%.

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing 
and PFI liabilities) are shown below, compared with the capital financing requirement 
(see above).

Table 6: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Debt (incl. Other Liabilities) 296.788 864.411 838.474 804.241 767.589
Capital Financing Requirement 305.188 886.061 887.655 868.411 835.648

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing 
Requirement 

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing 
requirement, except in the short-term. As can be seen from table 6, the Council 
expects to comply with this in the medium term. 

Liability benchmark: 

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated showing minimum level of borrowing required to 
keep investments at a minimum level.  This benchmark is currently £21.1 million and 
is forecast to rise to £41.3 million over the next three years.  In effect, this is saying 
that if we had no investment balances / surplus cash during 2019/20 the Council 
would only need borrowing of £21.1 million to support the capital programme.  The 
reason the benchmark is increasing is due to the borrowing that the Council is 
planning to hold internally over the next few years.

Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Outstanding borrowing 277.650 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778
Liability benchmark -48.649 21.136 46.904 49.549 41.257

Borrowing and the Liability 
Benchmark 

The table shows that the Council expects to remain borrowed above its liability 
benchmark. This is because the Council has a large historic debt portfolio and, due to 
the high premiums that would be incurred on the early repayment of this debt, it is not 
currently feasible to reduce the level of borrowing.  Any new debt requirements are 
currently held internally, reducing the cost of carry.  This debt would only be 
externalised if it become uneconomical to hold it internally.

Page 72



7

The purpose of the liability benchmark is to assist the Council when making decisions 
about affordability of the capital programme and the need to borrow in the future.

Affordable borrowing limit: 

The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the 
authorised limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review.  In line with 
statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level 
should debt approach the limit.

Table 8: Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit
£m £m £m £m £m

Total Authorised Limit for External 
Debt and Other Liabilities 380.000 950.000 990.000 950.000 910.000

Split: External Debt 360.862 355.375 413.349 397.637 382.189
Other Liabilities 19.138 594.625 576.651 552.363 527.811

Total Operational Boundary for 
External Debt 360.000 930.000 970.000 930.000 890.000

Split: External Debt 340.862 335.375 393.349 377.637 362.189
Other Liabilities 19.138 594.625 576.651 552.363 527.811

Authorised limit and operational 
boundary 

The authorised limit and operational boundary for 2020/21 and subsequent years 
include a £6.5m increase due to a technical change in the accounting for leases.  
Further details on borrowing are available within the treasury management strategy 
at Annex 2 below. The Council’s proposed capital programme will be contained within 
these affordable limits.

Treasury Investment strategy: 

Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it needs to be spent.  
Investments made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally 
considered to be part of treasury management however MHCLG guidance requires 
that a non treasury management Investment Strategy is maintained and can be 
included as part of the Treasury Management Strategy.

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over 
yield that is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is 
likely to be spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with the 
government, other local authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the 
risk of loss and maintain liquidity.  Money that will be held for longer terms is invested 
more widely, including in bonds, shares and property, to enable a higher yield whilst 
still balancing the risk of loss against the risk of receiving returns below inflation. 

Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an 
external fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy, and 
the Council may request its money back at short notice.  Following the Motion agreed 
by Council in November 2019 the Council has developed and will implement a 
Responsible Investment Policy, which will rule out new investments in fossil fuel 

Page 73



8

companies.  As a result, a Treasury Policy amendment is included as Appendix C to 
the Treasury Management Strategy (Annex 2).

Table 9: Treasury Manasgement Investments
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Near-term investments 204.4 127.2 93.0 80.4 76.6
Longer-term investments 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9
TOTAL 326.3 249.1 214.9 202.3 198.5

Treasury Management Investments

Further details on treasury investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment strategy, Annex 2.

Governance: 

Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and 
are therefore delegated to the Section 151 Officer and staff, who must act in line with 
the treasury management strategy approved annually by Council in February.  
Regular reports on treasury management activity are presented to Audit and 
Governance Committee.  The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for 
scrutinising treasury management decisions.

Investments for Service Purposes

The Council can make investments to assist local public services; this could include 
making loans to local service providers, small businesses to promote economic 
growth and Council subsidiaries that provide services.  In light of the public service 
objective, the Council is willing to take more risk than with treasury investments, 
however the objective is still for such investments to break even after all costs.

Governance: 

Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant service manager in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer and must meet the criteria and limits laid 
down in Accounting Regulations and the Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategy.  Most loans and shares are capital expenditure and significant purchases 
will be approved as part of the capital programme.

Further details on service investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy (Annex 2).

Commercial Activities

With central government financial support for local public services declining, many 
local authorities have invested in commercial property for financial gain.  

With financial return being the main objective, Council’s will generally accept higher 
risk on commercial investment, in line with business cases, than it would for treasury 
investments. The principal risk exposures include gaps in rental income, falls in 

Page 74



9

capital value, delays in occupation.  Should the Council choose to pursue commercial 
activities; the risks will be managed in line with a comprehensive business case. 

Governance: 

Decisions on commercial investments will be made by the Section 151 Officer in line 
with the criteria and limits approved by full Council in the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy.  Property and most other commercial investments are also 
capital expenditure and purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the 
capital programme.

Further details on commercial activities are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy (Annex 2).

Revenue Budget Implications

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest 
payable on loans, lease payments and MRP payments are charged to revenue, offset 
by any investment income receivable.  The net annual charge is known as financing 
costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from 
Council Tax, business rates and general government grants.  The reason for the 
large increase in Table 10 below, is the Waste contract liability and the impact of a 
technical change in the accounting for leases. Further details on the revenue 
implications of capital expenditure are within Annex 10 of the MTFS.

Table 10: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Proportion of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 5.97% 10.51% 17.53% 17.22% 16.92%

Sustainability: 

Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue 
budget implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up to 
50 years into the future. The Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the proposed capital 
programme is prudent, affordable and sustainable. New schemes are robustly 
challenged through the capital bid process.

Knowledge and Skills

The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior 
positions with responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment 
decisions.  The Council pays for staff to study towards relevant professional 
qualifications.

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required use is made of 
external advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council 
currently employs Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers.  

Page 75



10

Asset valuations are co-ordinated internally by the Council’s Valuation Service Team, 
with valuations carried out through a combination of the Council’s internal valuers 
and, where necessary, external valuers (RICS qualified). The Valuation Service 
Team ensures all valuations are carried out in accordance with the methodologies 
and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors.

Page 76



11

Annex 2
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy

2020/21 

Introduction

Treasury management is the management of the Councils cash flows, borrowing and 
investments and the associated risks. The Council has borrowed and invested 
substantial sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss 
of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful 
identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore central to the 
Council’s prudent financial management. 

Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the 
Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each financial 
year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 
2003 to have regard to the CIPFA Code.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered within this 
Strategy as per MHCLG guidance.

External Context

Economic background

The UK’s progress negotiating its exit from the European Union, together with its future 
trading arrangements, will continue to be a major influence on the Council’s treasury 
management strategy for 2020/21. The General Election has removed some uncertainty 
within the market, however following the expected Withdrawal Bill, uncertainties around 
the future trading relationship with the EU remain.

GDP growth rose by 0.4% in the third quarter of 2019 from -0.2% in the previous three 
months with the annual rate falling further below its trend rate to 1.1% from 1.2%. 
Services, construction and production added positively to growth, by 0.5%, 1.2% and 
0.1% respectively, while agriculture recorded a fall of 0.1%.  Looking ahead, the Bank of 
England’s Monetary Policy Report (formerly the Quarterly Inflation Report) forecasts 
economic growth to pick up during 2020 as Brexit-related uncertainties dissipate and 
provide a boost to business investment helping GDP reach 1.6% in Q4 2020, 1.8% in 
Q4 2021 and 2.1% in Q4 2022.

The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation remained the same in November 
2019 at 1.5% year-on-year, the same as October 2019, however continuing to fall from 
highs of 2.1% in July and April 2019 as accommodation services and transport 
continued to contribute to a level of inflation below the BOE target of 2%.  Labour 
market data continues to be positive.  The ILO unemployment rate continues to hold at 
historic lows at 3.8%, its lowest level since 1975.  The 3-month average annual growth 
rate for pay excluding bonuses rose to 3.5% in November 2019 providing some 
evidence that a shortage of labour is supporting wages.  However, adjusting for inflation 
this means real wages were only up by 0.9% in October 2019 and only likely to have a 
moderate impact on household spending.

Page 77



12

Domestic inflationary pressures have abated, as domestic gas and electricity price 
freezes have taken effect until 2020.  The price of oil has fallen through the year, 
despite a rise in prices in December 2019.  The limited inflationary pressure from real 
wages will likely keep inflation below the Bank of England target of 2%.  The Bank of 
England maintained Bank Rate to 0.75% in November following a 7-2 vote by the 
Monetary Policy Committee.  Despite keeping rates on hold, MPC members did confirm 
that if Brexit uncertainty drags on or global growth fails to recover, they are prepared to 
cut interest rates as required.  Moreover, the downward revisions to some of the growth 
projections in the Monetary Policy Report suggest the Committee may now be less 
convinced of the need to increase rates even if there is a Brexit deal.

Credit Update

The recent Bank of England stress tests assessed all seven UK banking groups.  The 
tests scenarios include deep simultaneous recessions in the UK and global economies 
that are more severe overall than the global financial crisis, combined with large falls in 
asset prices and a separate stress of misconduct costs.  All seven banks passed the 
test on both a CET1 ratio and a leverage ratio basis.  Major banks have steadily 
increased their capital for many years now.  However, there are a number of 
shortcomings in the Bank of England’s approach; 

• timeliness as the results are over 11 months out of date when they are published, 
being based on end-2018 balance sheets;

• ringfencing, as the tests ignore the restrictions on transferring capital between 
ringfenced “retail” banks and non-ringfenced “investment” banks within the larger 
groups;

• coverage - the tests don’t cover the full range of UK banks and building societies.

The Bank of England will seek to address some of these issues in 2020, when Virgin 
Money / Clydesdale will be added to the testing group and separate tests will be 
included for ringfenced banks.

Challenger banks (smaller and often recently established retail banks set up to compete 
with long established banks) hit the news headlines in 2019 with Metro Bank and TSB 
Bank both suffering adverse publicity and falling customer numbers.

Looking forward, the potential for a “no-deal” Brexit and / or a global recession remain 
the major risks facing banks and building societies in 2020/21 and a cautious approach 
to bank deposits remains advisable.

Interest Rate Forecast

The Council’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose is forecasting that Bank Rate 
will remain at 0.75% until the end of 2022.  The risks to this forecast are deemed to be 
significantly weighted to the downside given the continuing uncertainty about the final 
Brexit deal  and the continuing global economic slowdown.  The Bank of England, 
having previously indicated interest rates may need to rise if a Brexit agreement was 
reached, stated in its November Monetary Policy Report and its Bank Rate decision (7-2 
vote to hold rates) that the MPC now believe this is less likely even in the event of a 
deal.

Gilt yields have risen but remain at low levels and only some very modest upward 
movement from current levels are expected based on Arlingclose’s interest rate 
projections.  The central case is for 10-year and 20-year gilt yields to rise to around 

Page 78



13

1.00% and 1.40% respectively over the time horizon, with broadly balanced risks to both 
the upside and downside.  However, short-term volatility arising from both economic 
and political events over the period is a near certainty.

A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached 
at Appendix A.

Local Context

At 31st March 2020 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is £886.1 million, while usable 
reserves and working capital which are the underlying resources available for 
investment were £263.8 million. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B.  Forecast 
changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis in table 1 below.

The Council currently has £269.8 million of external borrowing, a £594.6 million lease 
liability (including PFI and the Waste liability) and £346.1 million (as at 15th November 
2019) of internal investments. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B, and 
forecast changes in these sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis at Table 1 
below.

The Council’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their 
underlying levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing.  CIPFA’s Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities recommends that the Council’s total debt should be 
lower than its highest forecast CFR over the next three years.  Table 1 shows that the 
Council expects to comply with this recommendation during 2020/21.  

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund CFR 305.188 886.061 887.655 868.411 835.648
Less: Other debt liabilities 19.138 594.625 576.651 552.363 527.811
Loans CFR 286.051 291.436 311.004 316.049 307.838
Less: External borrowing 277.650 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778
Internal (over) borrowing 8.401 21.650 49.181 64.171 68.060
Less: Usable reserves 294.200 223.300 223.600 226.000 226.100
Less: Working capital 40.500 40.500 40.500 40.500 40.500
(Investments) or New borrowing (326.299) (242.150) (214.919) (202.329) (198.540)

Balance Sheet Summary

Liability benchmark

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated and presented in the Capital Strategy, showing the 
lowest risk level of borrowing. This benchmark is currently £21.1 million and is forecast 
to rise to £41.3 million over the next three years as the Council seeks to hold new 
capital borrowing requirements internally.

Borrowing Strategy

The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2019/20 is forecast to be £886.1 million 
(equivalent to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external borrowing and a lease 
liability.  The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt and where possible some of 

Page 79



14

the existing debt if oportunites to do this arise. The Council also considers new 
borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial beneficial to do so.  In 
2019/20 £7.9 million maturing external debt was repaid with  £8.0 million being forecast 
to be repaid in 2020/21.

The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the 
period for which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the 
Councils long-term plans change is a secondary objective.

The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability 
without compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term 
interest rates currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event that 
the Council needed to borrow it would be more cost effective in the short-term to either 
use internal resources, or to borrow short-term loans instead.  

By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone 
investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most 
likely to be beneficial over the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is 
unlikely to be sustained in the medium-term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be 
monitored regularly against the potential for incurring additional costs by deferring 
borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates are forecast to rise 
modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and breakeven 
analysis. 

In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) to 
cover unexpected cash flow shortages.

Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• Public Works Loan Board and any successor body
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• any other UK public sector body
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to 

enable local Council bond issues

In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not 
borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

• leasing
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public 
Works Loan Board, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such as 
local Council loans and bank loans, that may be available at more favourable rates.

Page 80



15

The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital 
markets and lend the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated 
source of finance than the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required 
to provide bond investors with a guarantee to refund their investment in the event that 
the agency is unable to for any reason; and there will be a lead time of several months 
between committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable.  Any decision to 
borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject to approval by the s151 Officer.  

The Council holds £33.0 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans 
where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, 
following which the Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the 
loan at no additional cost.  All of these LOBO’s have options during 2020/21, however 
lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the current low interest rate environment. 
The situation with these LOBOs will be kept under regular review and the Council will 
take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to do so.  
Previously a further £8.0 million of loans with Barclays were classified as LOBOs, 
however Barclays have now fixed the interest rates on these loans until maturity. These 
are now classified as fixed rate market loans.

Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term 
interest rate rises and are therefore subject to interest rate exposure limits in the 
treasury management indicators below.  Financial derivatives may be used to manage 
this interest rate risk (see Financial Derivatives section below).

Debt Rescheduling

The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium 
or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Some 
bank lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The 
Council may take advantage of this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay 
loans without replacement, where this is expected to lead to an overall saving or 
reduction in risk.

Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in the Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and any 
other treasury management reports presented to Audit & Governance Committee.

Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance 
of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2019/20 the Council’s internal 
investment balance has ranged between £309.0 million and £389.0 million.  Balances 
are expected to start falling as the planned use of internal borrowing increases.

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds prudently and to have regard to 
the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or 
yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the 
risk receiving unsuitably low investment income.  Where balances are expected to be 
invested for more than one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return that is 
equal or higher than the prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending 
power of the sum invested.

Page 81



16

If the UK enters into a recession in 2020/21, there is a small chance that the Bank of 
England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to 
negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. This situation 
already exists in many other European countries. In this event, security will be 
measured as receiving the contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this 
may be less than the amount originally invested.

Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank 
investments, the Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure 
and / or higher yielding asset classes during 2020/21.  This is especially the case for 
funds available for longer-term investment. The pie chart below shows how  Councils 
surplus cash is currently invested.

UK Banks
15%

Non UK Banks
4%

Covered 
Instruments

1%

Local Authorities
38%MMF+

1%

MMFs
19%

Housing 
Associations

1%

Long Dated 
Funds
12%

Property Fund
9%

Investments as at 15/11/19

Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments depends on the 
Council’s “business model” for managing them. The Council aims to achieve value from 
its internally managed treasury investments by a business model of collecting the 
contractual cash flows and therefore, where other criteria are also met, these 
investments will continue to be accounted for at amortised cost.

The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in table 2 
below, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty), the time limits shown and the 
Responsible Investment Policy (recommended update at Appendix C).

Page 82



17

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties 

£ Unlimited
50 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m
 5 years 20 years 50 years  20 years  20 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

5 years 10 years 25 years 10 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

4 years 5 years 15 years 5 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

3 years 4 years 10 years 4 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

2 years 3 years 5 years 3 years 5 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

13 months 2 years 5 years 2 years 5 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

 6 months 13 months  5 years  13 months  5 years
£1m £30m £1m £15m

6 months 25 years 5 years 5 years
Pooled funds and real estate 

investment trusts £30m per fund or trust

None n/a

AA+

AA

AA-

A+

A

A-

Corporates Registered 
Providers

AAA

Credit rating Banks 
unsecured

Banks 
Secured Government

UK Govt n/a n/a n/a n/a

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term credit rating 
from a selection of external rating agencies. Where available, the credit rating 
relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made 
solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice 
will be taken into account.

 Banks Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks 
and building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These 
investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator 
determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail.

 Banks Secured: 
Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other collateralised 
arrangements with banks and building societies.  These investments are secured on 
the bank’s assets, which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of 
insolvency, and means that they are exempt from bail-in.  Where there is no 
investment specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is 
secured has a credit rating, the highest of the collateral credit rating and the 
counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash and time limits.  The 

Page 83



18

combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will not exceed the 
cash limit for secured investments.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional and 
local authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments are not 
subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although they are 
not zero risk. Investments with the UK Central Government may be made in 
unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Corporates: 
Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks and 
registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to 
the risk of the company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be 
made either following an external credit assessment or to a maximum of £1 million 
per company as part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

 Registered Providers: 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of registered 
providers of social housing and registered social landlords, formerly known as 
housing associations.  These bodies are tightly regulated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing (in England). As providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of 
receiving government support if needed.  

 Pooled Funds: 
Shares or units in diversified investment vehicles consisting of the any of the above 
investment types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the advantage 
of providing wide diversification of investment risk, coupled with the services of a 
professional fund manager in return for a fee.  Short Term Money Market Funds that 
offer same-day liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an alternative to 
instant access bank accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes with market 
prices and/or have a notice period will be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset 
classes other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying 
investments.  Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available 
for withdrawal after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in 
meeting the Council’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

 Real estate investment trusts: 
Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the majority of their 
rental income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. As with 
property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more 
volatile especially as the share price reflects changing demand for the shares as well 
as changes in the value of the underlying properties.  Investments in REIT shares 
cannot be withdrawn but can be sold on the stock market to another investor.

Other information on the security of investments: 

The Council understands that credit ratings are a good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will therefore also be given to other available information 

Page 84



19

on the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap 
prices, financial statements, information on potential government support, reports in the 
quality financial press and analysis and advice from the Council’s treasury management 
adviser.  No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive 
doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all 
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in credit 
ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these circumstances, the Council 
will restrict its investments to those organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the 
maximum duration of its investments to maintain the required level of security.  The 
extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market conditions. If 
these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality 
are available to invest the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited 
with the UK Government via the Debt Management Office or invested in government 
treasury bills for example, or with other local authorities.  This will cause a reduction in 
the level of investment income earned, but will protect the principal sum invested.

Investment Limits

The Council holds general revenue reserves which would be available to cover 
investment losses.  However, in order to limit this risk, in the case of a single default, the 
maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will 
be £30 million.  A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a single 
organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on fund managers, 
investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign countries and industry sectors as 
below. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count 
against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many 
countries.

Table 3: Investment Limits

Cash limit

Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £30m each
UK Central Government unlimited
Any group of organisations under the same ownership £30m per group
Any group of pooled funds under the same management £50m per manager
Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee account £100m per broker
Foreign countries £30m per country
Registered providers and registered social landlords £40m in total
Unsecured investments with building societies £10m in total
Loans to unrated corporates £30m in total
Money market funds £150m intotal
Real estate investment trusts £30m in total

Treasury Management Indicators

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using 
the following indicators.

Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 
monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.  This is 

Page 85



20

calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the 
arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are 
assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

Credit risk indicator Target
Minimum average portfolio credit rating A

Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk 
by monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a 
rolling three month period, without additional borrowing.

Liquidity risk indicator Target
Total cash available within 3 months £50m

Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in 
interest rates will be:

Interest rate risk indicator Limit
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise / fall in 
interest rates £643,000

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing 
loans and investments will be replaced at current rates.  

Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure 
to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowing will 
be:

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit
Under 12 months 25% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 25% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 100% 0%
10 years and above 100% 0%

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing 
is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: The purpose of this 
indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking 
early repayment of its investments.  This risk needs to be weighed up against the higher 
yields available from longer term investments.  The limits on the long-term principal sum 
invested to final maturities beyond the period end will be:

Page 86



21

Table 5: Upper Limit
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

200.000 200.000 200.000 200.000 200.000
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days

Non Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example 
when income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury 
management investments),

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other 
organisations (service investments), and

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is the 
main purpose).

This section of the report is concerned with meeting the requirements of statutory 
guidance issued by the government in January 2018 and focuses on the second and 
third of these categories, service and commercial investments. 

Service Investments: Loans

The Council can lend money to support local public services and stimulate local 
economic growth.  The Council has made a £100,000 investment in the Funding Circle 
platform, designed to support local businesses and economic growth within 
Gloucestershire.  

The main risk when making service loans is that the borrower will be unable to repay 
the principal lent and / or the interest due where charged.  Within the Funding Circle 
Platform a loss allowance is reported monthly and income is shown net of this.  Due to 
the nature of the investment, and in order to limit this risk, a maximum loan size of 
£2,500 per business has been set.  

Where loans are made for service purposes accounting standards require the Council to 
set aside loss allowance for loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment. Following 
changes to Accounting Standards the figures for loans in the Council’s statement of 
accounts from 2018/19 onwards will be shown net of this loss allowance, where 
material.  Within the Funding Circle Platform there is a rigorous credit control 
arrangement in place and if losses do occur there is a comprehensive loss collection 
arrangement designed to make every reasonable effort to collect the full sum lent.

Before entering into lending via the Funding Circle Platform extensive research was 
carried out, including liaising with our Treasury Management Advisors and extensive 
discussions with Funding Circle to assess the controls in place around the credit 
checking of businesses entering into arrangements on the platform. 

Page 87



22

Service Investments: Shares

The Council holds shares costing £1 in Ubico Ltd. The fair value of the council’s interest 
in the company at 31st March 2018 is considered to be nil, since it is a wholly local 
authority owned not-for-profit ‘Teckal’ company.  As a ‘Teckal’ company it is treated as if 
it were an in house department and the shareholder councils are able to enter into 
service contracts with the company without undertaking an EU compliant procurement 
process.

Commercial Investments: Property

The Council has not invested in Commercial Property to date for solely commercial 
returns.  It has however invested in Gloucestershire based regeneration projects which 
have a commercial element and will continue to look at similar regeneration projects in 
future.  Should the Council identify such a regeneration opportunity it will require a 
detailed business case prior to investment and will do so  accordance with government 
guidance. The Council considers a property investment to be secure if its accounting 
valuation is at or higher than its purchase cost including taxes and transaction costs.

The Council will assess the risk of loss before entering into such investments  by 
producing a comprehensive business plan and monitoring performance on an ongoing 
basis.

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees

Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged hands 
yet, loan commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the Council and 
are included here for completeness. 

The Council has guaranteed to cover the liabilities associated with the pensions of ex-
employees following the transfers of council services to external bodies.  These 
arrangements are monitored and assessed to ensure that any provision for possible 
liabilities are made, and included within the Statement of Accounts.  

Capacity, Skills and Culture

The Council provides training from our Treasury Management Advisors to members of 
the Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis, to ensure that they are fully 
aware of the investments included in the Treasury Management Strategy and 
Investment Strategy.  This training will also cover the requirements of the Capital 
Strategy and the non Treasury Management investments.  This ensures that members 
can take informed decisions on the investments being included in the strategies and 
have the opportunity to challenge their use to ensure that they fully understand the 
implications of the investment.

Page 88



23

Where commercial deals are to be negotiated the s151 officer will need  to ensure that 
the core principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime within which 
local authorities operate is taken into account.

Investment Indicators

The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members and 
the public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment 
decisions. 

The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to potential investment losses. 
This includes amounts the Council is contractually committed to lend but have yet to be 
drawn down and guarantees the Council has issued over third party loans.  It assumes 
that balances for treasury investments reduce as reserves reduce.

Table 1: Total Investment Exposure
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments 326.2 249.1 214.9 202.3 198.5
Service investments: Loans 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Exposure 326.3 249.1 214.9 202.3 198.5

Total investment exposure

Government guidance is that these indicators should include how investments are 
funded. Since the Council does not normally associate particular assets with particular 
liabilities, this guidance is difficult to comply with.  However, the following investments 
could be described as being funded by borrowing.  The remainder of the Council’s 
investments are funded by usable reserves and income received in advance of 
expenditure. 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments -8.5 -15.1 -49.2 -64.2 -68.1
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Funded by Borrowing -8.5 -15.1 -49.2 -64.2 -68.1

Investments funded by borrowing

Table 2: Investments funded from Borrowing

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less the 
associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a proportion of 
the sum initially invested. Note that due to the complex local government accounting 
framework, not all recorded gains and losses affect the revenue account in the year 
they are incurred.  Where a negative return is shown, this has occurred as costs are 
greater than investment income received.

Page 89



24

Table 3: Investment RoR
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % % %
Treasury management investments 1.80 1.78 1.82 1.86 1.90
Service investments: Loans 5.10 4.50 0.00 0.00 0.00

Investments net rate of return

Other items

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its treasury 
management strategy.

Financial Derivatives 

Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans 
and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward 
deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. 
LOBO loans and callable deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of 
the Localism Act 2011 removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of 
standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a loan or 
investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to clearly detail their policy on the 
use of derivatives in the annual strategy.

The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, 
futures and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level 
of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to.  Additional risks presented, such as 
credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when 
determining the overall level of risk.  Embedded derivatives, including those present in 
pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be subject to this policy, 
although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall treasury risk 
management strategy.

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the 
approved investment criteria. The current value of any amount due from a derivative 
counterparty will count against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign 
country limit.

In line with the CIPFA Code, the Authority will seek external advice and will consider 
that advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it fully understands 
the implications.

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

The Council has opted up to professional client status with its providers of financial 
services, including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to a 
greater range of services but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to 
individuals and small companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury 
management activities, this is the most appropriate status.

2020/21 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement

The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government 
Capital Finance System was changed on 1 April 1990.  CLG’s Guidance on MRP places 

Page 90



25

a duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  Guidance 
has been issued by the Secretary of State and local authorities are required to “have 
regard” to such Guidance under section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The 
MRP Statement must be submitted to Council before the start of the financial year.  If it 
is ever proposed to vary the terms of the original MRP Statement during the year, a 
revised statement would be put to Council at that time.

In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of capital 
grants by government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the capital 
programme over the last 8 years.  Opportunities are now limited for the repayment of 
debt early due to the low interest rate environment, meaning that high premiums would 
need to be paid should the Council wish to restructure or repay external debt early.  
Maturing debt will continue to be redeemed over the next few years, and where 
opportunities present to repay internal borrowing this will  be by way of a voluntary 
revenue provision.

In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council regularly reviews 
its Capital Financing Requirement.  To reduce the amount of excess MRP set aside, the 
Council changed its policy for supported capital expenditure in 2015/16. The method 
used is similar to other local authorities and sets aside a fixed sum of MRP each year. 
For Gloucestershire the fixed sum to cover existing debt was set at £8.2m. As new 
borrowing is undertaken additional MRP is added to the base budget. 

Following further review of the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential 
Indicators, and discussions with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and 
external auditor (Grant Thornton) the MRP charge was further reduced during 2017/18 
for existing debt to £6.2 million.  This change still allows for a prudent provision for the 
repayment of existing debt and ensures that Prudential Indicators are not breeched.

The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme  will form the 
basis of calculating an annual MRP provision  for any new borrowing requirement going 
forward.  For any commercial related investments a business case review will be carried 
out and an appropriate provision for the repayment of any debt taken, set aside.

MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-
based Code of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated 
deferred liability. 

 

Page 91



26

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Average
Official Bank Rate
Upside risk 0.00 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.21
Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75
Downside risk -0.50 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

3-month money market rate
Upside risk 0.10 0.10 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.25
Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75
Downside risk -0.50 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.75 -0.73

1yr money market rate
Upside risk 0.10 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.25 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.23
Arlingclose Central Case 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85
Downside risk -0.30 -0.50 -0.55 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.60

5yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.55 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.57
Downside risk -0.35 -0.50 -0.50 -0.55 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.60 -0.56

10yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.45 0.45 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 0.75 0.75 0.80 0.80 0.85 0.85 0.90 0.90 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.88
Downside risk -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.40 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.50 -0.45

20yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.45 0.45 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.20 1.20 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.40 1.40 1.30
Downside risk -0.40 -0.40 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.50 -0.50 -0.45

50yr gilt yield
Upside risk 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.40 0.45 0.45 0.37
Arlingclose Central Case 1.20 1.20 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.35 1.35 1.35 1.40 1.40 1.30
Downside risk -0.40 -0.40 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.45 -0.50 -0.50 -0.45

*PWLB Certainty Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 1.80%
*PWLB Local Infrastructure Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.60%

Underlying Assumptions:

 The global economy is entering a period of slower growth in response to political issues, 
primarily the trade policy stance of the US. The UK economy has displayed a marked 
slowdown in growth due to both Brexit uncertainty and the downturn in global activity. In 
response, global and UK interest rate expectations have eased.

 Some positivity on the trade negotiations between China and the US has prompted worst 
case economic scenarios to be pared back. However, information is limited, and upbeat 
expectations have been wrong before. 

 Brexit has been delayed until 31 January 2020. While the General Election has maintained 
economic and political uncertainty, the opinion polls suggest the Conservative position in 
parliament may be strengthened, which reduces the chance of Brexit being further 
frustrated. A key concern is the limited transitionary period following a January 2020 exit 
date, which will maintain and create additional uncertainty over the next few years.

 UK economic growth has stalled despite Q3 2019 GDP of 0.3%. Monthly figures indicate 
growth waned as the quarter progressed and survey data suggest falling household and 
business confidence. Both main political parties have promised substantial fiscal easing, 
which should help support growth.

Page 92



27

 While the potential for divergent paths for UK monetary policy remain in the event of the 
General Election result, the weaker external environment severely limits potential upside 
movement in Bank Rate, while the slowing UK economy will place pressure on the MPC to 
loosen monetary policy. Indeed, two MPC members voted for an immediate cut in 
November 2019.

 Inflation is running below target at 1.7%. While the tight labour market risks medium-term 
domestically-driven inflationary pressure, slower global growth should reduce the prospect 
of externally driven pressure, although political turmoil could push up oil prices.

 Central bank actions and geopolitical risks will continue to produce significant volatility in 
financial markets, including bond markets.

Forecast: 
 Although we have maintained our Bank Rate forecast at 0.75% for the foreseeable future, 

there are substantial risks to this forecast, dependant on General Election outcomes and 
the evolution of the global economy. 

 Arlingclose judges that the risks are weighted to the downside.

 Gilt yields have risen but remain low due to the soft UK and global economic outlooks. US 
monetary policy and UK government spending will be key influences alongside UK 
monetary policy.

 We expect gilt yields to remain at relatively low levels for the foreseeable future and judge 
the risks to be broadly balanced.

Page 93



Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

Portfolio 
15 Nov 
2019

Average 
Rate

31-Mar-20 31-Mar-21 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m % £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing
Fixed Rate – PWLB 236.599 5.05 228.736 220.773 210.828 198.728
Fixed Rate – Market 33.050 4.23 33.050 33.050 33.050 33.050
Variable Rate – PWLB 0.000 0.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Variable Rate – Market 8.000 5.00 8.000 8.000 8.000 8.000
Total External Borrowings 277.649 4.76 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778
Other long-term liabilities (PFI) 19.138 18.465 17.688 17.096 16.241
Total External Debt 296.787 288.251 279.511 268.974 256.019
Investments:
Managed in house

- Short term deposits and monies 
on call and Money Market Funds 254.658 1.15 151.205 123.469 110.880 107.091

- Long Term investments (over 12 
months)

21.430 1.48 21.430 21.430 21.430 21.430

Managed externally 70.000 1.78 70.000 70.000 70.000 70.000
Total Investments 346.088 1.27 242.635 214.899 202.310 198.521

Net  (Borrowing) / Investment 
Position 49.301 (45.616) (64.611) (66.664) (57.498)

Page 94



Appendix C

TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 2020/21 – AMENDMENT

As a result of the motion  passed by Council in November 2019 it has been necessary to 
update the Treasury Management Policy Statement in order to develop and implement a 
Responsible Investment Policy, which rules out new investments in fossil fuel companies.  
The following amendment will therefore be inserted within the existing Policy Statement:

The Council’s Approach to Responsible Investment
The Council has implemented a Responsible Investment Policy for future Treasury 
Management investment.  As a result, the Council commits to take the following approach:

i) For direct investments, the Council will seek to ensure that counterparties 
(excluding the UK Government and other UK Local Authorities) have no direct 
investment in Fossil Fuel companies prior to investing.

ii) For investments into Pooled Funds the Council will seek to ensure that any fund 
used does not have exposure to Fossil Fuel investments prior to investing.

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Treasury Management Strategy – Proposed amendment, Page 89 and Page 90 
of the reports pack:

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties

£ Unlimited
50 years

£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m
 5 years 20 years 50 years  20 years  20 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

5 years 10 years 25 years 10 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

4 years 5 years 15 years 5 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

3 years 4 years 10 years 4 years 10 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

2 years 3 years 5 years 3 years 5 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

13 months 2 years 5 years 2 years 5 years
£15m £30m £30m £15m £15m

 6 months 13 months  5 years  13 months  5 years
£1m £30m £10m £15m

6 months 25 years 7 years 5 years

Corporates Registered 
Providers

AAA

Credit rating Banks 
unsecured

Banks 
Secured Government

UK Govt n/a n/a n/a n/a

Pooled funds and real estate 
investment trusts £30m per fund or trust

None n/a

AA+

AA

AA-

A+

A

A-

 Corporates: 
Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks 
and registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but 
are exposed to the risk of the company going insolvent.  This category may 
be used by the Council to allow the flexibility to invest in “green” initiatives as 
opportunities arise.  Loans to these unrated companies will only be made 
following an external credit assessment, additional due diligence and with 
the approval of the s151 Officer up to a maximum of £10 million per 
company as part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 24th January 2020 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit Purpose, Authority, Role and Function

Purpose of Report: Regulation and Auditing Standards require the Chief Internal Auditor to 
periodically review the Internal Audit Strategies, Charter, Code of Ethics 
and Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP). These 
are to be presented to Senior Management and the Audit and 
Governance Committee to provide assurance that the Internal Audit 
function operates in accordance with regulation and mandatory 
professional standards. Due to maintaining independence, the final 
approval of the above, resides with the Audit and Governance 
Committee.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee reviews and approves the 
Internal Audit Strategy, Data Analytics Strategy, Charter, Code of 
Ethics and Quality Assurance Improvement Programme.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA), Area Finance 
Office and Insurance Services  
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker, Director of Finance 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service in line with the 
PSIAS will prevent an independent, objective assurance opinion to be 
provided to those charged with governance, that the key risks 
associated with the achievement of the Council’s objectives are being 
adequately controlled.

CContext
All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line 
with the 1972 Local Government Act (Section 151) and the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter requires authorities to:

“…undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of 
its risk management, control and governance processes taking into 
account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance.” (i.e. the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017 as reflecting 
proper internal auditing practice).

Page 99

Agenda Item 7

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


The Standards encompass the mandatory elements of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors (IIA) International Professional Practices Framework 
(IPPF) i.e. the Definition of Internal Auditing, Code of Ethics and the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
and define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be 
established and undertake its functions. 

Additional requirements and interpretations for Local Government are 
published via the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Local Government Application Note (LGAN) for 
the UK PSIAS (2019 Edition). 

The Standards require all internal audit functions to implement and 
retain:

1. Internal Audit Strategy: sets out how the service will support 
and promote improvement and good governance, which is 
underpinned by the Internal Audit Charter.

2. Internal Audit Data Analytics Strategy: This strategy underpins 
our Internal Audit Strategy to incorporate data analytics in our 
Internal Audit reviews (where appropriate/relevant) to provide 
further intelligence over entire populations and help to identify 
key emerging themes and risks. This will also provide 
management with contextual perspective of audit findings.’

3. Internal Audit Charter: is to formally define Internal Audit’s 
statutory role, authority, purpose, responsibility and position 
within SDC.

4. Internal Audit Code of Ethics: is a statement of principles and 
expectations governing the behaviour of individuals in the 
conduct of internal auditing.

5. Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme (QAIP): enables an evaluation of the internal audit 
activity’s conformance with the IPPF, Definition of Internal 
Auditing and Standard 1300 (QAIP) within the PSIAS and an 
evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the Code of Ethics. 
The programme also assesses the efficiency and effectiveness 
of the internal audit activity.

Page 100



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit 

 

Strategy 2019 - 2022 
 

P
age 101



2 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Contents 

 

  

 

  

Introduction and Mission 

Statement 

1 

Key components of the 

Internal Audit Strategy 

2 

Provision of the service 

3 
Appendices 

1. Initiatives and 

efficiency proposals 

2. Compliance with  

regulation and 

professional standards 

P
age 102



2 

2 

 

 

(1) Introduction and Mission Statement 

Introduction 

This document sets out our Internal Audit Strategy (IAS) for the next three years. The IAS sets out how the service will support and promote 

improvement and good governance, which is underpinned by the Internal Audit Charter (IAC) which describes the purpose, authority, responsibility 

and position of the Internal Audit (IA) Service within Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucester City Council, Stroud District Council and external 

clients, our Code of Ethics and our Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) which includes our key performance indicators to 

monitor performance and demonstrate success.  

Our Mission Statement 

IA has adopted the following Mission Statement: 

 

In delivering this Mission Statement IA will: 

 Produce and deliver an Annual Risk Based Internal Audit Plan which complies with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

 Provide the statutory Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Opinion on the organisation’s internal control, risk management framework and corporate 

governance arrangements; 

 Provide progress reports to the Audit Committees / Boards which highlight any significant risk and control deficiencies or potential areas for 

improvement in the organisation’s governance, risk and control arrangements; and 

 Support and suitably challenge key assumptions and judgments taken by management, through IA’s assurance and advisory services, to ensure 

they are appropriate and in accordance with relevant legislation, policies and procedures, guidance and professional standards. 

A collaborative partnership delivering a modern, innovative, customer focused service aligned to business needs to enhance and protect 

organisational value by providing risk based, independent and objective assurance, consulting activity, advice and insight. 

P
age 103



3 

 

 

(2) Key components of the Internal Audit Strategy 

Our core values which underpin the delivery of our mission 

Customer focus: To remain aware of the needs and requirements of all of our stakeholders in providing the optimum customer experience, to 

inspire respect, confidence and trust and to treat colleagues and customers with respect and understanding. 

Quality: Quality and excellence is at the heart of everything we do. Our measure of quality is customer satisfaction and our goal is to 

provide a service that meets or exceeds those expectations. Our aim is to provide a service that remains responsive to the needs 

of our customers and maintains consistently high standards. Staff are fully empowered to achieve the best possible outcomes 

and are accountable for their actions and take responsibility for their decisions. 

Experience: All of our staff and commissioned consultants are professionally qualified, are fully conversant with relevant industry standards / 

practices and have significant knowledge, experience and understanding of the requirements of auditing in a public sector 

environment. This provides a unique insight into sector risks (existing and emerging), challenges, opportunities and good 

practice that informs our work. Continuing Professional Development is a fundamental part of our staff development strategy.     

Flexible: We operate with a multidisciplinary team to provide a seamless and responsive service in meeting our partner and clients’ needs. 

Resilient: ARA provides resilience in both strength and depth. We continue to ‘grow our own’ by the ongoing implementation of our Trainee 

Auditor programme, to support succession planning. 

Agile working: We work with our clients to build trust; develop common understanding and take collective action to improve organisational 

priorities and outcomes; and be a trusted advisor to strategic management and the Audit Committees / Boards. 

Growth: We maximise income generation through the continuous exploration of opportunities.  

P
age 104



4 

 

 

Key components of the Internal Audit Strategy 

Measurements of success 
 

The PSIAS are clear that IA should be adding value to an organisation. This will be achieved primarily through 

the delivery of our QAIP, which includes staff, team and service Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). Value will 

also be added via the provision of consultancy services and risk and control advice.  

Our key service KPIs 
 

 85% achievement of the Annual Internal Audit Plans for each partner and client. 

 100% PSIAS compliance achievement (assessed through internal annual review and External Quality 

Assessment every 5 years). 

 80% of client satisfaction surveys rated the service as good or better. 

 90% of all recommendations accepted and implemented. 

Performance monitoring 
 

 The Internal Audit Plan is agreed by the relevant Audit Committees / Board annually and ongoing delivery 

is monitored by them. 

 Individual audit assignments will be recorded and monitored in detail within a Performance Management System and used for monitoring and 

reporting service performance. 

 The in-house teams’ individual performance will be regularly assessed, monitored and supported through personal development reviews, 121s and 

team meetings. In addition, auditors self evaluate their own performance at the end of each activity, implementing any lessons learnt identified. 

 Our co-sourced providers’ performance is monitored through contractual KPIs and contract management meetings.  

 Client satisfaction survey responses reviewed and improvement actions implemented as necessary.   

Key supporting documents 

Our key strategic documents 

for each partner and client 

include the: 
 

• IAS (including our Mission 

Statement); 
 

• Internal Audit Charter, QAIP and 

Code of Ethics; 
 

• Corporate (Audit) Committee 

Terms of Reference; 
 

• Corporate Risk Management 

Policy Statement and Strategy; 
 

• Corporate Counter Fraud and 

Corruption and Anti Bribery 

Policy Statement and Strategy; 
 

• Annual Risk Based Internal Audit 
Plan; and 

 

• Internal Audit Manual (our operating 
procedures). 

P
age 105



5 

 

 

(3) Provision of the service 

The IA Service has defined processes for the planning, delivery, monitoring and reporting of internal audit work. This includes quality assurance 

arrangements in place for the review and approval of reports before issue. The Chief Internal Auditor will provide an Annual Internal Audit Opinion to 

those charged with governance timed to support the Council’s Annual Governance Statements. The Annual Internal Audit Opinion includes the 

statutory opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s system of internal control, risk management framework and corporate 

governance arrangements. 

The service structure provides client portfolio leads and a multidisciplinary team, which enables us to work collaboratively, focus on the areas that 

matter to our partners and clients, which supports continuous improvement.   

IA Resources 
 

Internal Resource (staff rotated / located across all partner and client sites) 
 
Our current Internal Audit structure comprises of 19.01 FTE 
 
 0.8 FTE Head of Audit Risk Assurance (Chief Internal Auditor) 
 1 FTE  Group Manager 
 3.86 FTE Principal Auditors  
 2.6 FTE Principal Auditors / Counter Fraud Specialists 
 4.15 FTE Senior Auditors 
 3 FTE  Trainee Auditors 
 2.0 FTE Audit/Risk Technical Officers 
 0.7 FTE Senior Risk Advisor 

 

External Resource 
 0.6 FTE ICT Audit 
 0.3 FTE Internal Audit Provider 

  

P
age 106



6 

 

 

Appendix 1: Key Principles  
 
We will: 

 

 Continue to promote the three lines of defence risk assurance model. 

 Continue to focus our resources on risk. 

 Support risk management and encourage risk appetites to be defined via our risk management service offer.  

 Align our proposed recommendations to risk appetites. 

 Apply a process for identifying “root causes” of problems or events and an approach for responding to them. 

 Continue to develop and promote the requirements of the Counter-Fraud and Corruption Strategy. 

 Undertake the investigation of any reported irregularity issues and identify actions to improve controls. 

 Contribute to the development if an assurance framework and map to support the development of our Annual Internal Audit Plan.  

 Ensure that audit recommendations proposed are proportional to the risk exposure. 

 Follow up high priority recommendations made and undertake follow up reviews where a limited assurance opinion on the control environment is 

provided. 

 Consider (where relevant and appropriate) incorporating data analytics into our Internal Audit reviews to provide further intelligence over entire 

populations.  

 Continue to promote and embed collaborative working arrangements with management and external partners / regulators. 

 Take time to reflect on our current overall structure, capacity, skills and expertise needed and service offer to ensure that we continue to be a 

trusted partner who provides a credible, resilient, sustainable, value added and flexible service.  

P
age 107



7 

 

 

Appendix 2: Compliance with regulation and professional standards 
 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 

We will oversee and/or discharge on behalf of the Council the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which require the Council to 

‘undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account 

public sector internal auditing standards or guidance’. 

 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017 

We will ensure that our IA service adheres to the PSIAS and the Local Government Application Note for the UK PSIAS. Our last independent Review 

of Effectiveness (2015) confirmed that we did conform to the Standards (only minor observations were noted which have now been implemented). 

We perform annual assessments of adherence and report on this as part of our Annual Internal Audit Opinion. 

 

International professional standards framework 

Our IA service will operate in adherence to the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.  

 

Audit Committees / Boards 

IA will support the Audit Committees and Boards as key stakeholders in accordance with their terms of reference which are in line with the 

requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations and the PSIAS. 

 

P
age 108



 

 

 

 

Data Analytics Strategy  

 

2019 - 2022 
 

P
age 109



2 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Contents 

 

  

 

  

Introduction and Vision 

 

1 

Tools and Techniques 

 

2 

Data Analytics Maturity 

Model 

3 

ARA’s Objectives 
 

4 
 

P
age 110



2 2 

 

 

(1) Introduction and Vision 

Introduction 

The volume of digital data received, processed and produced across all organisations is significant and increasing. Consequently the traditional 

approach to Internal Audit sampling and testing within a growing and complex populace of data requires consideration of alternative testing 

methodologies to ensure we continue to provide credible audit findings, in line with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

It is imperative that to maintain effective oversight and confidence in the assurance provided Internal Audit need to adapt and align our approach 

and skills set to best meet the challenges posed through modern and evolving ways of working.  

Data analytics is a critical tool to add to the auditors’ toolkit to assist in the credibility of assurance work and the maximisation of added value in a 

modern and forward looking organisation.  

Data analytics has a range of alternate definitions, however it can be summarised as the science of analysing raw data in order to make 

conclusions about that information. Data analytics involves applying an algorithmic or mechanical process to derive insights. For example: 

running through a number of data sets to look for meaningful relationships between them. 

This strategy outlines how Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) aims to practice the use of data analytics to address the challenge posed by the digital 

approach currently being adopted by our partners and to maximise added value in its assurance to our partners and organisations we serve.  

This strategy underpins our Internal Audit Strategy and Vision i.e. ‘We will incorporate data analytics in our Internal Audit reviews (where 

appropriate/relevant) to provide further intelligence over entire populations and help to identify key emerging themes and risks. This will also 

provide management with contextual perspective of audit findings’ and also supports conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standard 

(1220.A2): ‘in exercising due professional care internal auditors must consider the use of technology-based audit and other data analysis 

techniques’.  

P
age 111



3 

 

 

(2) Tools and Techniques 

While it is management’s responsibility to ensure that risks are appropriately mitigated, Internal Audit can use data analytics to identify areas or 

transactions where controls may not / do not exist or are not / may not be operating effectively.  

The effective use of data analytics can provide significant benefits to Internal Audit and the wider organisation through increased efficiency and 

effectiveness across a range of key areas.  

To effectively implement and maximise the full potential of data analytics, it is essential to invest in the following to deliver the required outcomes: 

Knowledge ensure that relevant Internal Audit staff are appropriately trained in the 

effective design, development and implementation of data analytical 

techniques, querying and manipulating data and validating hypotheses.  

Soft skills communication and interpersonal skills to articulate and visualise insights 

gained from analysis. 

Technology effective use of CAATs (Computer Assisted Audit Techniques) to automate 

elements of the audit process to increase credibility of audit results, by 

sampling from a wider population base.  

Service Delivery acceptance and understanding of how technology can be leveraged to 

identify and analyse business problems to ensure the achievement of 

objectives.  

 
.

P
age 112



4 

 

 

(3) Data Analytics Maturity Model 

ARA’s maturity can be measured on a sliding scale from a ‘Data Analytics Naïve’ at one end of the scale to embedded ‘Data Analytics Enabled’. 

 
 

The chart depicts the current assessment of ARA’s maturity as ‘Data Analytics Aware’. Progression across the maturity chart relies heavily on the 

appetite of the organisation to embrace data analytics. Internal Audit alone will not realistically be able to achieve ‘Data Analytics Enabled’ operating 

in isolation; however, the drive to ‘Data Analytics Defined’ is our primary initial focus, working with our partners to establish the appetite for a council 

wide approach.

No data 
analytics skills. 

Some skills 
within Internal 
Audit activity 

and some value 
added 

opportunities. 

Clear 
understanding 
with Internal 
Audit and the 

organisation as to 
the value use of 
data analytics as 
a tool can bring. 

Council wide 
approach to the 

use of data 
analytics, Internal 
Auditors recruited 

with coding, 
programming 

skills along with 
support from IT. 

Use of data 
analytics fully 

embedded within 
the Internal Audit 

activity. The 
organisation is 

looking to 
Internal Audit for 
assurance linked 
to 100% testing 

in business 
critical areas. Data Analytics 

Naïve 

Data Analytics 
Aware 

Data Analytics 
Defined 

Data Analytics 
Managed 

Data Analytics 
Enabled 

P
age 113



5 

 

 

(4) ARA’s Objectives 
 

Objective Outcome (ARA’s Quality and Assurance 

Programme to include key indicators of 

success) 

Target Date Action Owners 

To build expertise in the discipline of data analytics to 

provide added value across our partner organisations. 

Expertise developed within ARA in the effective use 

and management of data analytics to be used flexibly 

across our partner organisations. 

December 2020 Head of ARA / ARA 

Group Manager 

To optimise the use of data analytics to increase the 

credibility of audit observations through extended 

and/or 100% sampling.  

To provide credible / robust observations to 

management to contribute towards the delivery of 

organisational objectives. 

Considered for 

every audit 

activity 

Head of ARA / ARA 

Group Manager 

To utilise data analytics to enhance data matching 

capabilities to help identify and combat fraud and 

irregularity.  

To identify and deter fraudulent activity across the 

organisations in accordance with zero tolerance 

policies. 

Considered for 

every counter 

fraud activity 

Head of ARA / ARA 

Group Manager 

To utilise data analytics to enhance strategic 

intelligence / risk assessment to inform the Internal 

Audit Plan and ensure the most effective use of audit 

resource. 

Ensure the most efficient, effective use of Internal Audit 

resource through strategic assessment and analysis. 

Annual Risk 

Based Internal 

Audit Planning 

Head of ARA / ARA 

Group Manager 

To embed data analytics as part of the standard audit 

process. 

To embed a sustained approach to data analytics 

through the standard Internal Audit toolkit. 

Ongoing Head of ARA / ARA 

Group Manager 

To support management (where relevant) auditing 

against risk ‘hot spots’ across the organisation. 

To enable ‘real time’ auditing highlighting error, 

anomalies and control failure at the earliest opportunity. 

Considered as 

part of proactive 

audit activity 

Head of ARA / ARA 

Group Manager 

 

P
age 114



INTERNAL AUDIT  

CHARTER 
2019-2022 

 
 
 

Page 115



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

1 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

 

Contents 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 1 

IPPF’s Mission and Core Principles for Internal Audit Services ................................................... 1 

Authority ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

Purpose / Definition ...................................................................................................................... 2 

Internal Audit Provision ................................................................................................................ 2 

Accountability / Responsibility ...................................................................................................... 3 

Position in GCC ............................................................................................................................ 3 

Right of Access ............................................................................................................................ 3 

Independence and Objectivity ...................................................................................................... 4 

Internal Audit Resources .............................................................................................................. 6 

Proficiency and Due Professional Care ........................................................................................ 6 

Relationship with External Audit / Other Relevant Assurance Providers / Regulatory Bodies ...... 7 

Scope of Internal Audit Activities .................................................................................................. 7 

Internal Audit Planning ................................................................................................................. 9 

Reporting ................................................................................................................................... 10 

Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) .......................................................... 12 

 

Page 116



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

1 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Introduction 

Organisations in the UK public sector have historically been governed by an array of 

differing internal audit standards. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017 

provide a consolidated approach across the whole of the public sector enabling 

consistency, sound corporate governance and transparency. 

The Standards encompass the mandatory elements of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) 

International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF) i.e. the Definition of Internal 

Auditing, Code of Ethics and the International Standards for the Professional Practice of 

Internal Auditing and define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be 

established and undertake its functions.  

Additional requirements and interpretations for Local Government are published via the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Local Government 

Application Note for the UK PSIAS (2019 Edition).  

The Standards require all internal audit functions to implement and retain an ‘Internal Audit 

Charter’.  The purpose of the Charter is to formally define Internal Audit’s statutory role, 

authority, purpose, responsibility and position within Gloucestershire County Council (GCC). 

IPPF’s Mission and Core Principles for Internal Audit Services 

“…to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 

The “Core Principles” that underpin delivery of the mission require internal audit functions 

to: 

 Demonstrate integrity; 

 Demonstrate competence and due professional care; 

 Be objective and free from undue influence (independent); 

 Align with the strategies, objectives and risks of the organisation; 

 Be appropriately positioned and adequately resourced; 

 Demonstrate quality and continuous improvement; 

 Communicate effectively; 

 Provide risk-based assurance; 

 Be insightful, proactive, and future-focused; and 

 Promote organisational improvement.  

Page 117



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

2 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Authority 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 

Government Act (Section 151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter 

requires authorities to: 

“…undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 

management, control and governance processes taking into account public sector internal 

auditing standards or guidance.” (i.e. the PSIAS 2017 as reflecting proper internal auditing 

practice). 

Purpose / Definition 

The Council’s three lines of defence / assurance model clarifies that management (as the 

first line) is responsible for owning, establishing and maintaining appropriate risk 

management processes, control systems, accounting records and governance 

arrangements. The second line refers to the oversight arrangements in place to confirm that 

the controls in the first line are operating effectively, with Internal Audit forming the third line, 

i.e. providing independent assurance that the first and second line of defence are operating 

effectively.  

It is important to think of the internal auditor as the Council’s critical friend, someone who 

can challenge current practice, champion good practice and support management in 

improvement, so that the Council as a whole achieves its strategic outcomes, priorities and 

objectives.  

This is achieved through internal audit providing a combination of assurance and consulting 

activities. The role of internal audit is best summarised through its mandatory definition 

within the Standards, as:  

‘an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and 

improve an organisation’s operations.  It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 

bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 

risk management, control and governance processes’.  

Internal Audit Provision 

The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) under a Shared 

Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council (Host Authority), Gloucester 

City Council and Stroud District Council. The Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for 

effectively managing the internal audit activity in accordance with the ‘Mission’, ‘Core 

Principles’, ‘Definition of Internal Auditing’, the ‘Code of Ethics’ and ‘the Standards’.  

Page 118



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

3 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Accountability / Responsibility 

The accountability for maintaining an adequate and effective system of internal audit within 

GCC as per the Constitution lies with the Director of Corporate Resources as the Council’s 

Section 151 Officer. 

In addition, for the purposes of this Charter, the following definitions shall apply regarding 

accountabilities / responsibilities in relation to Internal Audit: 

Definition Details Responsibility in relation to 

Internal Audit at GCC 

The Board The governance group charged with 

providing independent assurance on the 

adequacy of the control environment, 

comprising risk management, control 

and governance. 

Audit and Governance 

Committee. 

 

Senior 

Management 

Those responsible for the governance / 

management of the Council. 

Corporate Leadership Team 

ARA Shared 

Service Board 

Oversees the strategic direction and 

performance of the Shared Service. 

ARA Shared Services Board 

Member – Director of Finance 

 

Position in GCC 

The Chief Internal Auditor reports administratively to the Director of Finance and 

functionally to the Audit and Governance Committee, who are responsible for ensuring that 

there is a satisfactory standard of risk management, governance and internal control within 

the Council. In addition, the Chief Internal Auditor reports strategically to the ARA Shared 

Service Board, comprising of the three partner organisations Chief Financial Officers (s151 

Officers) and/or their nominated deputies. 

Right of Access 

The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 state that ‘any officer or member of a 

relevant authority must, if required to do so for the purposes of the internal audit (a) make 

available such documents and records; and (b) supply such information and explanations 

as are considered necessary by those conducting the internal audit’. 

The Chief Internal Auditor has the right of direct access to any Member or Officer of the 

Council including the Statutory Officers, i.e. Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and the 

Chief Financial Officer (s151 Officer).  

Page 119



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

4 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Where it is considered necessary for the proper discharge of the internal audit function, the 

Chief Internal Auditor has the right of direct access to elected Members of the Council and 

in particular those who serve on committees charged with governance (i.e. the Audit and 

Governance Committee), including private meetings without management present.  

To provide independent assurances to senior management and the board, Internal Audit, 

with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding records and information, is 

granted full, free and unrestricted access to all personnel, documents, personal records, 

other records, assets, and premises, belonging to the Council and/or its key delivery partner 

organisations, as considered necessary for the purposes of the audit. 

In addition, Internal Audit has authority to obtain such information and explanations as it 

considers necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.  

If required, this access should not be subject to prior notice, which extends to partner 

bodies and external contractors working on behalf of the Council. Internal Audit’s right of 

access to third parties should be reflected in contracts and service level agreements. 

All employees are required to assist the internal audit activity in fulfilling its roles and 

responsibilities. 

Independence and Objectivity 

The Chief Internal Auditor will ensure that internal audit activity will remain free from 

interference by any element in the Council that threaten the ability of internal auditors to 

carry out their responsibilities in an unbiased manner, including matters of audit selection, 

scope, procedures, frequency, timing, report content and communicating results. The Chief 

Internal Auditor will ensure internal auditors: 

 are sufficiently independent of the activities they audit to enable them to provide 

impartial, unbiased and effective professional judgements and advice. Internal 

auditors will have no direct operational responsibility or authority over any of the 

activities audited. Accordingly, internal auditors will not implement internal controls, 

develop procedures, install systems, or engage in any other activity that may impair 

their judgment;  

 do not perform any operational duties for GCC or its partners;  

 do not initiate or approve transactions external to the Internal Audit service; 

 exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating and 

communicating information about the activity or process being examined; and 

 make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and not be duly 

influenced by their own interests or by others in forming judgements and opinions.  

Page 120



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

5 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

To achieve the degree of independence and objectivity necessary to effectively discharge 

its responsibilities, effective arrangements are in place within GCC, to ensure the internal 

audit function: 

 operates in a framework that allows unrestricted access to ‘Senior Management’ and 

‘the Board’; 

 reports functionally to ‘the Board’; 

 reports in their own name; 

 rotates responsibilities for audit assignments within the Internal Audit team; 

 freedom to determine its priorities; 

 completes individual annual declarations confirming compliance with rules on ethics, 

independence, objectivity, conflicts of interest, the Bribery Act 2010 and acceptance 

of inducements;  

 ensures the planning process recognise and address potential conflicts of interest 

through internal audit staff not undertaking an audit for at least two years in an area 

where they have had previous operational roles and/or undertaken consulting 

activity; and 

 ensures independence and objectivity where executive or operational responsibilities 

lie with the Chief Internal Auditor i.e. In addition to managing the internal audit 

function, the Chief Internal Auditor is also responsible for Corporate Risk 

Management, Insurance Services and the Schools Area Finance Officers Team. 

However, any audit activity undertaken within these areas is managed by a Principal 

Auditor (specifically nominated as the activity manager), with no undue influence 

from the Chief Internal Auditor, and overseen by the ARA Group Manager and the 

Director of Finance. Apart from the above, the Chief Internal Auditor does not have 

any executive responsibilities and is independent of all audited activities. 

The Chief Internal Auditor will confirm to the board at least annually that the internal audit 

activity is organisationally independent. 

If there has been any real or apparent impairment of independence or objectivity, the details 

of the impairment will be disclosed to ‘Senior Management’ and ‘the Board’.  The nature of 

the disclosure will depend upon the impairment. 

To ensure the independence of the Chief Internal Auditor is safeguarded and that 

remuneration and performance assessment are not inappropriately influenced by those 

subject to audit, the Director of Finance will obtain feedback from relevant key stakeholders 

to contribute to the performance appraisal of the Chief Internal Auditor.  

  

Page 121



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

6 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Internal Audit Resources 

The Chief Internal Auditor will be professionally qualified (CMIIA, CCAB or equivalent) and 

have wide ranging internal audit, risk management and management experience. 

The Director of Finance will provide the Chief Internal Auditor with the resources necessary 

to fulfil the Council’s requirements and to meet statutory obligations. The Internal Audit 

budget is reported to Cabinet and Full Council for approval annually as part of the overall 

Council budget. 

The Chief Internal Auditor will ensure that the internal audit service has access to an 

appropriate range of knowledge, skills, personal attributes, qualifications, experience and 

competencies required to perform and deliver its responsibilities. In addition to in-house 

internal audit resource, the Chief Internal Auditor may engage the use of external resources 

where it is considered appropriate, including the use of specialist providers e.g. IT internal 

audit provision and counter fraud specialists. 

The audit plan is dynamic to ensure it remains responsive to the changing priorities and 

risks of the Council.  

Significant matters that jeopardise the delivery of the plan or require changes to the plan will 

be identified, addressed and reported to ‘Senior Management’ and ‘the Board’.  

‘Senior Management’ and ‘the Board’ will be advised where, for whatever reason, Internal 

Audit is unable to provide assurance on any significant risks within the annual internal audit 

plan, due to limitations on resources. 

If ‘Senior Management’, ‘the Board’ or the Chief Internal Auditor, consider that the scope or 

coverage of internal audit is limited in any way, or the ability of internal audit to deliver a 

service consistent with the Standards is prejudiced, they will advise the Director of 

Corporate Resources accordingly. 

Proficiency and Due Professional Care 

Internal auditors will perform work in accordance with the PSIAS and with due professional 

care, competence and diligence. Internal auditors cannot be expected to identify every risk, 

control weakness or irregularity but their work should be designed to enable them to provide 

reasonable assurance that the key risks (including the consideration of fraud and 

information technology risks) within the scope of their review, are being effectively 

controlled / managed, taking into consideration the relative complexity, materiality or 

significance of matters to which assurance procedures are applied.  

Auditors will take into consideration the cost of assurance, in relation to the potential 

benefits and risk exposure. 

  

Page 122



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

7 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Internal auditors will be required to undertake a programme of Continuing Professional 

Development in order to develop and maintain their professional and behavioural skills, 

competencies and knowledge.  

Relationship with External Audit / Other Relevant Assurance 

Providers / Regulatory Bodies 

Internal Audit will liaise, share information, including fraud and irregularity information to the 

external auditors and co-ordinate its activities with internal and external providers of 

assurance to ensure there is adequate coverage and minimise duplication of effort. Where 

other external and internal assurance providers have undertaken assurance work, Internal 

Audit will seek to rely on the work of these other providers, or jointly work with the third 

party, if deemed relevant and appropriate.  

Scope of Internal Audit Activities 

Assurance 

The service is responsible for providing independent assurance across the Council’s entire 

‘control environment’, comprising risk management, control and governance. Internal audit 

assessments include evaluating whether:  

 Risks relating to the achievement of GCC’s strategic objectives are appropriately 

identified and managed;  

 Opportunities for improving the efficiency of governance, risk management, and 

control processes may be identified during engagements. These opportunities will be 

communicated to the appropriate level of management;  

 The actions of GCC’s officers, directors, employees, and contractors are in 

compliance with the Council’s policies, procedures, and applicable laws, regulations, 

and governance standards;  

 The results of operations or programs are being carried out effectively and efficiently 

consistent with established goals and objectives; 

 Information and the means used to identify, measure, analyse, classify, and report 

such information are reliable and have integrity; and 

 Resources and assets are acquired economically, used efficiently, and protected 

adequately.  

This means that the scope includes all of the Council’s operations, resources, services and 

responsibilities to enable the Chief Internal Auditor to provide an annual opinion. However, 

in addition to the core assurance activity, Internal Audit also provides the following services: 

  

Page 123



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

8 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Counter-Fraud and Investigation  

Managing the risk of fraud, corruption and bribery is the responsibility of management. 

Internal Audit procedures alone, even when performed with due professional care, cannot 

guarantee that fraud and corruption will be detected. However, whilst Internal Audit does 

not have responsibility for the detection or prevention of fraud and corruption, Internal Audit 

fully considers the risk of fraud and corruption when undertaking its activities. 

Investigations into potential financial irregularities are undertaken by Internal Audit, whether 

reported directly to the Chief Internal Auditor, or referred by the Monitoring Officer, as 

required under the Council’s Counter-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy 

and Whistleblowing Policy. The scope and approach taken to the investigation is dependent 

upon the nature of the allegations, which may also require referral to the Police or other 

enforcement agencies.  

In certain circumstances, Internal Audit may delegate the investigation of specific 

allegations to the service itself following an assessment of risk and financial impact. 

On completion, findings are reported to an appropriate level of management, who will then 

be responsible for determining action to be taken. In addition, the Chief Internal Auditor 

reports all key frauds and irregularities to the statutory officers, namely the Chief Executive, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer on a monthly basis and quarterly updates are 

provided to the Audit and Governance Committee.  

Internal Audit also facilitates the Council’s participation in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) 

in which data from the Council’s main systems are matched with data supplied from other 

Local Authorities and external agencies to detect potential fraudulent activity. 

Consultancy 

The service also undertakes consultancy work designed to improve the effectiveness of risk 

management, control and governance processes at the request of the Council, subject to 

there being no material impact on the core assurance activity and the availability of skills 

and resources. Due to Internal Audit’s knowledge of the Council’s systems and processes 

Internal Audit is well placed to provide risk and control advice and support to managers on 

potential implications of changes to policy, process and/or systems. The provision of such 

advice does not prejudice Internal Audit’s right to evaluate the established systems and 

controls at a later date. 

In order to help services to develop a greater understanding of audit activity and have a 

point of contact in relation to any support they may need, Internal Audit has put in place a 

set of service portfolio / liaison arrangements that provides a specific named contact for 

each service and regular liaison meetings. The arrangements also enable Internal Audit to 

keep in touch with key changes and developments within services that may impact on its 

work.  

  

Page 124



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

9 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Other Activity 

The Chief Internal Auditor, may, at the request of ‘the Board’ or ‘Senior Management’, carry 

out investigations into issues where the Council’s strategic, operational and/or financial 

interests are at stake. 

The Chief Internal Auditor shall seek approval from the Board for any significant additional 

consultancy services/other activity not already included in the Annual Internal Audit Plan, 

prior to accepting the engagement, if this materially affects the core assurance activity. 

External Work 

ARA provides an internal audit service outside of the Council and its partners. Such 

assurances fall under the following categories: 

 Work under contract; 

 Government Grant Chief Internal Auditor sign off; and 

 Pension Fund activity. 

Approval from the ARA Shared Service Board is obtained prior to entering into any 

significant contractual arrangements. 

Risk Management 

Internal Audit is not responsible for managing the Council’s risks, which is the responsibility 

of management. However, Internal Audit supports management in making its assessment 

of risk and impact. The Internal Audit service will also share information gathered during the 

course of the audit work with management to enhance management’s understanding of 

their risks and advise on the controls to manage them. 

Internal Audit Planning 

The Chief Internal Auditor will produce an Annual Risk Based Internal Audit Plan to 

determine the priorities of the internal audit activity. The proposed activity should be 

consistent with the Council’s priorities and objectives and taking into account the Council’s 

risk management framework, including risk appetite levels set by management and Internal 

Audit’s own judgement of risks.  

To ensure our internal audit resources continue to be focussed accordingly, it is essential 

that we understand our clients’ needs, which means building relationships and consultation 

with our key stakeholders, which includes the Audit and Governance Committee and other 

assurance providers in order to gain crucial insight and ongoing ‘intelligence’ into the 

strategic and operational change agendas within the Council.  

  

Page 125



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

10 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

This insight is not only identified at the initial development stages of the plan but dialogue 

continues throughout the financial year(s) which increases the ability for the Internal Audit 

service to adapt more closely to meet the assurance needs of the Council, particularly 

during periods of significant change. The plan is therefore dynamic and flexible to meet 

these needs.  

The Audit and Governance Committee are responsible to formally approve the Risk Based 

Internal Audit Plan, whilst the Chief Internal Auditor will be responsible for its delivery.  

Reporting 

Reporting to Management 

A written report will be prepared and issued by the Chief Internal Auditor or designee 

following the conclusion of each Internal Audit activity and will be distributed as appropriate.  

The Internal Audit report will include management’s response, corrective action taken, or to 

be taken, action owners and target dates in regard to specific findings and 

recommendations. Internal Audit will follow up all high priority recommendations made and 

report, as required, to senior management and the board any corrective actions agreed not 

implemented.  

Reporting to ‘the Board’ and ‘Senior Management’ 

The Board (at Gloucestershire County Council is Audit and Governance Committee) 

The Chief Internal Auditor shall deliver an annual internal audit opinion and report (and 

quarterly progress reports on Internal Audit activity) to ‘the Board’ that helps to inform the 

Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 

The annual internal audit report and opinion will conclude on the overall adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Council’s framework of governance, risk management and control. The 

annual report will include, as a minimum: 

 The Chief Internal Auditor’s opinion; 

 A summary of the work that supports the opinion; 

 A statement of conformance with the PSIAS; and 

 The results of the quality assurance and improvement programme. 

Organisational independence is effectively achieved when the Chief Internal Auditor reports 

functionally to the Board. Such reporting will include:  

 approving the Internal Audit Charter and Code of Ethics; 

 approving the Annual Risk Based Internal Audit Plan; 

Page 126



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

11 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

 receiving communications from the Chief Internal Auditor on the Internal Audit 

activity’s performance relative to its plan and other matters, including the annual 

report and opinion; 

 receiving and considering major Internal Audit findings and recommendations; 

 monitoring management’s response to Internal Audit findings and the implementation 

of the recommendations, including where the Chief Internal Auditor has concluded 

that management has accepted a risk that may be unacceptable to the Council or 

concerns about progress with the implementation of agreed actions; 

 making appropriate enquiries of management and the Chief Internal Auditor to 

determine whether there are inappropriate scope and resource limitations; 

 agreeing the scope and form of the external assessment as part of the Quality 

Assurance and Improvement Programme; 

 receiving the results of internal and external assessments of the Quality Assurance 

and Improvement Programme, including areas of non-conformance with professional 

standards;  

 approving significant consulting services not already included in the audit plan, prior 

to acceptance of the engagement, if this materially impacts on core assurance 

activity. 

Senior Management  

As those responsible for the management of the Council it is imperative that the Corporate 

Leadership Team is engaged in: 

 reviewing and being consulted on the Internal Audit Charter and Code of Ethics; 

 reviewing and being consulted on the Risk Based Internal Audit Plan; 

 receiving communications from the Chief Internal Auditor on the Internal Audit 

activity’s performance relative to its plan and other matters; 

 making appropriate enquiries of management and the Chief Internal Auditor to 

determine whether there are inappropriate scope and resource limitations; and 

 receiving the results of internal and external assessments of the Quality Assurance 

and Improvement Programme, including areas of non-conformance. 

Within Gloucestershire County Council, the Director of Finance and the Chief Internal 

Auditor ensure that all of the above are brought to the attention of the Corporate Leadership 

Team. 

  

Page 127



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

12 
Internal Audit Charter 

 November  2019  

 
 

Management can assist the process of Internal Audit by: 

 Early notification of plans for change, including new operational systems and 

processes;  

 Considering and responding to audit reports and recommendations within a 

reasonable time period; and 

 Notifying the Chief Internal Auditor immediately of any suspected fraud, irregularity, 

theft and improper use of misappropriation of the Council’s assets, property or 

resources. 

Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 

The PSIAS require that the Internal Audit function is subject to maintaining a Quality 

Assurance and Improvement Programme that must include both internal and external 

assessments. The Chief Internal Auditor has developed and implemented a QAIP that 

covers all aspects of the internal audit activity which enables conformance with all aspects 

of the PSIAS to be evaluated.  

In addition, the Chief Internal Auditor will communicate to the Senior Management and the 

Board on the internal audit activity’s QAIP, including results of annual internal assessments 

and external assessments conducted at least every five years.  

The external assessment will be undertaken by a qualified, independent assessor or 

assessment team from outside the Council. Progress against any improvement plans 

agreed following external assessment, will be reported in the Internal Audit Annual Report.  

The Chief Internal Auditor will discuss options for the assessment jointly with the ARA 

Shared Services Board and the partner Audit Committees.  

Page 128



Internal Audit  
Code of Ethics 

 

Page 129



Internal Audit Code of Ethics 

 

1 Internal Audit Code of Ethics 
July 2019  

 

Internal Audit Code of Ethics 
 

The Code of Ethics is a statement of principles and expectations governing the behaviour of 

individuals and organisations in the conduct of internal auditing as mandated by the Public 

Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS) 2017 and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy (CIPFA) Local Government Application Note for the UK PSIAS 2019 Edition.  

 

The purpose of the Code is to promote an ethical culture in the profession of internal auditing. 

It does not supersede or replace internal auditors’ own professional bodies’ codes of ethics, or 

those of employing organisations.   

 

The Code provides the principles and rules of conduct under four headings as summarised 

below: 

 

Rule Principle 

Integrity 
The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the 

basis for reliance on their judgement. 

Objectivity 

Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in 

gathering, evaluating, and communicating information about the activity or 

process being examined.  

Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant 

circumstances and are not unduly influenced by their own interests or by 

others in forming judgements. 

Confidentiality 

Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they 

receive and do not disclose information without appropriate authority unless 

there is a legal or professional obligation to do so. 

Competency 
Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the 

performance of internal auditing services. 

 

  

Page 130



Internal Audit Code of Ethics 

 

2 Internal Audit Code of Ethics 
July 2019  

 

1. Integrity Principle 

The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the basis for reliance 

on their judgement. 

 

Rules of Conduct 

 

Internal Auditors: 

 Shall perform their work with honesty, diligence, and responsibility. 

 Shall observe the law and make disclosures expected by the law and the 

profession. 

 Shall not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity, or engage in acts that are 

discreditable to the profession of internal auditing or to the organisation. 

 Shall respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the 

organisation. 

 

2. Objectivity Principle 

Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, 

evaluating, and communicating information about the activity or process being examined. 

Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and are 

not unduly influenced by their own interests or by others in forming judgements. 

 

Rules of Conduct 

 

Internal Auditors: 

 Shall not participate in any activity or relationship that may impair or be presumed to 

impair their unbiased assessment.  This participation includes those activities or 

relationships that may be in conflict with the interests of the organisation. 

 Shall not accept anything that may impair or be presumed to impair their 

professional judgement. 

 Shall disclose all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may distort the 

reporting of activities under review. 

  

Page 131



Internal Audit Code of Ethics 

 

3 Internal Audit Code of Ethics 
July 2019  

 

3. Confidentiality Principle 

Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive and do not 

disclose information without appropriate authority unless there is a legal or professional 

obligation to do so. 

 

Rules of Conduct 

 

Internal Auditors: 

 Shall be prudent in the use and protection of information acquired in the course of 

their duties. 

 Shall not use information for any personal gain or in any manner that would be 

contrary to the law or detrimental to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the 

organisation. 

 

4. Competency Principle 

Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the performance of 

internal auditing services. 

 

Rules of Conduct 

 

Internal Auditors: 

 Shall engage only in those services for which they have the necessary knowledge, 

skills, and experience. 

 Shall perform internal audit services in accordance with the International Standards 

for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

 Shall continually improve their proficiency and the effectiveness and quality of their 

services. 

  

Page 132



Internal Audit Code of Ethics 

 

4 Internal Audit Code of Ethics 
July 2019  

 

The Standards of Public Life 

In addition, ARA also has regard to the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s Seven 

Principles of Public Life. Further details can be found here.  

 

The Seven Principles of Public Life (holders of public office) 

Selflessness 
Should take decisions solely in terms of the public interest.  

Integrity 
Must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or organisations that might try 

inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not act or take decisions to gain 

financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must 

declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 

Objectivity 
Must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and 

without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 
Are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and must submit themselves to 

the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

Openness 
Should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. Information should not be 

withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

Honesty 
Should be truthful. 

Leadership 
Should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should actively promote and 

robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
INTERNAL AUDIT 

QUALITY ASSURANCE AND 
IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAMME 
2019-2022 

 
 

 
  

2019 - 2022 

Effective 

Leadership 

Customer focused 
Understand client needs 

Learning 

C
u

s
to

m
e

r 
p

e
rs

p
e

c
ti

v
e
 

Listen to our stakeholders 

Evolving 

Influential 

PSIAS 
Inspiring P

rin
c
ip

le
 b

a
s
e
d

 P
e

o
p

le
 p

ro
c

e
s
s

 a
n

d
 h

a
rd

 w
o

rk
 

A
n

ti
c

ip
a
te

 f
u

tu
re

 n
e
e

d
s
 

Page 135



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       

 

 

1 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Contents 

Interpretation ................................................................................................................................ 2 

Benefits of a QAIP ........................................................................................................................ 2 

PSIAS Standard 1300 .................................................................................................................. 3 

Internal Assessments ................................................................................................................... 3 

On-going Reviews..................................................................................................................... 3 

Periodic Reviews ...................................................................................................................... 4 

External Assessment ................................................................................................................... 4 

Responsibility / Communication of QAIP Results ......................................................................... 5 

Appendix 1: Internal Audit service QAIP and performance monitoring arrangements. ................. 6 

Appendix 2: Internal Audit Service Improvement Plan. .............................................................. 13 

Appendix 3: Internal Audit QAIP framework. .............................................................................. 15 

 

Page 136



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       

 

 

2 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Interpretation 

A Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) enables an evaluation of the 

internal audit activity’s conformance with the Internal Professional Practices Framework 

(IPPF), Definition of Internal Auditing and Standard 1300 (Quality Assurance and 

Improvement Programme) within the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017 

and an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the Code of Ethics. The program also 

assesses the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit activity with the primary 

objective of the QAIP to promote continuous improvement to enable Internal Audit to meet 

its mission i.e. 

‘A collaborative partnership delivering a modern, innovative, customer focused service 

aligned to business needs to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk 

based, independent and objective assurance, consulting activity, advice and insight.’ 

Benefits of a QAIP 

Internal Audit’s QAIP is designed to provide reasonable assurance to its stakeholders that 

the service: 

 Conforms with the mandatory guidance of the IPPF; 

 Applies a systematic, disciplined (risk based) approach to the internal audit activity; 

 Has the ability to increase the credibility of internal audit within the organisation; 

 Anticipates, meets and exceeds stakeholder expectations; 

 Supports, develops and retains good internal auditors, as team members are a 

fundamental part of the process with specific tasks and KPIs built into personal 

development plans; 

 Performs its work in accordance with its Charter (which is consistent with the 

PSIAS); 

 Operates in an effective and efficient manner; and 

 Adds value and identifies areas for continual improvement to the services provided. 

 

 

Page 137



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       

 

 

3 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

PSIAS Standard 1300 

A QAIP covers the entire spectrum of assurance, consulting and fraud / irregularity work 

performed by the internal audit activity in accordance with the Standard 1300. To implement 

the Standard the Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) must consider the requirements related to its 

five essential components: 

1. Internal assessments (Standard 1311); 

2. External assessments (Standard 1312); 

3. Communication of QAIP results (Standard 1320); 

4. Proper use of a conformance statement (Standard 1321); and 

5. Disclosure of non-conformance (Standard 1322). 

Internal Assessments 

Internal assessments are undertaken through both on-going day to day supervision and 

periodic reviews. 

On-going Reviews  

Continual assessments of quality are undertaken via:  

 Management supervision of all audit activity and structured documented review of 

Terms of Reference, working papers, draft and final reports;  

 Audit quality procedures for each audit engagement to ensure consistency, quality 

and compliance with planning, fieldwork and reporting standards; 

 CIA review of all reports where a limited opinion on the control environment has been 

provided; 

 Feedback from audit clients obtained through surveys at the closure of each 

engagement;  

 Post audit evaluations undertaken at the end of each audit activity to identify trends 

and any learning and development needs;  

 Regular 121s between line managers and auditors to monitor performance;   

Page 138



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       

 

 

4 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

 Monitoring of internal performance targets and quarterly reporting to Senior 

Management, Audit Committees and Boards;   

 High priority recommendation monitoring process in place to ensure implemented; 

and 

 Follow up audits undertaken where a limited assurance opinion on the control 

environment provided. 

Periodic Reviews  

Periodic assessments are conducted via:  

 Annual Risk Based Internal Audit Plan developed. However, is dynamic and changes 

in year due to risk, consultancy, irregularity and assurance needs;   

 Quarterly Progress Reports presented to the partner Audit Committees and Client 

Board of Directors which includes progress against the annual plan, reports issued 

during the period including details of the risk and control opinions and summaries of 

key issues and outcomes from the work undertaken in the period, including fraud and 

irregularity work;  

 Annual self-assessment of conformance with the PSIAS and annual review of 

compliance against the requirements of the QAIP, the results of which are reported 

to Senior Management, the Audit Committees and Boards;  

 Principal Auditor Working Group (PAG) led by the Group Manager (GM) identifies, 

develops and recommends to the CIA, any required changes to operational practices 

and processes;   

 Feedback from the ARA Board which includes Senior Management and Audit 

Committee Chairs on the CIA’s performance; and 

 Six monthly performance development reviews for each Internal Auditor. 

External Assessment  

In addition to internal assessments, the CIA is responsible for ensuring that the internal 

audit activity conducts an external assessment at least once every five years in consultation 

with Senior Management and the Board.  

Page 139



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       

 

 

5 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

The purposes of the assessment, which must be performed by an independent assessor or 

assessment team from outside the organisation, is to validate whether the internal audit 

activity conforms with the Standards and whether internal auditors apply the Code of Ethics.  

A self assessment may be performed in lieu of a full external assessment, provided it is 

validated by a qualified, independent, competent and professional assessor. 

The review undertaken during May 2015 by the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors 

(CIIA) included a review of the team’s conformance to the International Professional 

Practice Framework (IPPF) as reflected in the PSIAS, benchmarking the function’s activities 

against best practice and assessing the impact of internal audit on the organisation. There 

are 56 fundamental principles to achieve with more than 150 points of recommended 

practice in the IPPF. The independent assessment identified 100% conformance and 

reported the outcomes to the June 2015 Gloucestershire County Council Audit and 

Governance Committee. 

The next external assessment is due in May 2020 and will be undertaken by the CIIA 

assessment team. The outcomes of the review will be reported to the partner Audit 

Committees in July 2020.  

Responsibility / Communication of QAIP Results 

The CIA is committed to continuous improvement and is responsible for implementing the 

QAIP and will ensure that the results of this programme are communicated to Senior 

Management, Audit Committees and Boards (as defined within the Charters). However, all 

staff within Internal Audit have responsibility for maintaining quality, therefore all activities 

outlined in this QAIP involve all staff. The communication of QAIP results will include: 

 The outcomes in respect of both internal and external assessments; 

 The internal audit service will only communicate that the internal audit activity 

conforms with International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 

Auditing, if results of both the QAIP’s internal and external assessments support 

such a statement; and 

 Any non-conformance with the IPPF’s mandatory elements of the standards, their 

impacts and improvement plans. Significant areas of non-compliance will be used to 

inform the Annual Governance Statement.  

Page 140



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 1 

 

 

6 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Appendix 1: Internal Audit service QAIP and performance monitoring arrangements. 

Quality Objective: To provide maximum assurance to inform the annual audit opinion. 

KPI / Measure of assessment Target Reporting 

Risk Based Internal Audit Plan 

To undertake a risk based annual plan formulation exercise which includes facilitating 

risk based audit planning workshops for the Boards and the portfolio areas designated, 

which then feed into the overall audit plan(s). (As per the CIA approved methodology).  

Timetable set 

by CIA. 

Annually to Senior 

Management and the Board 

(Audit Committees and 

Board of Directors).  

Planned audit activities completed 

Percentage of planned assurance work from revised plan (including carry forwards) 

completed to draft report stage as at 31st March in each financial year. 
 

Monitored at 121s and 6 monthly Personal Development Reviews. 

85% Annual report to Senior 

Management and the Board. 
 

Quarterly progress reports 

to the Board. 

Planned audit activities completed 

Percentage of individual audit activities completed to final report stage from the issue 

of the Terms of Reference. 

Allocated days up to 15 (3 months). 

Allocated days 16+ (4 months).  
 

Monthly monitoring of individuals by the line management. Quality Assurance process. 

80% Overall monitoring by the 

GM reporting key issues to 

the CIA. 

 

  

P
age 141



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 1 

 

 

7 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Quality Objective: To provide maximum assurance to inform the annual audit opinion. 

KPI / Measure of assessment Target Reporting 

Planned audit activities completed 

Percentage of individual audit activities completed to draft report stage within 15 

working days from QA submission. 
 

Monthly monitoring of individuals by the line management quality assurance process. 

90% Overall monitoring by the 

GM reporting key issues to 

the CIA. 

Counter Fraud and Investigation Activity 

To undertake a fraud risk assessment in accordance with relevant best practice / 

guidance to enable the direction of counter fraud activity and risk based internal 

auditing. 

December of 

each year to 

help inform 

annual audit 

planning. 

Outcomes form part of 

Annual Internal Audit Plan 

which is presented to Senior 

Management and the Board.  

Limited Assurance Opinions 

Where a “limited” assurance opinion is made, the report will be reviewed by the CIA or 

in her absence by the GM before being issued to the client.  This time needs to be 

factored in, to still ensure the client receives the report within the 15 working day 

target. 

 

100% Annual report to Senior 

Management and the Board. 
 

Quarterly progress reports 

to the Board. 

 

P
age 142



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 1 

 

 

8 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Quality Objective: To ensure that the service is customer focused, adds value and continually improves. 

KPI / Measure of assessment Target Reporting 

Post Audit Customer Satisfaction Survey Feedback 

% of customers scoring audit service good or above (3 out of 4) where 1 is 

poor and 4 is excellent. 

 

Line Management review identifying and recommending to the CIA any 

‘lessons’ learned’ for further development and improvement. 

80% Annual report to Senior Management and 

the Board. 

Post Audit Evaluation (PAE) 

PAE (activity lead and activity manager) self assessments undertaken at 

the end of each audit activity to identify any developmental and learning 

actions.  

100% Overview by the GM reporting key issues 

to CIA. 

Acceptance of Recommendations 

Percentage of high / medium recommendations accepted which evidences 

added value in risk mitigation. 

 

90% Annual report to Senior Management and 

the Board. 
 

Quarterly progress reports to the Board. 

 

Management Responses 

Percentage of management responses to audit actions within 14 working 

days. 

Escalation process in place as required. 

80% Quarterly report to GM.  

CIA ability to report to the Board as 

required. 

P
age 143



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 1 

 

 

9 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Quality Objective: To ensure that the service is customer focused, adds value and continually improves. 

KPI / Measure of assessment Target Reporting 

Development of Terms of Reference 

To develop a quality terms of reference with minimal input from the activity 

manager which focuses on the ‘right first time’ principle which then informs 

the final audit report. 
 

PAE assessment of trends and developmental needs. 

Any activity 

over 2 

attempts is 

escalated 

to Line 

Managers. 

Monitored by GM and overseen by the 

CIA to identify any learning and 

development actions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Development of Audit Report 

To develop a quality first draft audit report with minimal input from the 

activity manager which focuses on the ‘right first time’ principle and is ready 

to be discussed with the client, prior to submission to the activity manager 

for quality assurance.  
 

PAE assessment of trends and developmental needs. 

Any activity 

over 2 

attempts is 

escalated 

to Line 

Managers. 

Monitored by GM and overseen by the 

CIA to identify any learning and 

development actions. 

 

  

P
age 144



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 1 

 

 

10 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Quality Objective: To ensure that the service is customer focused, adds value and continually improves. 

KPI / Measure of assessment Target Reporting 

Audit Reports 

Audit report ‘corporate’ circulation list implemented to enable risks / issues / 

recommendations to feed back into business as usual i.e. via Finance and 

Planning, Performance and Change to enable the management of risk by 

management. 

 

100% Corporate circulation list agreed and 

implemented. Documented in Audit 

Manual. 

Internal Audit’s Strategic Performance 

Discuss Internal Audit’s overall strategic performance with the ARA Shared 

Services Board implementing improvements as identified / required.  

 

Quarterly ARA Shared Services Board. 

Chargeable Hours/productivity (non official KPI) 

The audit plan is stated in terms of estimated productive days provided to 

the Council.  The CIA target is to achieve 70% productivity. 

 

70% 

productivity 

levels 

Resource allocation at annual planning 

stage. 

QA process and CIA plan monitoring. 

 

  

P
age 145



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 1 

 

 

11 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Quality Objective: To manage and implement approved Client Audit Plan as agreed by the Ubico Ltd Board 

of Directors within the contracted days. 

KPI / Measure of assessment Target Reporting 

Completion of Ubico Ltd Audit Plan 

Percentage of planned assurance work from plan complete to draft report 

stage as at 31st March in a financial year. 

100% Annual report to the Board of Directors 

and Senior Management. 
 

Quarterly progress reports to the Board of 

Directors. 

 

  

P
age 146



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 1 

 

 

12 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Quality Objective: To ensure that the service embeds and reflects organisational values. 

KPI / Measure of assessment Target Reporting 

Staff Behaviours and Values - Accountability, Integrity, 

Empowerment, Respect and Excellence 

All ARA officers to consider and apply organisational values to their daily 

working behaviours and approach e.g. to: 

 

 Identify and communicate information in a timely manner that would 

have an impact on the ARA team; 

 

 Reflect on working practices and champion any changes or 

improvements that are needed; 

 

 Actively seek opportunities for learning and development; 

 

 Show mutual respect and provide support for each other across the 

Shared Service; and 

 

 Constructively challenge behaviour that is not consistent with values 

and receive any feedback from colleagues in a positive light. 

Adherence Monitored at 121s and Performance 

Development Reviews. 

 

P
age 147



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 2 

 

 

13 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Appendix 2: Internal Audit Service Improvement Plan. 

Improvement Plan 2020/2021 onwards  

 Opportunities for Improvement / Actions 

 

Responsible 

Officer(s) 

Timescale 

1. Time Management  

The current requirement is that any variation over budget for completion of an audit activity needs 

to be authorised by the Activity Manager, and if this is to exceed the allocated days by 5 working 

days this needs to be authorised in advance by the Group Manager to enable the achievement of 

the audit plan.  

 

Due to a number of audits exceeding their allocated days, a specific project will be implemented 

led by the GM and supported by PAG to consider trends, rationale and make recommendations 

for improvement. 

GM / CIA 30th September 

2020 

2. Team Development 

To develop and implement a mandatory team training day facilitated by an external professional 

internal audit provider to ensure auditors are kept abreast of key issues / changes in the 

profession of internal auditing. 

GM / CIA With effect from 

1st January 2020 

 

  

P
age 148



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 2 

 

 

14 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

 Opportunities for improvement / Actions 

 

Responsible 

Officer(s) 

Timescale 

3. Personal Development - Senior and Trainee Auditors  

To undertake one quality assurance review of an audit that has been undertaken, by a peer 

member of the Internal Audit team. 

 

GM / CIA  With effect from 

1st April 2020 

4. Annual presentation of the Internal Audit Charter, Code of Ethics and QAIP to Audit 

Committee 

To continue to promote the role, purpose, status and authority of Internal Audit within the 

organisation and explain how Internal Audit supports effective corporate governance.  

 

CIA With effect from 

31st January 

2020 

5. Audit Manual Update 

To ensure all updates to audit systems, processes, practices and templates are reflected via the 

audit manual to ensure all retained in a central repository and easily accessible to all auditors. 

 

GM / CIA With effect from 

1st January 2020 

6. Succession Planning 

To continue with the career graded trainee auditor to senior auditor programme, to promote an 

attractive recruitment and retention offer, enable more effective succession planning and support 

ongoing resilience and sustainability. 

CIA Ongoing 

P
age 149



Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) Framework       Appendix 3 

 

 

15 
Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 

 
Version 0-3, December  2019 

 
 

Appendix 3: Internal Audit QAIP framework. 

 

 

P
age 150



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 24th January 2020 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit activity progress report 2019/2020

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2019/2020 Internal Audit Plan and provide a progress report in 
relation to those audits undertaken during the period October to 
December 2019.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the 2019/2020 
Internal Audit Plan; 

2. Requests senior management attendance at the next meeting of 
the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in 
relation to the recommendations made in the Unregulated 
Placements (Fostering),  IT Disaster Recovery (ITDR) follow up 
and Section 17 spend including No Recourse to Public Funds 
(NRPF) reports; and 

3. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of 
the internal audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA), Area Finance 
Office and Insurance Services  
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Paul Blacker, Director of Finance 
Tel: 01452 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 151

Agenda Item 8

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Progress report on

2019-2020
Internal Audit Activity

Page 153



1

(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to 
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management 
and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards 2017 (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards 
define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertakes its 
functions. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 The progress against the 2019/20 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 The outcomes of the Internal Audit activity during the period October to December 
2019; and

 Special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Page 154



Appendix 1

2

(4) Progress against the 2019/20 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2019/20 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2019/20, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the effectiveness 
of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage those risks and 
the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are shown below. 

Assurance 
Levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating 
to the area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and 
staff.  All key risks are accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that there 
is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff, however 
some key risks are not being accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of 
key controls for objectives 
to be achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurately and 
regularly reporting and monitoring of the 
key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the service area 
has not demonstrated a satisfactory 
awareness of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these 
may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners 
and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of 
control

Page 155



Appendix 1

3

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the audit activity undertaken during the period April 2019 to December 2019.

Page 156



Appendix 1

4

The contributing factor to the high limited assurance percentage in the above charts is due to 
a number of the GFRS audit reports having a limited assurance opinion on risk and control.

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)

The overarching findings / outcomes in respect of the GFRS activity were contained within 
the separate GFRS Investigation Action Plan report presented to Audit and Governance 
Committee on 11th October 2019. 

To advise the next steps, an internal audit follow up meeting was held on 26th November 
2019 that included the Chief Fire Officer, the Chief Internal Auditor (Audit Risk Assurance - 
ARA), the Head of HR and key officers from GFRS and Internal Audit.  This meeting was 
utilised to demonstrate how the centralised GFRS Programme Board Tracker was currently 
being used to monitor and record progress against the 124 actions that had been 
recommended following the audits.  

It has been agreed that Internal Audit will place reliance, where possible, on the GFRS 
tracker system that is being used by the GFRS Programme Board to monitor the 
implementation of the Internal Audit recommendations. However, in order for Internal Audit 
to obtain the independent assurances needed, various enhancements will need to be made 
to the tracker system and are currently being added.  

Part of the Internal Audit verification process will be undertaken through the relevant audit 
team member attendance at the periodic GFRS Programme Board meetings. GFRS will 
provide Internal Audit with a list of GFRS Programme Board dates and associated lead 
areas that will be presented at each Programme Board. This will enable the appropriate 
audit team members to attend those meetings (possibly more than one auditor depending on 
topics presented) to receive an update as to the progress being made with the 
implementation of the recommendations. Following attendance at these meetings, the 
Programme Board and/or Internal Audit may decide to undertake further testing of the 
relevant areas in order to obtain the necessary assurances.

Given the amount of work, it was identified that training for the ARA team will be required so 
that a consistent approach can be applied to the verification of the implementation of the 
GFRS Internal Audit recommendations. It has been agreed that this would take place on 14th 
January 2020 at Waterwells. Area Leads at GFRS will also be invited to attend the session 
by way of introduction to the auditors who will be involved in the verification of the 
implementation of the Internal Audit recommendations. 

Outcomes of all Internal Audit follow up reviews will be reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee.

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activity records that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

Page 157



Appendix 1

5

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period October to December 2019, three limited assurance opinions on control 
have been provided on completed audits from the 2019/20 Internal Audit Plan. These relate 
to Unregulated Placements (Fostering), IT Disaster Recovery (ITDR) follow up and Section 
17 spend including No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF).

It is important to note that whilst limited assurance opinions have been provided, 
management have responded positively to the recommendations made and actions are 
being taken to address them.

In addition, where a limited assurance opinion is given, a follow up audit is undertaken to 
provide assurance that the agreed actions have been implemented by management. 

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity records that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these. 

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period October to December 2019 Internal Audit made, in total, 22 
recommendations to improve the control environment, 9 of these being high priority 
recommendations (100% of these being accepted by management) and 13 being medium 
priority recommendations (100% accepted by management). 

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

Page 158



Appendix 1

6

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

During the period October to December 2019, no limited assurance opinions on risk have 
been provided on completed audits from the 2019/20 Internal Audit Plan. 

Where a limited assurance opinion is given, the Shared Service Senior Risk Management 
Advisor will be provided with the Internal Audit report(s) to enable the prioritisation of risk 
management support. 

Page 159



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

7

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period October 2019 to December 
2019

Summary of Limited Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: ICT

Audit Activity: IT Disaster Recovery Follow Up

Background
The original IT Disaster Recovery internal audit was completed in 2017/18 and the final 
report issued on 22nd June 2018.  The audit resulted in a satisfactory assurance opinion for 
control environment and satisfactory assurance opinion for risk identification maturity. Three 
audit recommendations were raised: all Medium priority.  Management responses confirmed 
the Deputy Head of ICT as the action owner for all three recommendations.  

In line with Audit and Governance Committee request, the follow up review is to provide 
assurance that the agreed actions from the 2017/18 IT Disaster Recovery internal audit have 
been appropriately implemented.

Scope
The scope of this review was to extract the recommendations and agreed management 
actions from the 2017/18 IT Disaster Recovery internal audit report and undertake 
appropriate audit testing to verify their implementation. 

If the recommendations are found to be not/partially implemented, Internal Audit will evaluate 
the residual risk and make such recommendations as will mitigate that risk.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Limited

Key Findings
The 2017/18 IT Disaster Recovery internal audit identified three key issues to be addressed 
to help ensure that the Council is able to make a timely recovery from an incident:

 The lack of a documented and authorised IT Disaster Recovery plan outlining actions 
to be taken in the event of a loss of service at the Corsham site;

 No testing of the ability to recover critical systems in the event of a disaster; and

 Absence of documented technical recovery procedures for all critical Gloucestershire 
County Council (GCC) systems.

The latest position on the above key issues was obtained in this audit through walkthrough 
of processes with management and review of available documentation. This highlighted:

Page 160



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

 It was confirmed that since the last audit a draft ICT Service Continuity and Recovery 
Plan (the IT Disaster Recovery Plan for the Council) has been created and has been 
through several review iterations, with the latest version in draft and under review at 
the time of audit; 

 It was found that no full disaster recovery testing has been undertaken as yet to 
assess/confirm the ability to recover key Council applications and platforms (due to 
process dependence on a finalised and agreed ICT Service Continuity and Recovery 
Plan); and  

 Critical business systems have now been defined and recovery timescales 
documented. It was confirmed in testing that technical recovery procedures have 
been documented for some of these applications including Liquidlogic (Child Social 
Care) and Capita One (Schools Database), but that these are not yet in place for all 
key applications.

It was noted that at the time of follow up audit, a consultancy exercise was ongoing around 
the move of Council systems and services to a UK Cloud hosted solution and that further 
updates to the plan were on hold as a new solution would require significant changes.

Some assurance can also be taken from activities and restorations that have been 
successfully completed as a result of live failures in systems and services including a recent 
Priority One (P1) incident that required the initiation of failover from the primary link between 
Shire Hall and Corsham to the secondary link. The failover did however result in a number of 
unanticipated issues with some systems and services, highlighting the need for regular 
testing in order to identify and address potential weaknesses in controls.

The following actions are required to help ensure the Council is able to recover key systems 
and services in the event of disaster recovery situation: 

 The ICT Service Continuity and Recovery Plan should be reviewed and updated on 
completion of the UK Cloud exercise;

 ICT should ensure that disaster recovery arrangements are tested on at least an 
annual basis, following finalisation of the ICT Service Continuity and Recovery Plan. 
Test results should be documented as part of a formal test report which details test 
objectives, outcomes, and lessons learned; and 

 Management should ensure that documented technical recovery procedures are 
produced for all critical Council applications.

Conclusion
It was found that ICT management have taken steps to produce and update a draft ICT 
Service Continuity and Recovery Plan, have defined and documented the criticality of key 
systems and services and now have technical recovery procedures in place for some key 
applications.

Page 161



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

However further work is required to provide assurance that all key systems and services are 
recoverable within acceptable timescales, if a serious incident/disaster should befall the 
Council. For that reason, the IT Disaster Recovery follow up audit assurance level for control 
environment has been reduced to limited. 

The three audit recommendations raised in the report (two High priority and one Medium 
priority) will help enhance the existing control environment and provide increased assurance 
on the Council’s IT disaster recovery controls.

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the audit recommendations made - with January 
2020 as the latest deadline for recommendation implementation. 

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Unregulated Placements (Fostering)

Background
Local authorities have a duty to investigate the potential for a child to be placed within their 
family and friends network (connected persons) in the first instance, if a decision has been 
made that they need to enter the care system.  The preference should be with a connected 
person who is approved as a local authority foster carer.  However, the child can be placed 
with friends or family members prior to such approval.  Regulation 24 of the Care Planning, 
Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010 sets out the arrangements for the 
temporary approval of a connected person as a foster carer in exceptional circumstances.

The ‘Placements with Connected Persons’ policy in Gloucestershire County Council’s (GCC) 
Children’s Social Care Procedures Manual states that ‘Before any placement with a 
Connected Person who is not already approved as a foster carer is made, the approval of 
the Nominated Officer is required’.  In exceptional circumstances, GCC’s recently introduced 
sanction will allow an initial Regulation 24 Viability Assessment to be undertaken within one 
day of the placement being made but the placement will remain as unregulated until such 
time as the Agency Decision Maker (ADM) grants temporary approval.

Scope
The objective of the audit was to review the operational procedures for placing children with 
connected persons to ensure that any unregulated placements have been assessed in a 
timely manner, are properly approved and are not subject to drift.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Limited

Key Findings

Page 162



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

A data set was obtained from Liquidlogic (Children and Families case management system) 
of placement start dates from 1st January 2019 where the placement was regarded as 
unregulated at the placement start date, from which a 20% sample of records was selected 
for testing.

For each child in the sample, the following documents/information were reviewed:

 Entry to Care form (providing the authority for a child to be taken into care);

 Initial Viability Assessment form (Regulation 24 Viability Assessment form);

 Regulation 24 Full Kinship assessment form; and 

 Placement codes on Liquidlogic (amended from Z1 (other placements), used for 
unregulated placements, to other appropriate code once viability assessments had 
been carried out and temporary approval granted).

The following is a summary of the findings:

 None of the placements had been granted temporary approval by the ADM prior to 
the placement being made as required by Regulation 24 of the Care Planning, 
Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010 as all the children in the 
sample were selected on the basis that their placement was unregulated at the time 
of placement;

 GCC’s recently introduced sanction for the Regulation 24 Viability Assessment to be 
completed within one day of the placement start date could not be located within the 
Children’s Social Care Procedures Manual.  However, it is stated on the Regulation 
24 Viability Assessment form and has been included in a presentation that was 
delivered to an Extended Managers Meeting.  All the start dates of the sample tested 
were prior to this requirement being introduced but 67% had not had the initial 
viability assessment completed within one day.  This means that the placements 
were not being approved in a timely manner and remained unregulated until the 
viability assessments had been completed with the children being exposed to 
potential ongoing and unknown risks;

 One old version ‘Request for Child to be Looked After’ form was completed instead of 
the current Entry to Care form resulting in the required authorising signatures and 
dates not appearing on the form;

 The Regulation 24 Viability Assessment forms are being held on a shared drive and 
are not always uploaded to Liquidlogic upon completion;

 Multiple Regulation 24 Viability Assessment forms are held on Liquidlogic, all signed 
off at different stages rather than only one final and complete version being uploaded 
to Liquidlogic; and

Page 163



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

 The Regulation 24 Viability Assessment forms that have been completed (no matter 
where held) are not appropriately signed with an electronic signature and dated by all 
the necessary parties, i.e. the Team Manager, Social Worker and Head of Service.  
In some cases they are not signed at all, in other cases the names are typed in but 
there is no signature.

On a positive note, evidence was available to confirm that all the children within the audit 
sample had been authorised to come into care, their placement codes on Liquidlogic were 
correctly input as ‘Z1 Other Placements’ and then changed to an appropriate approved 
placement code once the viability assessments had been completed and authorised.

Conclusion
Children are being appropriately authorised to come into care.  When placed with foster 
carers who are not GCC or another regulated agency approved foster carers, their 
placements are recognised as unregulated until initial Regulation 24 Viability Assessments 
have been carried out and then again at the 16/24-week point if full viability assessments 
have not been carried out.

Although the above process is understood and completed by the appropriate members of 
staff and management, the audit trail of evidence on Liquidlogic to verify that the processes 
have been completed is not always available.  

Old-version Entry to Care forms are still in use, Regulation 24 Viability Assessment forms 
are not fully completed with the required signatures and dates and the final versions of the 
Regulation 24 Viability Assessment forms are not always uploaded to Liquidlogic.

The timeliness of completing the Regulation 24 Viability Assessments must improve in order 
for GCC to be compliant with the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) 
Regulations 2010.  This will have to be monitored for implementation through continuing 
management oversight, Team Manager audits and dip sampling of case files to identify the 
root cause of the non-compliance so that appropriate action can be taken.

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
issues identified. 

Page 164



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Section 17 spend

Background
Under Section 17(1) of the Children Act 1989, local authorities have a general duty to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their area who are “In Need” and so far 
as is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing of such children by their families, 
by providing a range and level of services appropriate to those children’s needs.

The administration and support for Section 17 (S17) funding is delivered by four localities 
across six locality offices within the county. The Assessment Teams assess a child’s needs 
and if it is determined that the child is eligible for support then the local authority is required 
to meet those needs which may include, amongst other things, the provision of 
accommodation and subsistence.

Local authorities are facing increasing demands for services with rising costs of service 
provision.  S17 is an area that has been overspent in successive years. The total budget for 
2018/19 across all the localities was £380k and was overspent in excess of £790k, where 
Gloucester had the highest overspend and Stroud and Cotswold had the lowest overspend.

Scope
The objectives of this audit were to:

 Analyse S17 spend across the localities for 2018/19 to assess consistency of use 
and levels of spend; and  

 Review the processes in place within the localities for providing services from the 
S17 budget to ensure that practices are consistent and that funding or support is only 
provided when necessary and after appropriate authorisation is obtained.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Limited

Key Findings
Review of the localities’ cost centre expenditure and documentation identified that the S17 
budgets for 2018/19 were all overspent by varying degrees. Differences in the types of S17 
expenditure were also evident across the localities. Tewkesbury and Forest had a high level 
of parental support for children with complex needs, however this was not replicated across 
the other localities. Mentoring services had also been procured by all the localities however 
the majority of this expenditure was incurred by Tewkesbury and Forest. There was no 
consistency in the payment methods used to provide support to Children in Need e.g. 
localities were spending proportionally different amounts of their budgets through automated 
BACS payments and petty cash payments. 

Page 165



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

A review of cost centre expenditure identified that three vendors should have been subject to 
quotation or tendering exercises but this had not been undertaken. Strategic oversight 
should be applied to monitor expenditure with vendors across all of the localities as 
accumulated spend could exceed Gloucestershire County Council (GCC)/European Union 
(EU) thresholds where tendering exercises or three quotations for best value would be 
required. The localities themselves may be unaware of the total levels of spend due to the 
perceived lower levels of spend within their particular areas.

The pink slip process for the purpose of authorising invoices from vendors was being utilised 
within all the localities where SAP (the Council’s financial management system) purchase 
orders should have been raised instead.  The use of pink slips is not in line with GCC’s 
Accounting Instruction 1 (Purchasing Goods and Services) and should not be used by the 
localities as the primary method for authorising expenditure with vendors. Tewkesbury and 
Forest were not using purchase orders for any vendor expenditure during 2018/19 and the 
other localities had used a combination of purchase orders and pink slips for vendor 
expenditure within the financial year. 

Audit testing of a sample of expenditure identified that there was inconsistent practice across 
the localities for S17 vendor expenditure. The general process described was that 
assessments for a child in need would be undertaken with budget holder approval being 
given prior to the expenditure being incurred (this could be in the form of an email trail or a 
case note on Liquidlogic – the children’s case management system).  Even though children 
in need may have been assessed and expenditure authorised through discussion or emails, 
these had not been retained and case notes could not be located on Liquidlogic. Without 
retention of assessments and budget holder authorisations, assurance cannot be provided 
that vendor expenditure sampled was in line with the Children in Need regulations or that the 
expenditure was authorised prior to engaging with the vendor for the provision of services. If 
budget holder approval is not sought prior to committing expenditure with the vendor then 
this reduces the ability of the budget holder to control the budget they manage. 

All six locality offices use Service User Assistance Forms (SUAFs) as the document for 
recording the assessments where funding will be used to assist identified Children in Need 
and where the goods/services will be provided through petty cash, a company called 
‘Auriga’, or BACS payments.  Internal Audit identified that local practices had developed in 
relation to the use, completion and storage of SUAFs. Receipts for the actual expenditure 
that was incurred were not always being obtained or consistently retained and stored. All of 
the SUAFs had been authorised by the respective budget holders. 

Conclusions
Audit review and testing identified significant opportunities to strengthen the S17 internal 
control environment to ensure that practices are consistent across all localities and that 
funding/support is only provided when necessary and after appropriate authorisation. 

The key issues that need to be addressed are as follows: 

Page 166



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

 S17 expenditure with individual vendors exceeded the thresholds in Accounting 
Instruction 1 for obtaining quotations or completing tendering exercises and no 
contracts have been entered into as would be required;

 Vendor expenditure was predominantly through the use of the pink slip process and 
not through the SAP three-way matching process (purchase order/goods 
receipted/invoice authorised) as per the requirements in Accounting Instruction 1;

 Evidence of social worker assessment of children’s needs and budget holder 
authorisation for vendor expenditure could not be consistently evidenced across the 
localities; and

 The use of SUAFs was inconsistent across the localities, where individual practices 
have been developed for the completion and storage of SUAFs together with the 
associated receipts for the actual expenditure incurred.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations made.

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: Strategic Risk Register Control Testing

Background
Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) recognises that Risk Management is one of 
the key principles of effective Corporate Governance and is an important element within the 
Council’s Governance Assurance Framework.

The Council’s Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy (RMPSS) 2018-2021 states 
that “The Council seeks to adopt recognised best practice in the identification, evaluation 
and cost effective/proportional control of risks and opportunities to ensure that they are 
managed at acceptable levels” and “Successful risk management is about ensuring the 
correct level of control in place to provide sufficient protection from harm, without stifling our 
development.”

Risk control is the process of taking action to minimise the likelihood of the risk event 
occurring and/or reducing the impact or severity of the consequence should it occur. 

Strategic Risks are documented and managed on the Council’s Corporate Performance 
Management System (InPhase).

Page 167



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to provide assurance that in line with the requirements of 
the Council’s RMPSS, documented risk controls for an audit sample of three strategic risks 
were being managed, reported and monitored to enable effective and appropriate 
scrutiny/challenge.

The three sampled strategic risks as at quarter one were:

 Strategic risk 7.2:‘Ineffective social care practice, management oversight and review 
processes resulting in drift and delay for children and young people in situations of 
harm.’

 Strategic risk 7.6: ‘Unable to support all those who can, to live independently at 
home, because demand for home care services outstrips available capacity, resulting 
in us relying on temporary respite/alternative bed based care, in lieu of homecare.’

 Strategic risk 11.2: ‘Failure to implement the General Data Protection Regulation. 
Failure to safeguard born-digital records.’

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
 The RMPSS 2018 -2021 was presented to Cabinet and approved for 

recommendation to Council on 31st January 2019. Presentation to the Full Council 
meeting was completed on 13th February 2019.

 The RMPSS specifies how individual risks are managed, reported and monitored, 
and details roles and responsibilities; and that CoMT “own the Council’s Strategic 
Risk Register”.

 The Council’s Financial Regulations documents the Risk Management requirements 
and states that the Chief Financial Officer (the Section 151 Officer) is responsible for 
the championing, scrutiny and oversight of risk management activities.

 The RMPSS states that the role of the Audit and Governance Committee is to 
“Provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the risk management arrangements and associated control environment”.

 The Terms of Reference for the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
includes that it will ‘Carry out the scrutiny functions of the County Council delivering 
the roles set out in Article 8 of the Constitution by providing a corporate overview of 
performance, the budget, risk management and service improvement’; however the 
committee minutes do not specifically document discussion on risk management. 
Internal Audit has made a recommendation that this theme of discussion and 
challenge is appropriately minuted. 

Page 168



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

 Each Strategic Risk is owned by a member of Corporate Management Team (CoMT), 
however CoMT have the collective ownership of these risks and associated 
mitigation. By including risk management as a standing agenda item at least 
quarterly (as raised through Internal Audit recommendation), it will support ongoing 
challenge and discussion on the area enabling the relevant assurances to be 
provided that these risks are being effectively managed and ensuring any new / 
emerging risks are added throughout the year.

 In line with the requirements of the Council’s RMPSS, risk controls for the three 
sampled strategic risks were found to be managed, reported and monitored as 
expected. Audit trail gaps for two of the sample were identified relating to internal 
control documentation on Inphase – these have been debriefed with management 
and recommendations raised for relevant and ongoing update of the performance 
management system. 

Conclusion
Overall in line with the requirements of the Council’s RMPSS, documented risk controls for 
an audit sample of three strategic risks were found to be managed, reported and monitored 
to enable effective and appropriate scrutiny/challenge at Director level. 

To further strengthen the risk management arrangements (CoMT and Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee oversight and Inphase internal control documentation) four audit 
recommendations have been raised through the audit report.  

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations raised.

Service Area: Adults

Audit Activity: Electronic Call Monitoring

Background
Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) is a method of recording the date, time and amount of time 
spent with a person or persons receiving social care. It also allows for care delivery 
information to be provided in real-time and can aid the streamlining of financial processes, 
removing much of the administrative burden and expense of timesheet management and 
billing.

During 2015-16 the Council introduced the use of an ECM system within supported living 
settings, with a view to further roll out of ECM under the new contract for the provision of 
domiciliary care services.  

Page 169



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

17

In 2016-17, Internal Audit undertook a review of the effectiveness of the Council’s new 
arrangements for monitoring contract compliance for the delivery of care, in supported living 
settings, using the ECM system. The findings emanating from the review resulted in a limited 
assurance opinion being given in respect of the control environment, and four high priority 
recommendations were made to further strengthen the internal control environment regards: 

 The risk management arrangements; 

 Reviewing the adequacy of the current level of staff resource to undertake the 
associated tasks / duties;

 Resolution of financial queries in a timely manner; and

 The development of processes to monitor contract compliance, including protocols 
for escalation of non-compliance. 

Since the last Internal Audit review, the ECM Team has been incorporated into 
Gloucestershire Integrated Brokerage, aiming to deliver a holistic approach for working 
alongside service providers to meet the Council’s contractual requirements, and the use of 
the ECM system has been rolled out to additional service disciplines (Older Persons).

Scope
The objective of this audit was to ensure that there are adequate arrangements in place for 
monitoring contractual compliance in respect of commissioned care and support for clients 
with all disabilities and older persons domiciliary care; to include the review of the 
recommendations emanating from the 2016/17 Internal Audit report.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
Internal Audit reviewed whether the agreed actions to address the recommendations 
emanating from the 2016/17 report had been taken forward and we are able to confirm that 
three of the four recommendations have been implemented in full.  Actions undertaken 
include:

 Regular risk management reviews take place to ensure risks are identified, assessed 
and mitigated where necessary, with key service risks identified and recorded within 
the ECM risk register;

 Staffing levels have been reviewed and addressed to ensure that suitable resources 
are available to review ECM data and contractual compliance; and

 Processes have been implemented to ensure that financial queries are resolved in a 
timely manner with monthly and yearly savings spreadsheets provided to Strategic 
Finance.

Page 170



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

18

Internal Audit reviewed the processes in place for monitoring contractual compliance and the 
reporting and escalation process where there is under delivery of service provision. 
It is evident, due to recent system limitations within the ECM reporting tool, reporting of 
under-delivery has not been completed since December 2018. The required changes have 
been highlighted to the software provider and are expected imminently to enable the 
monitoring to occur monthly as intended. The recommendation from the 2016/17 audit report 
has been implemented but has currently lapsed pending the required software changes.

Whilst processes have been established for monitoring contractual compliance, the ECM 
Team stated that they are not made aware of any further actions or updates in respect of the 
identified provider non-compliance with logging calls (to evidence the delivery of 
commissioned support hours) as highlighted in the call-compliance report. 

To reduce the risk of overpayments, reconciliations are completed for each ECM period for 
each service provided to ensure that the commissioned values within ECM match to that of 
ContrOCC (the Social Care financial module linked to the Council’s Financial Management 
System). Internal Audit reviewed this process and found that it is a time intensive, manual 
process completed line by line by ECM Officers and overseen by the ECM Team Lead. 
However, from discussions with the ECM Team Lead, Internal Audit was informed that there 
are no known errors in pulling the data from ContrOCC into ECM. A recommendation was 
provided concerning reviewing the reconciliation process to ensure that the current control is 
effective and time-efficient in identifying contractual / financial issues.

Conclusion
To conclude, the recommendations emanating from the 2016-17 audit have been suitably 
implemented strengthening the control environment, however, currently there is a lapse in 
the control environment with regard to monitoring provider contractual compliance due to 
required system updates. 

Internal Audit has made two new recommendations for the consideration of management to 
further strengthen the control environment regarding:

 Contract compliance, and that an individual’s assessed needs remain accurate and 
are being met; and

 The process for the reconciliation of payments is reviewed to ensure effective use of 
staff resource time by the ECM Team.

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
issues identified. 

Page 171



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

19

Service Area: Education

Audit Activity: Schools Deficit Officers Group

Background
The Schools Deficit Officers Group (SDOG) was established in 2011 following a previous 
Internal Audit regarding the oversight of schools in deficit. The SDOG meets on a monthly 
basis to review and monitor financial information received from the schools. It comprises 
staff from Gloucestershire County Council’s (GCC’s) Schools Finance and Area Finance 
teams and it is chaired by the Head of Education, Strategy and Development. 

The SDOG reports directly to the Education Senior Leadership Team and the Schools 
Forum which comprises representatives from GCC such as the Director of Children’s 
Services, Headteachers and Governors of circa 20 schools as well as other stakeholders. 
The Schools Forum has met twice so far during 2019/20 and must meet a further two times 
in order to fulfil the requirements of the Schools Forums (England) Regulations 2012.

The total budget for GCC Local Authority maintained schools for 2018/19 was £162,283,944 
plus £18m for Special Schools and the actual total deficit at the end of the 2018/19 was 
£1,283,657 (against a forecast deficit of £1,814,613). The total number of schools in revenue 
deficit at the end of 2018/19 was 22 (predicted to be 25). Of the £1.2m deficit nearly half was 
attributable to two Secondary schools and nearly a quarter of the remaining £695k was 
attributable to one Primary school.

Scope
The audit reviewed the processes in place within GCC, and specifically the SDOG for 
identifying and monitoring school deficits and the effectiveness of the actions that have been 
taken as a result of these monitoring activities.

The audit did not consider the financial monitoring of Alternative Provision Schools deficits 
as these are outside the responsibility of the SDOG.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
 There is no clear statement of what criteria the SDOG uses to regard a school as ‘at 

risk’ of going into a deficit financial position or what enhanced financial monitoring is 
performed before an overall deficit position is identified

 The escalation process for the schools that are in an ‘overall deficit’ does not include 
the responsibilities of the SDOG such as the frequency of monitoring and contact 
with the school and any escalation required for schools in a persistent deficit over a 
number of years.

Page 172



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

20

Conclusion
Audit review and testing has confirmed that the SDOG identifies schools in deficit in a timely 
manner and liaises with these schools once a school in deficit is identified. There is 
appropriate communication across the different stakeholders within the SDOG and regular 
meetings are held to discuss the Management Information available to the group. A 
collaborative approach is taken with schools and once identified as ‘a school causing 
concern’ the individual school is managed on a bespoke case by case basis using the 
expertise within the SDOG. 

The SDOG would benefit by defining the criteria it uses for assessing when a school is ‘at 
risk’ of going into deficit and it would also benefit by enhancing the defined escalation 
process for schools that are in an ‘overall’ deficit position. All schools forecasting a deficit 
within the period of audit had a deficit reduction plan or were in the process of completing 
one. However, whilst the reduction plans are suitable there are a significant proportion of 
schools that were in deficit which are forecasted to remain in deficit two years later. The 
SDOG should thus have a clear action plan that GCC take for schools where a high and 
persistent level of deficit over a number of years questions their ongoing financial 
sustainability.

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
issues identified. Since the audit they have:

 Finalised the criteria for regarding a school as ‘at risk of going into deficit’ and they 
have agreed to share with schools this criteria and the thresholds for submission of 
half-year reports;

 Agreed to put in place an escalation process, which identifies a frequency and scale 
of monitoring which is linked to the level of financial risk; and

 Agreed to publish clear thresholds and rationale for completion of deficit recovery 
plans, including a clear link to financial sustainability and quality of education 
provided by the school. 

Page 173



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

21

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Quality Assurance and Performance Framework

Background
The Quality Assurance and Performance Framework (QAPF) identifies a multi-faceted and 
systematic approach that is taken in relation to performance, specifically in the Children and 
Families service area.  There are a range of overarching qualitative and quantitative 
measures relevant to safeguarding which are monitored. 

The framework has been introduced following an ‘inadequate’ Ofsted inspection process and 
identifies a range of quality assurance mechanisms and performance data that are made 
available for scrutiny and challenge.  Auditing is an intrinsic part of the quality assurance 
process and the purpose is to retrospectively examine the quality of practice which then 
informs the plan for improvement. In addition to audit, the service also undertakes dip 
samples to better understand phenomena at scale.  

Scope
This audit reviewed the effectiveness of the Quality Assurance and Performance Framework 
to ensure that it is robust, being complied with, operating as intended and that any actions 
identified are followed through to completion in a timely manner.

Risk Assurance –  Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
The QAPF is in place and is working as described. The only concern about the framework 
document provided for review called ‘Performance Management Quality Assurance 
Framework v4’ was that it did not carry any official status marks or have any clear review 
dates.

Management and staffing structures in place are working effectively and particularly between 
the Children and Families service area and other areas. There was a clear emphasis on the 
Ofsted requirements as seen in the monthly quality assurance reports now being produced 
for Children’s Services Senior Leadership Team (SLT), CoMT and also the Children’s 
Services performance report.  There has also been a recent re-structuring of the audit 
methodology since the Quality Assurance and Advanced Practice Manager has been in 
post. From discussions with key staff involved in the process it was apparent that there was 
a desire to look for opportunities to improve systems and processes.

A detailed audit and moderation process is in place. The tool used is an Excel spreadsheet 
which has been evolving and improving for a number of months and is understood by the 
Quality Assurance and Advanced Practice Manager and also the Head of Quality and 
Safeguarding. From testing undertaken, no data accuracy issues were identified. 

Page 174



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

22

There is a process in place to capture learning points from audits following the moderation 
process and also from other sources which can feed back into the overall process to 
enhance procedures where possible.

From testing undertaken, it is clear that the outcomes from the audit and moderation process 
are feeding directly, and in a timely manner, into the monthly management reports produced 
for the Children’s Services SLT. These are a collaborative effort between the Head of Quality 
and Safeguarding and the Performance and Improvement Manager, supported by the work 
done in the Audit and Moderation Administration Team.

Testing and review of performance reporting processes showed that performance reporting 
for Children and Young People is detailed, clear and regularly undertaken. Reports are 
scrutinised at all levels, locally and by senior management and also by the Children and 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Children’s Services Improvement Board.  
The introduction of the Performance and Improvement function, organisation-wide, has had 
a benefit by means of obtaining more detailed performance data which was noted to be well 
received at the forums to which it was presented. This centralised team has been providing 
performance information on a monthly and quarterly basis for several years. The range of 
operational and management information provided has been continually reviewed and 
strengthened over time to ensure that it fully supports Children’s Services in its improvement 
journey.

Work has been and continues to be done to ensure that information is shared between the 
different interested parties in the Council. This was a recognised weakness in the past and 
had been identified by the Ofsted report as a weakness. There was a collective emphasis on 
making improvements to this and Internal Audit observations were that this was now 
beginning to embed into normal operations and become a business-as-usual rather than an 
ad-hoc occurrence.

Conclusion
There has been a clear effort to revise and improve the QAPF to ensure it is fit for purpose 
and satisfies, and is aligned with, the Ofsted inspection findings. It was found to be 
comprehensive and detailed and supported by a management and staffing structure that 
was also in line with expectations and from evidence obtained, judged to be working 
effectively.

There is a clear process for the collection, extraction and presentation of data from 
Liquidlogic (Children’s case management system). This is then further analysed and 
reported to several forums, to varying degrees of detail, as appropriate. It was seen to be 
working as expected.

Management and performance information is now regularly prepared and presented in 
sufficient detail that is both organisationally relevant and also targeted at the Ofsted report 
criteria.

Page 175



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

23

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to two Medium priority recommendations raised by 
Internal Audit – focussing on official approval and adoption of the Performance Management 
Quality Assurance Framework v4; and documentation of procedure notes to support the 
robust audit and moderation process.  

Summary of Consulting Activity, Grant Certification and/or Support Delivered 
where no Opinions are provided

No audit assurance opinions on risk and control are provided in this section as this section 
relates to other audit activity such as statutory Chief Internal Auditor grant certification sign 
off and consultancy work i.e. where internal audit advise management on the risk and control 
environment in relation to new and emerging risks, projects, systems and processes to help 
‘design out’ risk at the developmental stage. 

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Local Transport Capital Funding Grant

Background
Department of Transport (DfT) in 2018/19 made £20,735,339 available to Gloucestershire 
County Council through the Local Transport Capital Funding. This funding was broken down 
into four categories: Integrated Transport Block, Highways Maintenance Block Needs 
Element, Highways Maintenance Block Incentive Element and Pothole Action Fund. 

Under the grant determination: No 31/3224 and No 31/3221, the grant may be used only for 
the purposes that a capital receipt may be used for in accordance with regulations made 
under section 11 of the Local Government Act 2003.

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department for 
Transport a declaration by 30th September 2019 in the following terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local 
Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and Highway Maintenance) Specific 
Grant Determination (2018/19) No.31/3224 and Local Transport Capital Block Funding 
(Pothole Action Fund) Specific Grant Determination (2018/19) No.31/3221 have been 
complied with”. 

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects, the conditions of 
the relevant Grant Determination have been complied with.

Page 176



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

24

The period under audit review was 2018/19, with consideration of relevant internal audit 
findings from prior year.

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £20,735,339 in 2018/19 under the Local Transport 

Capital Block Funding grant scheme.

 In 2018/19 a total of £20,735,339 was spent against the Local Transport Capital 
Block Funding grant scheme. 

 Internal Audit has reviewed a sample of transactions covering 11.2% of the 2018/19 
expenditure population and confirmed that the sampled expenditure was in 
accordance with the relevant DfT grant conditions.

 There is no carry forward from this grant into the next financial year.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determination have been met and as such the 2018/19 declaration can be signed and 
submitted to the DfT.  

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Additional Highways Grant Funding

Background
Department of Transport (DfT) in 2018/19 made £420 million available for Additional 
Highways Grant Funding. This funding was an additional element of the Local Transport 
Capital Block Funding and was to be used for the purpose of further highways maintenance. 

Gloucestershire County Council received an allocation of £7,905,000 in 2018/19 from the 
Additional Highways Grant Funding. 

Under the grant determination: No 31/3224, the grant may be used only for the purposes 
that a capital receipt may be used for in accordance with regulations made under section 11 
of the Local Government Act 2003.

Scope

Page 177



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

25

The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department for 
Transport a declaration by 30th September 2019 in the following terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local 
Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and Highway Maintenance) Grant No 
31/3224 have been and will be complied with”.

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects, the conditions of 
the relevant Grant Determination have been complied with.

The period under audit review was 2018/19, with consideration of relevant internal audit 
findings from prior year.

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £7,905,000 in 2018/19 under the Local Transport 

Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and Highway Maintenance) grant 
scheme.

 In 2018/19 a total of £1,000,000 was spent against the Local Transport Capital Block 
Funding (Integrated Transport and Highway Maintenance) grant scheme.

 Internal Audit has reviewed a sample of transactions covering 12.5% of the 2018/19 
expenditure population and confirmed that the sampled expenditure was in 
accordance with the relevant DfT grant conditions.

 The remainder of the Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport 
and Highway Maintenance) grant, £6,905,000 has been carried forward into 2019/20.

 The carry forward has been allocated to works in 2019/20 and 2020/21 for works on 
A roads, C roads, bridges and traffic signals throughout Gloucestershire.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determination have been met and as such the 2018/19 declaration can be signed and 
submitted to the DfT.  

The balance of the Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and 
Highway Maintenance) grant, £6,905,000, has been carried forward into 2019/20. 

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Page 178



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

26

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Safer Roads Fund

Background
On 1st August 2017 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) stating the 
allocation of the Safer Roads Fund for 2017/18: No 31/3103. The grant allocation for the 
year was £1,800,000. With the DfT to make available an additional £360,000 of funding 
during 2018/19.

Scope
The Safer Roads Fund may only be used for the purposes that a capital receipt may be used 
for in accordance with regulations made under section 11 of the Local Government Act 
2003. 

The Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor are required to sign and return to DfT a 
declaration by 30th September 2019 in the following terms: 

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Safer 
Roads Fund (2017/18) No. 31/3103 have been complied with”.

Key Findings
 A balance of £1,581,072.44 was carried forward into 2018/19 from the previous 

financial year with the additional £360,000 of funding provided by the DfT giving a 
combined total of £1,941,072.44.

 The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant confirm that at the year-
end £1,723,663.80 of the Safer Roads Fund Grant for 2018/19 was expended. 
Internal Audit reviewed a sample of transactions and confirmed that expenditure is in 
accordance with the relevant grant conditions.

 £217,408.64 has been carried forward into 2019/20.

 The capital expenditure for the Safer Roads Fund Grant is monitored by the Capital 
Accountant who has confirmed that this relates fully to the purchase of capital items, 
and was accounted for as such in the Council’s financial system.

Conclusion
The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant confirm that expenditure against 
the Safer Roads Fund in 2018/19 totalled £1,723,663.80. Therefore the remaining 
£217,408.64 has been carried forward into 2019/20. Internal Audit concludes that the 
conditions of the Grant Determination for 2018/19 have been fulfilled. 

Page 179



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

27

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant

Background
On 21st May 2018 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) confirming the 
payment of £458,365 to Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) as a grant to cover the 
period 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019. The purpose of the grant is to provide support to 
local authorities in England towards expenditure lawfully incurred or to be incurred by them.

The Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG) may only be used for the purpose of supporting 
bus services (including community transport services under a section 19 permit), or for the 
provision of infrastructure supporting such services in that authority’s, or neighbouring 
authority’s, area. The letter stated that the DfT reserve the right to request data/information 
from local authorities and other Local Decision Bodies on the way in which devolved funds 
have been used and the cost of the services/infrastructure bought with the funds.

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department for 
Transport a declaration by 30th September in the following terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local 
Authority Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant Determination 2018/19 have been 
complied with”.

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £458,365 under the Local Authority Bus Subsidy 

Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant Determination [31/4431] scheme.

 The total expenditure in 2018/19 for tendered bus services was £2,900,000, as 
recorded within the GCC ‘Devolved BSOG Grant – Annual Outputs Report 2018’ 
survey. The survey as required in condition 3 of the grant determination has to be 
published on the GCC website and sent to the DfT.

 Internal Audit sample tested 13 lines of expenditure totalling £164,658.34 (35.9% of 
grant funding) and found that the expenditure was appropriate under the grant 
determination [31/4431] and the amounts recorded matched to the supporting 
invoices.

Page 180



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

28

 The survey has been completed by the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) and the 
information uploaded to the GCC website with a link being sent to the DfT as required 
by the grant determination.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determination have been met and as such the 2018/19 declaration can be signed and 
submitted to the DfT.  

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Troubled Families Grant Claim 1

Background
The Families First (payment-by-result) programme was introduced in a renewed drive to help 
improve the outcomes for troubled families. The Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) has produced a Financial Framework for local authorities. This 
document makes clear that payment- by-result (PBR) is the subject of self-declaration, and 
therefore the purpose of this audit was to provide assurance that the Families First grant 
conditions and criteria had been met by the families to support the PBR grant claim.

Scope
To provide assurance that those families forming the PBR claims made to the date of the 
audit met the criteria and that there was sufficient evidence to support the outcomes 
recorded.  

Key Findings
As at 25th September 2019 there were 341 PBR claims prepared for submission. The claims 
reviewed related to the period July 2019 to September 2019. 

Internal Audit testing was completed on 24 claims (7.03% of the population) to ensure 
appropriate coverage of all six eligibility criteria and the six localities. Internal Audit testing 
confirmed:

 22 of the 24 sampled PBR claims met the criteria outlined by the Troubled Families 
Grant. Two claims did not meet the necessary criteria and therefore were removed by 
the Families First Team.

Page 181



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

29

 Therefore a total of 339 PBR claims were made in September for the period covering 
July 2019 to September 2019. 

Conclusion
Internal Audit is satisfied that as at the 30th September 2019 there are systems and 
processes for how families and there eligibility markers and related outcomes i.e. education, 
crime, children who need help, domestic abuse, health and worklessness/risk of financial 
exclusion are being collated and verified.

Management Actions
The Troubled Families team agreed to spot check a small sample of claims every month to 
verify that the outcomes criteria have been met and satisfactory evidence is held on the 
relevant case management system to support this. The team will keep a record of these 
checks which will be available to Internal Audit.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Flood Resilience Fund

Background
Department of Transport (DfT) in 2017/18 (as at 29th March 2018) made £100 million 
available for the purpose of repairing pot holes and protecting local roads from severe 
weather. This funding came under the Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Flood 
Resilience Fund). Gloucestershire County Council received an allocation of £1,485,781 in 
2017/18 from the Flood Resilience Fund. 

Under the grant determination: No 31/3296, the grant may be used only for the purposes 
that a capital receipt may be used for in accordance with regulations made under section 11 
of the Local Government Act 2003.

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department for 
Transport a declaration by 30th September in the following terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local 
Transport Capital Block Funding (Flood Resilience Fund) Grant No 31/3296 have been and 
will be complied with”.

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects; the conditions of 
the relevant Grant Determination have been complied with.

Page 182



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

30

The period under audit review was 2018/19, with consideration of relevant internal audit 
findings from prior year.

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £1,485,781 in 2017/18 under the Local Transport 

Capital Block Funding (Flood Resilience Fund) grant scheme.

 In 2018/19 a total of £1,485,781 was spent against the Local Transport Capital Block 
Funding (Flood Resilience Fund) grant scheme.

 Internal Audit has reviewed a sample of transactions covering 12.7% of the 2018/19 
expenditure population and confirmed that the sampled expenditure was in 
accordance with the relevant DfT grant conditions.

 The grant funding was fully expended within 2018/19 with no carry forward into the 
2019/20 financial year.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determination have been met and as such the 2018/19 declaration can be signed and 
submitted to the DfT.  

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Disabled Facilities Grant

Background
The Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) is for the provision of adaptations to disabled people’s 
homes to help them to live independently in their own homes for longer. This funding is part 
of the Better Care Fund (BCF), allocated to County Councils by the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to be further distributed to District Councils 
as the local housing authorities.

Gloucestershire County Council received an allocation of £5,588,519 in 2018/19 from the 
Better Care Fund Disabled Facilities Capital Grant under the grant determination 2018/19 No 
31/3337.

Scope

Page 183



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

31

The Chief Internal Auditor is required to return to the MHCLG a declaration by 31st October 
2019 in the following terms:

 ‘To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions 
attached to the Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination (2018/19) No 31/3337 
have been and will be complied with’.

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects the conditions of 
the Grant Determinations have been complied with.

The period under audit review was 2018/19, with consideration of relevant internal audit 
findings from prior year.

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £5,588,519 in 2018/19 under the Disabled Facilities 

Capital Grant Determination [31/3337] scheme. 

 GCC and the district authorities agreed on the level of funding for each district 
alongside a pooled budget held by county to provide equipment for disabled service 
users across the county. This was formally agreed between the districts, GCC and 
Gloucestershire’s Clinical commissioning Group through the Better Care Funding 
plan for Gloucestershire.

 Total grant expenditure by districts and GCC for 2018/19 was £4,147,018.32.

 The total carry forward for the grant into 2019/20 is therefore £3,124,926.58 when 
including the carry forwards of the previous financial years prior to 2018/19.

Conclusions
Based on the declarations provided by District Councils and the County Council, having 
undertaken a review of records maintained by the Council, we have gained assurance that 
the conditions of the grant determination have been fulfilled and as such the declaration can 
be signed and submitted to the MHCLG.

Management Actions
No management actions required.

Page 184



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

32

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Adoption Support Fund

Background
Parents of adopted children can receive funding for therapy from the Adoption Support Fund 
(ASF), up to £5,000 per child per annum for therapy and £2,500 for an annual assessment. 
Once a family/child or children have been identified as benefitting from therapeutic sessions, 
a therapist is contacted by the Adoption Team to complete a funding application form, with 
proposed number of sessions, and associated costs. The Adoption Team can select 
whoever they wish from known therapists used historically, although the family can have a 
say in who is to be used. There is a process in place to check qualifications, DBS 
(Disclosure and Barring Service), etc. The funding application is submitted to the 
Department for Education (DfE) and if successful the funding will be provided to the 
managing Council or Agency. Any unspent funding should be returned to the DfE at the end 
of each financial year.

During 2018/19 a complaint was made by a parent, in receipt of ASF, stating that they had 
not received the full support service as commissioned from the therapist but which was 
invoiced to the County Council. A further complaint was made by another parent who also 
stated they had not received the services as commissioned. Initially the complaints were 
investigated by the Adoption Team, who spoke to the therapists in question. One had 
already provided a credit note through their managing company, and the other stated they 
had tried to arrange additional sessions with the family but they had declined. 

Prior to March 2019 the ASF was managed by Gloucestershire County Council and since 
then it has been an outside agency, Adoption West. 

Scope
The review was to focus on the procurement process; specifically how therapists are 
identified and selected, whether the therapists should feature on a formal framework, the 
accuracy of therapist invoices and the overall transparency of the accounting process.

Risk Assurance – N/A

Control Assurance – N/A

Key Findings
 Internal Audit worked with the Adoption Team to resolve the issues raised, including 

calculating the overpayment to the therapist. In addition Internal Audit made 
suggestions to change processes and guidance. 

 The Adoption Team contacted a sample of other parents to confirm that services 
commissioned had been received.

Page 185



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

33

Conclusion
The manager responsible for administering the ASF for Adoption West has confirmed that 
the new guidelines and procedures made after recommendations from Internal Audit are in 
place and they are obtaining a sample of attendance records from parents to regularly check 
therapist invoices against provision. This should reduce the risk of overpayments to 
therapists in the future.

It was originally agreed that an audit of the ASF would be undertaken within the internal 
audit plan for 2019/20. The management of the ASF is now the responsibility of Adoption 
West. There is no agreement for the County Council to provide an internal audit service to 
Adoption West, therefore, this audit will be removed from the 2019/20 Internal Audit plan. 

Management Actions
Not applicable. 

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit has received 21 new referrals in 2019/20, to 
date, and also continued to work on 8 cases from previous years. Two of the brought 
forward cases plus thirteen of the new cases referred in 2019/20 have now been completed. 
Seven of these cases have previously been reported to Audit and Governance Committee. 

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2019/20 to date are 
categorised as follows: Adults (8); Children and Families (3); Council Wide (1); Corporate 
Resources (1); Schools (3) and Communities and Infrastructure (5). 

Previous years’ referrals

One of the two cases closed in current year, which was brought forward from 2018/19 
involved a Direct Payment case where evidence showed that the parents of the service user 
had transferred money into their own bank accounts. In addition, there were also concerns 
with payroll calculations for the Personal Assistants employed to work with the service user.  
The family have now moved out of the county and are not engaging with Internal Audit. An 
invoice for £35k has been raised and Legal Services, together with Strategic Finance 
(Debtors) are now dealing with the recovery.

The second case closed related to historic grant expenditure concerns. Changes to the 
recording and reporting of expenditure have been introduced to ensure challenge to and 
transparency of expenditure going forward.

Page 186



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

34

Current year (2019/20) referrals

Of the six recently closed cases, two involved Direct Payments being made to family 
members which is not normally authorised. Investigation outcomes were inconclusive and 
therefore no further action to be taken at this point. 

A further two cases involved schools. One case related to the Headteacher’s attendance 
during term time and as a result of the investigation the Headteacher’s contracted hours 
have been reduced. In the second case a Headteacher reported concerns with 
administrative processes within the school. As there was no specific allegation, Internal Audit 
provided advice on best practice. The school will be considered for inclusion in the Internal 
Audit school audit programme.

The fifth closed case involved a number of thefts (including thefts of personal property) at a 
library. Staff were not able to identify when the thefts had occurred and therefore police were 
unable to investigate the occurrences. A number of security measures have been 
recommended and introduced to reduce the risk of future thefts/losses. 

The sixth case involved duplication of payments made to a supplier. The issues were the 
result of invoices received by GCC in error and poor internal controls. Overpayments are 
being recovered by the Council and more robust internal controls, including a multi 
authorisation process have been introduced to prevent similar incidents occurring again. 

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. Internal Audit has also continued to experience a 
lack of engagement with cases referred to Action Fraud. 

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office. The latest data collections were uploaded to the Cabinet 
Office throughout October 2018 and data matching reports became available for review from 
January 2019 onwards. Examples of data sets include insurance, payroll, creditors, 
pensions, care provision, blue badges and concessionary bus passes. Not all matches are 
investigated but where possible all recommended matches are reviewed by either Internal 
Audit or the appropriate service area. Reviews are still in progress.

As reported earlier in the year a number of pension overpayments have been identified 
through NFI, matching death data and pension payments, although many cases were 
already known to the Pensions team and the pensions had been suspended. In total 19 
unknown cases with a value of approximately £19k were identified through the NFI exercise.

Other issues previously reported identified two payroll to payroll matches with other public 
bodies. These have been reviewed, in one case disciplinary action was undertaken and in 
the second case it was found that there wasn’t issue although paperwork needed to be 
raised to ensure transparency and compliance with GCC procedures for secondary 
employment.

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Strategic Finance Payroll – Duplicate bank accounts 1 Planned
Strategic Finance Pro Contract – Entering Contracts 2 Draft Report Issued
Strategic Finance Sole Source Approvals 1 Draft Report Issued
Strategic Finance Bank Reconciliations 1 Audit in Progress
Strategic Finance Strategic Risk Register Controls Testing 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance Payment Card Industry - Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) 2 Planned
Strategic Finance Purchase Cards 2 Planned
Strategic Finance Purchase 2 Pay 2 Consultancy To be reported in the 2019/20 annual report. 
Strategic Finance Purchases in Compliance with Contract Standing Orders 1 Draft Report Issued
Strategic Finance Compliance with Cabinet decision making protocols 1 Audit in Progress
Strategic Finance Disposal of Assets 1 Planned
Strategic Finance Annual Governance Statement (AGS) - Statements Testing 1 Draft Report Issued
Strategic Finance Construction Industry Scheme - Operations 2 Planned
Strategic Finance Highways Block Maintenance 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance Highways Maintenance Incentive Element 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance Additional Highways Maintenance 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance Pothole Action Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance National Productivity Investment Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 11/10/2019
Strategic Finance Safer Roads Fund 18-19 Payment 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance Community Capacity Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 11/10/2019
Strategic Finance Troubled Families Grant 1 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance Troubled Families Grant 2 1 Planned
Strategic Finance Growth Hub 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 11/10/2019
Strategic Finance Flood Resilience Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Strategic Finance Equal Pay 1 Planned Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Strategic Finance Safer Recruitment 1 Audit in Progress
Strategic Finance Expenses and Benefits 2 Planned
Strategic Finance Sickness Absence Recording 2 Planned
Strategic Finance Approval of Payments for Agency Staff limited assurance follow up 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Strategic Finance - ICT IT Disaster Recovery (ITDR) Follow Up 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 24/01/2020 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Strategic Finance - ICT Sopra Steria Improvement Plan 1 Planned Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Strategic Finance - ICT Asset Replacement Programme/Windows 10 upgrade - roll out of new devices 1 Planned

Strategic Finance - ICT Asset Replacement Programme/Windows 10 upgrade - collection and disposal 
of end of life devices

1 Planned

Strategic Finance - ICT Database Administration and Security (Oracle - SQL) limited assurance follow 
up

1 Planned

Strategic Finance - ICT Non approved ICT provision 1 Draft Report Issued Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Adults Brokerage 2 Deferred Audit deferral to 20/21 plan to prevent audit 

duplication with wider relevant 19/20 Adults reported 
audits (e.g. winter planning, ECM and market 
management).  

Adults Direct Payments - Payment Cards 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Adults Market Management 2 Audit in Progress Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Adults Winter Planning-Discharge Beds 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Adults Learning Disabilities Transitions (Children to Adults) 2 Planned
Adults Leased Based Providers of Specialist Supported Housing 1 Consultancy New activity. To be reported in 2019/20 annual report.

Adults Adults Single Programme 1 Audit in Progress
Adults Client Affairs 2 Planned
Adults Disabilities Hub Job Coaching Brokerage 2 Planned
Adults Disabled Facilities Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Adults Social Care (Capital) Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 11/10/2019
Adults Transforming Care Grant 1 Cancelled

No new grant funding streams within 2018/19. Internal 
audit for year end 2018/19 grant return not required.

Adults Liberty Protection Safeguards 2 Planned

Page 1 of 3

P
age 189



Appendix 2

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 24/01/2020 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Adults GIS Equipment System 2 Deferred GIS equipment system implementation delay until 

October 2020.
Adults Best Value Policy 2 Planned
Adults Direct Payments (Adults) 1 Planned
Children & Families Unregulated Placements (Fostering) 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 24/01/2020
Children & Families Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support (Commissioning) 1 Draft Report Issued Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Children & Families Youth Service - Care Leaving Service Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned
Children & Families Caseload Management 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 11/10/2019
Children & Families Quality Assurance and Performance Framework 1 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 24/01/2020 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Children & Families Section 17 spend including No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 24/01/2020 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Children & Families Personal Travel Allowances 1 Audit in Progress
Children & Families Adoption Support Fund 1 Cancelled Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020 Please refer to main report for position detail. 
Children & Families Direct Payments (Childrens) 2 Planned
Children & Families Health Assessments 2 Planned
Children & Families Recruitment of Foster Carers 2 Audit in Progress
Children & Families Transition from Children’s to Adults Services including Costs 2 Planned
Children & Families Discretionary Payments to Foster Carers 2 Draft Report Issued
Children & Families PACE Protocols 2 Planned
Children & Families Section 20 - Children's Act limited assurance follow up 1 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Communities and Infrastructure Registration Service – Income Collection 2 Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Procurement of Short Term Transport Arrangements for Social Care Users 

Limited Assurance Follow Up
1 Planned

Communities and Infrastructure Integrated Transport 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 24/01/2020
Communities and Infrastructure Growth Deal – review of projects under the Council’s Accountable Body role 2 Planned

Communities and Infrastructure Section 106 Agreements 1 Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Parking Management Services - Contract Management Arrangements 2 Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Traffic Signals – Asset Management and Replacement 2 Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Highways Term Maintenance Contract 2 Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Energy from Waste contract 2 Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Fleet Management 1 Planned Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Strategy & Challenge - ICT ERIC replacement

1 Deferred System replacement delayed to 2020. Audit deferred. 

Strategy & Challenge - ICT JADU eforms 1 Planned Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Strategy & Challenge - ICT Capita 360 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Strategy & Challenge General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) Compliance 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Community Safety Business Continuity Management Critical Systems - Services - Corporate 

Oversight
1 Audit in Progress

Community Safety GFRS HR and Payroll – Expenses and service benefits 1 Final Report Issued Limited Limited 11/10/2019
Community Safety GFRS Fleet management – use of pool cars, personal & leased cars and fuel 

schemes 
1 Final Report Issued Limited Limited 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.

Community Safety GFRS Syrian Refugee Grant 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 11/10/2019
Community Safety Fire and Rescue Authorities Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 11/10/2019
Community Safety GFRS Action Plan - Limited Assurance Follow Up Reviews 1 Planned The Head of ARA has agreed the follow up review 

process with the Chief Fire Officer.
Education Alternative Provision Schools -  Stroud and Cotswolds 2 Final Report Issued Limited Limited 11/10/2019
Education Schools Whistleblowing 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Education Schools  2 Audits in Progress Outcomes relating to schools audits to be reported in 

2019/20 annual report.
Education Virtual School 2 Audit in Progress
Education Deficit Officers Group 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 24/01/2020
Education Spending on High Needs

2
Audit in Progress The Education Commissioning - Specialist activity has 

been amalgamated with this review to prevent scope 
duplication.

Education Childrens Centre - Cotswolds 2 Planned
Pensions GDPR 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Pensions - ICT Pensions Information and Cyber Security 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 11/10/2019 Brought forward from 2018/19 plan.
Pensions LGPS - Life Certificate Process 1 Draft Report Issued

Page 2 of 3

P
age 190



Appendix 2

Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Pensions Management of LGPS 1 Planned

Page 3 of 3

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 24th January 2020 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual Governance Statement 2018/19
Governance Issues – Progress with Improvement Plan 

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to provide assurance to the Audit and 
Governance Committee that the improvement areas and associated 
actions identified as part of the annual review of governance 
arrangements operating within GCC have been/are being addressed. 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews 
and considers the actions taken to address the governance 
improvement areas identified.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance, Area Finance Team 
and Insurance Services. Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Director of Finance.  Tel: 01452 328999
Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework 
prevents the Council in directing and controlling its resources effectively 
and efficiently, to enable the Council’s priorities and objectives to be 
met.

Background The Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to 
publish an Annual Governance Statement, in accordance with ‘proper 
practices’ in order to report publicly on the extent to which we comply 
with our own Local Code of Corporate Governance. 

This approach includes how the Council has monitored the 
effectiveness of arrangements in year and on any planned changes to 
governance arrangements in the coming year. 

Through the Council’s Constitution, the Audit and Governance 
Committee has responsibility for review and approval of the Statement 
and to be provided with the assurance that any improvement actions 
identified are implemented.

Page 193

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Progress on 2018/19 Gloucestershire County Council’s Governance Improvement Actions 

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Financial 

Governance

Future Financial Sustainability 

The Council identified savings of £ £20.935 as part of the 2019/2020 budget setting process. Delivery of 

this level of savings will be challenging for the Council.

A contingency has been set aside in case this is not fully delivered in 2019/2020.

Actions in response to the above: 

 To continue to review the financial resilience, strategic risks, the robustness of financial planning 

and the accuracy of outturn forecasts in order to ensure long term financial sustainability;

 Ongoing regular review and reporting of funding, cost pressures and savings plans, with 

particular emphasis on the Adult Single Programme savings and financial pressures within 

Children and Families; and

 Update future years funding forecasts as more details of the Comprehensive Spending Review 

are announced.

31st March 2020

Chief Financial Officer

P
age 195



2

Position as at December 2019

At the end of Quarter 2 of the 2019/20 savings programme the Council is reporting £10.573 million delivered against a 2019/20 target of £20.935 

million. A total of £16.463 million is forecast to be delivered by the end of 19/20 budget year. The most significant elements at risk being £1.6 million 

in the Adults Single Programme and the continuing pressure on external placements preventing savings being made in Children and Families. 

These savings are on target to be delivered in 2020/21. Mitigating actions have been taken to address this shortfall in 2019/20 and at the Cabinet 

meeting in December 2019 a balance budget position was forecast for the year end. 

P
age 196



3

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Safeguarding

Inspection

Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services

The Council continues to be monitored by Ofsted as part of an ongoing refreshed improvement plan 

after an inspection during 2017 rated children’s social care as inadequate. The Improvement Plan is 

overseen by the Improvement Board comprising of the Leader of the Council, Chief Executive, partner 

agencies and key officers. The Board is chaired by a Department of Education Improvement Adviser. 

The latest Ofsted visit on 15th January 2019 (the fifth monitoring visit) reported that the Council has:

 established a permanent senior leadership team;

 a clear vision for children’s services;

 progressed a number of areas of the refreshed improvement plan; and

 strong political commitment to and significant financial investment in children’s services. 

However, significant turnover of staff and social work vacancies continue to impact negatively, the 

quality of practice is still inconsistent and the Council is making insufficient progress in improving 

services for its children and young people.

Actions taken in response to the above:

 Revised Practice Standards which outline expectations of practitioners and managers in meeting the 

requirements of Working Together 2018, national minimum standards and legislative requirements;

March 2020

Director of Children’s 

Services (DCS)

P
age 197



4

 Enhanced performance management and quality assurance arrangements, with a particular focus on 

delivering core standards for timeliness of visits to children, timely completion of plans, reviews and 

assessments;

 Due to children’s services experiencing significant budget pressures during 2018/2019 with a 

projected overspend of circa £11.5m, which is driven in the greater majority by an increase in 

Children in Care and associated placement costs alongside ongoing agency staffing costs, a High 

Cost Placement Panel, chaired by the DCS has been implemented to ensure placement costs 

deliver value for money, alongside a revised entry into care process;

 Increased monitoring of agency timesheets by Heads of Service and Business Support to ensure 

agency spend is appropriate; and

 The Sufficiency Strategy has been revised to ensure, over the long term, the Council has a wider 

range of options to meet children’s needs on a sustainable and affordable basis, whilst also 

delivering better outcomes. 

These measures are beginning to have an impact but will take some time to mature fully, particularly in 

developing additional in house foster care capacity, edge of care and residential options. In addition a 

‘grow your own’ approach is key to our workforce strategy through expanded cohorts of new and 

student practitioners. This will begin to reduce the Council’s agency dependency over the medium to 

long term.

All Council Ofsted monitoring reports can be viewed here

P
age 198

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/916


5

Position as at December 2019

The Council has had its final (7th) Ofsted monitoring visit in September 19. The focus of this visit was Care Leaving services and the Allegations 

Management Service. Ofsted recognised that a number of the recommendations from their last visit have been progressed however there are some 

areas that need further work. Key messages included:

 Complimentary about senior leadership team. 

 Good feedback about consistent use of pathway plan but quality / level of details in the plans are variable.

 Transition planning is not always strong.

 Absence of clear mental health pathway. There is confusion around who is responsible for providing health history. 

 Case files do not reflect what Ofsted identified during interviews with Social Workers. Recording remains an issue.

 Positive comments around the Essentials training and the work of the Ambassadors.

 Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO): response not timely as should be and performance information is limited. 

Mark Riddell (National Adviser Care Leaver) also visited Gloucestershire early September, his feedback echoed the findings from Ofsted. 

DfE also undertook a further review meeting at the end of September. 

Overall Ofsted monitoring visits over 2019 and DFE feedback indicate that:

 The building blocks for service improvement are in place.

 Recruitment and retention of social workers remains an issue despite obvious improvement. 

 The quality of work is still too variable. 

 The pace of change is still not as fast as we would want it to be but it is moving in the right direction. 

 

P
age 199



6

Some of the actions taken in 2019 in response to the above:

 Fifty ASYEs (Assessed and Supported Year in Employment) over the original estimate have been recruited this year, and the first of the 

social workers recruited from India have started. 12 Frontline students started their social work training in Gloucestershire.

 The Social Work Academy was launched in May.

 The mandatory Essentials 2.0 programme has been implemented at considerable scale and pace (80% of workforce trained with a turn over 

of 17%). The programme focus on the quality of assessment, planning and risk assessment. The Essential 2.0 delivery is continuing at a 

steady weekly rate (1 module per week) - this is now business as usual.

 Management development programme for Team Managers and Heads of Service has been delivered by the Institute of Public Care (IPC).  

 Back to basics videos have been developed and disseminated to ensure standards are consistent.

 A range of targeted work has been undertaken in teams identified as under performing (Essex Team Manager mentoring, targeted deep dive 

by the interim Improvement Adviser and the Principal Social Worker).

 Screening of all cases raised by Ofsted and audited cases (RI / I) has been undertaken. Panels have been set up to track all inadequate 

practice identified through audit and ensure management grip leads to the necessary improvements for these children and families.

 Panels to ensure placement costs deliver value for money have continued and a revised system to manage entrants into care has been 

introduced.

 Increased investment in Family Group Conferencing (FGC): this is now a county wide FGC offer and a prerequisite for entry into care.

 Care Leaver Offer has been developed and will be further developed with partners in February 2020.

 IT management system for Allegations Management/LADO purchased and trialled.

 Additional capacity (Improvement Adviser) has been brought in to focus on Children in Care and Leaving Care.

 Staff roadshows focusing on Ofsted inspection preparation have been held with all the teams.

P
age 200



7

These measures are beginning to have an impact but more progress is still needed: 

 We continue to see a reduction in our agency rate as we recruit permanent staff into the business.  The turnover rate has reduced from 21.7 

per cent in November 2018 to 11.6% per cent in December 2019.

 99% of children have an allocated social worker – a level of performance that has been sustained over recent months. 

 Performance around the timeliness and volume of social care activity is showing broad improvement, although this is not consistent across 

localities or consistent at the level of good/outstanding authorities. Visits to children following initial contact, and then subject to a plan have 

improved, although more progress is needed.

 There are some good and sometimes outstanding social work delivered to children, young people and families in Gloucestershire, however 

quality of practice remains inconsistent though, across a broad spectrum of activity and the incidence of weak practice continues to be too 

high.

P
age 201



8

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Corporate 

Governance

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)

A whistleblowing allegation covering probity issues in GFRS was received by the Council. This resulted 

in an independent investigation by Internal Audit. On completion of this investigation Internal Audit 

reported to management outlining recommendations, which formed the basis of an action plan. The 

allegations in relation to the sale of a land rover defender have been passed to the police.

This action plan and progress against it has been overseen by the Audit and Governance Committee 

(AGC), thereby providing the relevant assurances that these recommendations are being addressed in 

a timely manner. The Internal Audit GFRS Investigation report and associated action plan was 

presented to the AGC on 12th October 2018.

Additional Actions taken in response to the above: 

 A Scrutiny Task Group was set up to review the GFRS culture;

 Progress against each action continues to be provided to the AGC until all actions have been 

fully completed to the satisfaction of the AGC. To date progress reports have been presented to 

the AGC on 25th January 2019 and 25th April 2019; and

 All internal audit activity that has provided a limited assurance opinion on the control 

environment will be followed up by Internal Audit in 2019/2020.

The GFRS Action Plan and associated reports relating to the above can be found here. 

26th July 2019

Chief Executive

P
age 202

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=655


9

Position as at December 2019

An internal audit follow up meeting was held on 26th November 2019 that included the Chief Fire Officer, the Chief Internal Auditor (Audit Risk 

Assurance - ARA), the Head of HR and key officers from GFRS and Internal Audit.  This meeting was utilised to demonstrate how the centralised 

GFRS Programme Board Tracker was currently being used to monitor and record progress against the one hundred and twenty four actions that 

had been recommended following the audits.  Following this meeting a further follow up meeting was scheduled between Internal Audit and GFRS 

officers who looked at this in more detail.

It has been agreed that ARA will place reliance, where possible, on the GFRS tracker system that is being used by the GFRS Programme Board to 

monitor the implementation of the Internal Audit recommendations. However, in order for ARA to obtain the independent assurances needed, 

various enhancements will need to be made to the tracker system and are currently being added, these enhancements will be completed and in 

place by the 6th January 2020.   Part of the Internal Audit verification process will be undertaken through ARA team member attendance at the 

periodic GFRS Programme Board meetings. GFRS will provide ARA with a list of GFRS Programme Board dates and associated lead areas that 

will be presented at each Programme Board. This will enable the appropriate ARA team members to attend those meetings (possibly more than one 

ARA auditor depending on topics presented) to receive an update as to the progress being made with the implementation of the recommendations. 

Following attendance at these meetings, the Programme Board and/or ARA may decide to undertake further testing of the relevant areas in order to 

obtain the necessary assurances.

Given the amount of work, it was identified that training for the ARA team will be required so that a consistent approach can be applied to the 

verification of the implementation of the GFRS Internal Audit recommendations. It has been agreed that this would take place on 14th January 2020 

at Waterwells. Area Leads at GFRS will also be invited to attend the session by way of introduction to the ARA team auditors who will be involved in 

the verification of the implementation of the Internal Audit recommendations. 

The cross party Cabinet Panel continues to meet to provide scrutiny against the progress towards cultural improvements within Gloucestershire Fire 

and Rescue Service.  

P
age 203



10

This is in addition to the inclusion of GFRS specific scrutiny under the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee.  

In addition to the audit findings being managed through the GFRS improvement programme board, HMICFRS inspection outcomes are also 

included on the audit tracker and overseen by the board.  This brings a broad but focussed approach to all identified areas for development and 

improvement where issues can be grouped and prioritised in order to be worked through in an organised and realistic manner.

P
age 204



11

AGS 
Review 

Reference

Governance matters identified / actions taken Target Date and Lead 
Officer

Directors 

Assurance 

Statement

The recruitment and retention of employees in hard to fill, critical positions

There is increasing evidence that we are struggling to recruit and retain qualified and experience staff in 

certain critical positions.  There are a number of factors influencing this including a lack of those with the 

right skills and experience, the increasing buoyant job market, our salaries are falling behind other 

councils and the private sector as well as the perception of local government.  In addition, the aging 

profile of our workforce means that there is an ongoing loss of key experienced workers.

Actions taken to resolve:

 Development of a workforce plan that highlights critical, hard to fill roles and areas where critical 

individuals are likely to move on with targeted succession plans;

 Review of our employment offer and recruitment practice to improve promotion of Gloucestershire 

County Council as a place to work and the County as a place to live;

 Review of our pay and grading structure and benchmarking of key roles to ensure that our offer is 

competitive including use of market supplements and other payments where appropriate;

 A targeted recruitment and retention programme for children’s social workers;

 A ‘grow our own’ programme for key roles utilising the apprenticeship levy including areas such as 

future managers, lawyers, project managers, social workers, planning, highways and professional 

support roles; and

 An apprenticeship programme targeted at schools and college leavers to encourage them to work in 

local government.

March 2020

Head of HR and OD

P
age 205



12

Position as at December 2019
This continues to be a significant issue in a number of GCC service areas, such as Children’s and Adult Social Care, Highways and Legal Services, 

for example. All of the control measures reported above have either been delivered are in development, but in the current labour market and 

financial situation it is likely that recruitment and retention of key skilled staff groups will continue to be an issue into the medium term. Some 

significant successes have been achieved, such as increasing the recruitment of children’s social workers and reducing voluntary staff turnover, but 

it has always been clear that the control measures incorporate a combination of ‘quick wins’ and work that will need to continue into the medium 

term. In particular the ‘grow your own’ approach will take time to mature, and a further stage of looking at the Council’s pay and reward strategy is 

envisaged to unfold in 2020.

P
age 206


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Grant Thornton Progress Report
	5 Grant Thornton 2019/20 Audit Plans
	20200113 Gloucestershire CC Audit scope letter 2019-20
	20200124 Gloucestershire Pension Fund audit plan 201920 final

	6 Capital, Treasury and investment Strategy
	Treasury Management Strategy Amendment Final

	7 Internal Audit Purpose, Authority, Role and Function
	ARA Internal Audit Strategy final
	ARA Data Analytics Strategy FINAL
	GCC Internal Audit Charter 2019-22 FINAL
	Internal Audit Code of Ethics 2019-2022
	Internal Audit Quality Assurance Improvement Programme 2019 - 2022 FINAL

	8 Internal Audit Progress Report 2019/20
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v0.4
	Internal Audit Progress Report

	9 Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan 2018/19
	Improvement Plan 2018-19 v1.0


